

for salaried employees in the Finnish chemi-cal industry

7 February 2023 - 31 December 2024

This is translation of the Cippish collective agreement. The parties have not agreed on
This is translation of the Finnish collective agreement. The parties have not agreed on the English text of the collective agreement. If the interpretation of the English translation leads to a different result than the original Finnish-language collective agreement must be followed in Finnish collective agreement. The contracting parties do not shall be liable for any damages resulting from any errors in the translation.

THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND	
and	
TRADE UNION PRO	

COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR SALARIED EMPLOYEES IN THE

FINNISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

7 February 2023 - 31 December 2024

# **CONTENTS**

SCOPE		3
1§	SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT	3
2 §	APPENDED AGREEMENTS	4
EMPLOY	'MENT	4
3 §	EMPLOYMENT AND GENERAL DUTIES ARISING FROM EMPLOYMENT	4
LOCAL C	OLLECTIVE BARGAINING	6
4 §	NEGOTIATING PROCEDURE	6
5 §	LOCAL COLLECTIVE BARGAINING	
6§	SALARY	
7§ 8§	PART-TIME SALARY  EXTRA DUTIES ALLOWANCE AND JOB ORIENTATION BONUS.	
		_
WORKIN	IG HOURS	14
9 §	GENERAL PROVISIONS CONCERNING WORKING HOURS	14
Wo	orking hour bank	15
10 §	SCHEDULE OF WORK SHIFTS	15
11 §	AMENDMENTS TO THE WORK SHIFT SCHEDULE AND THE WORKING HOURS ADJUSTMENT PLAN	15
12 §	WORKING HOURS IN DAILY, ONE- AND TWO-SHIFT WORK	16
13 §	WORKING HOURS IN DISCONTINUOUS THREE-SHIFT WORK	21
14 §	Working hours in continuous three-shift work	22
15 §	SHIFT WORK AND EVENING AND NIGHT WORK	23
16 §	Days off	24
17 §	WEEKS INCLUDING A WEEKDAY PUBLIC HOLIDAY	25
18 §	Sunday work	25
19 §	COMPENSATION FOR WORKING ON MAJOR PUBLIC HOLIDAYS	26
20 §	REST PERIODS AND COMPENSATION FOR WEEKLY TIME OFF	26
21 §	Additional work	28
22 §	Overtime	29
23 §	On-call duty and telephone consultation	32
24 §	EMERGENCY WORK	32
TRAVEL	AND TRAINING	34
25 §	TRAVEL COMPENSATION	34
26 §	Training and development opportunities	37
27 §	REMUNERATION FOR TRAINING EVENTS	37
ANNUAL	HOLIDAY	38
28 §	Annual Holiday	38
HEALTH,	, SAFETY AND WELL-BEING	40
29 §	SALARY DURING SICKNESS, MATERNITY OR PATERNITY LEAVE AND AFTER ACCIDENTS	40
30 §	MEDICAL EXAMINATIONS	
31 §	SHORT TEMPORARY LEAVE OF ABSENCE	
32 €	PROTECTIVE CLOTHING	45

MISCELLA	ANEOUS REGULATIONS	46
33 § 34 §	SURVIVAL ACTIONS IF THE COMPANY FINDS ITSELF IN FINANCIAL DIFFICULTIES	
BINDING	CHARACTER AND VALIDITY OF AGREEMENT	48
35 § 36 §	BINDING CHARACTER OF AGREEMENT	
	OL OF SIGNATURE FOR THE RENEWAL OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR SALARIED EMPLOYEES IISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FOR THE PERIOD OF 7 FEBRUARY 2023—31 DECEMBER 2024	
PAY SYST	EM	69
CO-OPER	ATION AGREEMENT FOR THE FINNISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY	76
AGREEM	ENT ON PROTECTION AGAINST DISMISSAL	87
	ENT ON PROTECTION AGAINST DISMISSAL AND AGREEMENT ON CO-OPERATION BETWEEN KT AND OL)	
APPENDI	X 1 INCLUSION OF VOCATIONAL TRAINING IN WORKING HOURS	96
	X 2 CLARIFICATIONS TO THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT JOB ORIENTATION BONUS, EXTRA DUTIES NCE AND SALARY DEVELOPMENT OF THE SHOP STEWARD	97
APPENDI	X 3 PATERNITY LEAVE SALARY PAYMENTS	102
	X 4 USE OF TRAINEES IN COMPANIES IN THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY IN THE EVENT OF PERSONNEL	107
APPENDI	X 5 ROLE, TRAINING AND USE OF TIME OF A WORKPLACE INSTRUCTOR	108
	X 6 LIST OF THE SECTIONS OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT WHICH MAY BE AGREED DIFFERENTLY	
	X 7 IMPROVING THE OPERATIONAL PREREQUISITES OF SHOP STEWARDS IN ORDER TO PROMOTE DILECTIVE BARGAINING IN THE WORKPLACE	113
	X 8 INFORMATION TO BE GIVEN TO THE SHOP STEWARD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COLLECTIVE ENT	115
	X 9 INTER-FEDERATION OPERATING INSTRUCTIONS CONCERNING THE PROCEDURE FOR COLLECTIN	_
APPENDI	X 10 SUMMER TRAINEE PROGRAMME FOR THE YOUNG FOR 2023–2025	121
APPENDI	X 11 TELECOMMUTING AND HYBRID WORK	122
	WORKING TIME OF SALARIED EMPLOYEES IN CHEMICAL INDUSTRY 2023–2025 (AN 8-HOUR WORK	

# CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND TRADE UNION PRO

# COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR SALARIED EMPLOYEES IN THE FINNISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

#### SCOPE

# 1 § Scope of the agreement

This agreement shall apply to persons in salaried employee positions for member companies of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland.

The agreement shall apply according to the duties performed, meaning that the nature of the employment, the employee's level of education, the statistical title assigned, the manner of salary payment and the form of remuneration shall not be decisive when determining the scope of the agreement.

The duties covered by the scope of this agreement shall include salaried employee positions related to production, research and development, analysis services, quality assurance, planning, logistics, economic and human resources administration, sales, marketing, information technology, data processing, warehousing, transportation, exports and imports.

There shall be no educational upper limit for the application of the agreement. This means that salaried employees with a university or university of applied sciences degree or other special training shall remain within the scope of the agreement, provided that the content of their duties is covered by the agreement. Professional competence may also be acquired through practical experience. Working as a supervisor of salaried employees shall not, as such, exclude said duty from the scope of the agreement.

This agreement shall not apply to persons who belong to the management of the company or who represent the employer when determining the salary and conditions of service of salaried staff, or to those who are in an independent position and bear administrative, financial or operational responsibility within the company or a considerable portion thereof, or to persons in a comparable position. Such persons may work at various levels of an organisation. The agreement shall also not apply to persons who have no supervisory responsibilities but who are experts in their own field of specialisation and who therefore and owing to the independent character of their positions, are equivalent to the aforementioned excluded persons. Persons referred to above in this paragraph shall usually be required to have knowledge and skills of a university or higher vocational education level.

This agreement shall not apply to persons in non-salaried positions.

The relevant provisions of this agreement shall apply to persons who mainly work on commission.

An inter-federation Board of Settlement comprising one representative appointed by the Trade Union Pro, one representative appointed by the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT and a chairperson selected jointly by the parties shall issue a settlement that is binding to the parties on questions of interpretation concerning the scope of this collective agreement. The federations shall notify their members of the settlements reached.

#### 2 § Appended agreements

Co-operation agreement for the chemical industry (KT - TU)

Agreement on protection against dismissal, with protocol of signature (KT - TU)

#### **EMPLOYMENT**

#### 3 § Employment and general duties arising from employment

# 1. Right to manage

The employer shall be entitled to manage and distribute work, and to hire and dismiss a salaried employee.

2. Freedom of association and withholding of trade union membership dues

The parties affirm the inviolability of each other's right to organise and freedom of association.

Where so authorised by a salaried employee, the employer shall withhold from the employee's salary the membership dues payable to a salaried employee organisation that is a party to this collective agreement, and shall remit them to the bank account specified by the organisation per pay period. The withholding shall be performed as defined in the operating instructions drawn up by the parties to the agreement. A certificate of the sum deducted shall be given to the salaried employee for taxation purposes at the end of the calendar year or the end of employment.

# 3. Liability insurance and group life insurance

The employer shall take out employer's liability insurance for salaried staff in supervisory positions, covering the liability of the employer, its deputy, and the policyholder's salaried employees in managerial or supervisory positions, such as forepersons, for personal injury or property damage sustained by the employer's own employees insofar as such injury or damage is not subject to compensation through statutory accident or motor vehicle insurance. The maximum coverage shall be EUR 126,141.00 for personal injury; however the maximum sum payable to any one person shall be EUR 50,456.00, and EUR 25,228.00 for property damage. Other terms of insurance shall also be determined according to the current general and specific insurance clauses pertaining to the employer's liability insurance.

The employer shall, at its own cost, take out group life insurance covering its salaried employees as has been agreed by the central organisations.

#### 4. General obligations

A salaried employee shall promote and oversee the employer's interests in the manner required by the employee's position.

The employer shall maintain confidence in the salaried employee and, where possible, also support the efforts of individual salaried employees to improve their professional skills. The employer shall notify the salaried employee at the earliest opportunity of any changes in the latter's status and support the salaried employee in their duties as the employer's representative. Decisions concerning the subordinates of a salaried employee shall be communicated to the salaried employee no later than when they are communicated to the subordinates.

A salaried employee shall be familiarised with the work and with any related changes. A new salaried employee shall also be familiarised with the company and its operating principles, human resources policy and any workplace regulations.

A new salaried employee shall be advised of the applicable collective agreement, the associated bargaining system and the representatives of salaried employees.

#### So called marginal rule

The parties stress the responsibility involved in a supervisory position, and note that the direction and supervision that this entails add to the demands of the position. The salary policy of a company shall be continuously updated in order to ensure that the salary level of subordinates does not exceed that of salaried employees in supervisory positions.

Special and systematic attention shall be paid to the salaries of salaried employees serving in supervisory positions, and implementation of the foregoing principle in the salary policy of the company shall be continuously monitored. It is also important for shop stewards and supervisors of salaried employees to be aware of the company's salary policy and its implementation.

The federations shall monitor progress during the agreement period and shall provide the necessary guidance concerning the points to be considered in implementing the marginal rule and the verification of this aspect of operations within the company. Comparable earnings and salary factors shall be applied between supervisors and subordinates when applying the marginal rule in a company.

#### Minuted note:

The comparison refers to the group-specific comparison of the wages of supervisors and their subordinates.

#### 5. Amendment of terms and conditions of employment

The terms and conditions of employment may be amended if both parties agree thereto. If no agreement is reached, the amendment may be implemented if grounds for termination exist and the period of notice is observed. Thus, the procedure is the same as when terminating the employment contract.

A salaried employee may be transferred to other duties while retaining their salaried employee status. If this means a reduction in benefits, the aforementioned grounds for termination of employment shall be required and the period of notice specified in Section 4 of the agreement on protection against dismissal shall be applied.

The employer and salaried employee may agree that any outstanding receivables payable on termination of employment may be paid on the regular pay day of the company.

#### LOCAL COLLECTIVE BARGAINING

#### 4 § Negotiating procedure

- 1. The federations shall negotiate in a professional manner on all issues arising within their sectors with a view to resolving them by mutual understanding. The federations shall each endeavour to establish effective and professional bargaining relationships at workplaces.
- 2. Should any disputes arise regarding the interpretation or application of this agreement that cannot be resolved by agreement between the individual salaried employee and the employer, and on which local negotiations fail to result in agreement, then the issue shall be referred for consideration by the federations.
- 3. Should any dispute arise between the employer and the salaried employees for reasons other than those referred to above, a solution shall first be sought through local negotiations, and if these are inconclusive, the matter shall be referred to the competent federations for consideration.
- 4. When either of the parties proposes negotiations in the aforementioned cases, said negotiations must shall begin at the earliest opportunity and no later than two weeks after the proposal. On receiving the proposal, the employer must also inform the representative of salaried employees of the date when the negotiations will commence.
- 5. A protocol or a memorandum of dispute shall be prepared on the negotiations on either party's request and both parties must sign it. This document shall briefly state the cause of dispute and the view taken by each party. The protocol or memorandum of dispute shall be prepared within one week of the end of negotiations.
- 6. If the negotiations referred to in paragraph 2 above are inconclusive, either party may refer the matter to the Labour Court for settlement.
- 7. No stoppage may be declared, nor may any other measures be taken to pressure the other party or to impede the regular process of work while negotiations on the dispute referred to in item 3 of this section continue.
- 8. Representatives of the employee and employer organisations that are bound by this agreement shall be entitled to participate in local negotiations where said employee and employer organisations so agree. It shall be a requirement for this that previous local negotiations have been conducted on the issue. If such negotiations fail to achieve unanimity, the parties shall apply the procedure specified in paragraphs 2, 3 and 6.

# 5 § Local collective bargaining

The local agreement referred to in several provisions of this collective agreement may be concluded under the negotiating procedure set out in the collective agreement, either between the

employer and a salaried employee, or between the shop steward and the employer. An agreement concluded with a shop steward shall bind the salaried employees whom said shop steward is considered to represent. The agreement may be concluded for a limited period or until further notice. An agreement concluded until further notice may be terminated at three months' notice unless otherwise agreed. The agreement must be concluded in writing if either party so requests or if the agreement is intended to remain in force for longer than two weeks. The local agreement referred to herein shall form a part of the collective agreement. It shall continue to be applied even after the collective agreement has expired in other respects. During this time, and within one month after a new collective agreement enters into force, any agreement concluded for a fixed period may also be terminated at three months' notice.

# Challenges associated with dialogue

Good co-operation in the workplace between shop stewards and employer representatives is the basis for local collective bargaining, improvement of the company's productivity, better competitiveness and employment situation as well as a good work atmosphere.

As part of the promotion of local collective bargaining, the federations together provide support for the parties in the workplace with dialogue-related challenges. Whenever problems arise, a party or the parties together may contact the federations to request assistance. Then the methods for developing co-operation are considered on the basis of the needs of each workplace. However, possible problems are dealt with without delay.

#### Results from local collective bargaining

Successful local collective bargaining calls for a mutual understanding of the need for change as well as trust and courage to make agreements.

If attempts have been made in the workplace to agree on important matters concerning the improvement of productivity, competitiveness, employment situation or well-being at work, but the attempts have failed, the negotiating parties may, together or alone, ask representatives from both federations to participate in the local negotiations to support the achievement of an agreement. The objective is to provide assistance with the challenges of local collective bargaining as early as possible. Possible challenges will be dealt with without delay.

The federations may also help the negotiating parties by explaining other options provided by the collective agreement and labour legislation in order to resolve the need for change. The federations will not intervene in the local parties' freedom of agreement.

A solution may be reached by the following means, for instance:

- Remove obstacles and prejudices related to local collective bargaining.
- Survey the needs and opportunities for local collective bargaining.
- Ensure that the parties to local collective bargaining are up-to-date with its background and objectives.

#### Minuted note 1:

A list of the sections of the collective agreement which may be agreed differently locally is attached to this protocol.

#### Minuted note 2:

If a shop steward has been elected in the company and the matter concerns the entire company, work department or a larger work group, it shall be agreed with the shop steward. An agreement made with the shop steward is binding upon all those who are considered to be being represented by the shop steward (who also represents employees who are not trade union members).

#### Minuted note 3:

The parties state that an increase in local collective bargaining will expand and reinforce the role of the shop steward in successful co-operation at workplaces.

Both parties shall each contribute to the development of cooperation and good negotiations relationships in the workplaces.

#### **SALARY**

# 6 § Salary

The salary of a salaried employee shall be determined in accordance with the salary system appended hereto on the basis of job requirement, personal competence and continuous duration of current employment.

Use of another salary system may be locally agreed. This may apply especially in situations in which another system governs another staff group or groups in the company. The federations shall be advised of any such local agreement.

When applying this agreement, "monthly salary" refers to the salaried employee's total personal salary, i.e. the monetary pay and fringe benefits, excluding separately paid bonuses. The seniority bonus that is determined according to the continuous employment of a salaried employee and paid as a separate bonus is treated as ordinary monthly salary when calculating the holiday pay, salary for part-time work, bonuses for overtime or Sunday work and compensation payable for working on major public holidays, and in other similar aspects of payroll administration.

When applying this agreement, the cash value of fringe benefits shall be deemed to be their fair value. The taxable value shall be used instead when the fair value cannot be determined. The Finnish Tax Administration annually confirms the grounds for determining the monetary value of fringe benefits for tax purposes.

#### Minuted note 1:

An hourly pay may be agreed in duties where the working hours of a salaried employee are not determined in advance. The hourly salary shall be formed by dividing the corresponding job requirement category salary in accordance with the employee's duties and any individual bonuses by the divisor specified in paragraph 5 of Section 22 of the collective agreement, determined according to the working hours normally observed in said work.

The employer has the right to provide the payslip electronically or in writing. The electronic payslip must be in a printable file format.

1. Salaries according to job requirement category

From the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 April 2022** or the closest subsequent period, the job requirement salaries (TVL) shall be as follows:

Job grade	<b>EUR/month</b>
1	1836
2	1979
3	2142
4	2382
5	2667
6	3022
7	3445
8	3924

From the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 September 2023** or the closest subsequent pay period, the job requirement salaries (TVL) shall be as follows:

# Job grade EUR/month

1	1,876
2	2,023
3	2,189
4	2,434
5	2,726
6	3,088
7	3,521
8	4,010

From the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 April 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period, the job requirement salaries (TVL) shall be as follows:

# Job grade EUR/month

1	1,936
2	2,088
3	2,259
4	2,512
5	2,813
6	3,187
7	3,634
8	4.138

# 2. Trainees and summer employees

Trainees refers to persons who study at vocational educational institutions, institutes of technology or other similar-level institutes. universities of applied sciences, universities of technology or other universities and work between terms or during their studies in order to acquire the work experience required for their degree.

Summer employees (employed between 2 May and 30 September) refers to young people who are still at school or persons under 25 years of age who are students in educational institutions not associated with this industry.

The salary of a trainee or summer employee can be up to 25% lower than the job requirement category salary for the job in question.

The provisions on staff reductions and re-employment obligations included in agreements concerning dismissal and layoffs shall not apply to mandatory work placement included in the student's degree.

#### Minuted note 2:

The federations have agreed on the recommendation for the work practice programme for primary school students, high school students and VALMA students "Get to know work practice and make money" (Tutustu työelämään ja tienaa). The agreement is enclosed to the collective agreement.

#### Minuted note 3:

Application instructions concerning the use of trainees in companies in the chemical industry in the event of personnel dismissals and layoffs are included in the collective agreement as an Appendix.

#### Minuted note 4:

The employer shall inform the shop steward of new students taking salaried employee positions under the learning agreement.

#### 3. Seniority bonus

A salaried employee shall be paid graded seniority bonus based on the duration of employment.

The seniority bonus shall be determined according to the length of service until the end of the preceding month. The seniority bonus shall be paid to the salaried employee monthly, and the bonus amount shall be as follows, depending on the duration of continuous service:

# Seniority bonus 1 April 2022

years	<b>EUR/month</b>
5–9	45
10–14	60
15–19	88
20–24	110
More than 25	135

# Seniority bonus 1 April 2024

years	<b>EUR/month</b>
5–9	47
10–14	62
15–19	91
20–24	114
More than 25	140

If seniority bonus is paid as monthly compensation, it shall be treated as ordinary monthly salary for various payroll administration purposes, such as calculating holiday pay, salary for part-time work, overtime and Sunday work bonuses etc.

#### Period of service

The period of service refers to the uninterrupted duration of the current employment relationship. A period of employment in different companies governed by the same controlling interest directly relating to the current employment relationship shall also count towards seniority. In connection with change of company's ownership, the duration of employment in the service of the previous employer shall count towards the period of service of employees who transfer to the service of the new owner as existing employees. Days that are equivalent to days worked according to section 7 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act and working time reduction leave shall count towards the seniority bonus.

#### 4. Performance and profit bonuses

Performance and profit bonuses are company-specific salary bonuses. They involve an inherent risk of non-payment if the assigned performance and profit targets are not met.

The use of performance and profit bonuses that are at the discretion of company management; the grounds for determining these bonuses and any changes in said grounds will be explained to the salaried employees before such bonuses are introduced.

# 7 § Part-time salary

When calculating the salary payable for part-time work, the hourly rate shall be determined by dividing the monthly salary by the number of regular working hours for the month in question in accordance with the system for averaging working hours. The concept of monthly salary is the same here as in section 21. A corresponding number of hours worked may also be used to compensate for absence from work.

# **Application instructions**

Part-time salary shall be paid, for example, when the employment begins or ends on a date other than the beginning or end of a pay period, or when a salaried employee has been absent from work and the employer is not required to pay salary for the period of absence.

If the absence is not compensated for by working an equal number of hours, the following procedure shall be followed:

day or hour of absence

- the regular working days/hours included in the month in accordance with the system for averaging working hours are calculated
- the monthly salary is divided by the number of working days/hours to derive the salary for a day/hour of absence
- the salary for the day/hour of absence is deducted from the monthly salary = the part-time salary

The salary for a day/hour of absence will vary each month according to the number of working days or hours of work in the month concerned:

#### **MONTHLY WORKING HOURS IN 2023**

	working	days37.5 hrs	40.0 hrs	
January	21	157,5	168	
February	20	150,0	160	
March	23	172,5	184	
April	18	135,0	144	
May	21	157,5	168	
June	21	157,5	168	
July	21	157,5	168	
August	23	172,5	184	
September	21	157,5	168	
October	22	165,0	176	
November	22	165,0	176	
December	19	142,5	152	
(in all value at the Cinnish Indones dones Day)				

(including the Finnish Independence Day)

# MONTHLY WORKING HOURS IN 2024

	working days 37.5 hrs 40.0 hrs		
January	22	165,0	176
February	21	157,5	168
March	20	150,0	160
April	21	157,5	168
May	21	157,5	168
June	19	142,5	152
July	23	172,5	184
August	22	165,0	176
September	21	157,5	168
October	23	172,5	184
November	21	157,5	168
December	19	142,5	152
(including the Finnish Independence Day)			

#### **MONTHLY WORKING HOURS IN 2025**

	working o	working days37.5 hrs		
January	21	157,5	168	
February	20	150,0	160	
March	21	157,5	168	
April	20	150,0	160	
May	20	150,0	160	
June	20	150,0	160	
July	23	172,5	184	
August	21	157,5	168	
September	22	165,0	176	
October	23	172,5	184	
November	20	150,0	160	
December	20	150,0	160	
(including the Finnish Independence Day)				

This table is used for calculating the part-time salary.

The table shall also be applied as necessary in the situations referred to in paragraph 7 of section 9 of this agreement unless otherwise locally agreed.

# 8 § Extra duties allowance and job orientation bonus

#### Extra duties allowance

Unless otherwise agreed locally, salaried employees who, while performing their regular duties, temporarily attend to any duties of another salaried employee that have not been taken into consideration in their own job requirement grading shall be paid an additional 14 to 35 per cent of their personal salary as extra duties allowance, in proportion to the increased amount of work. Extra duties allowance shall be paid under the same conditions to salaried employees when attending as a substitute to duties that are more demanding than their own regular duties.

The compensation payable and other aspects of the terms and conditions of employment shall be settled before the substitution begins.

# Minuted note 1:

The application instructions concerning the extra duties allowance are appended to this collective agreement.

#### Job orientation bonus

Job orientation consists of systematic training whereby, in accordance with an approved plan prepared in advance, new salaried employees are familiarised with the workplace and their duties and instructed on the risks inherent in the work and surroundings, and in procedures for controlling these risks.

Salaried employees specifically appointed by the employer who, in addition to their regular duties, also provide familiarisation training for and guide new salaried employees in the work environment and duties shall be paid a separate bonus of 10 per cent of their personal salary

for the time spent on said familiarisation and job orientation, unless their salaries otherwise allow for this familiarisation and job orientation. Job orientation bonus may also be replaced with a locally agreed fixed monthly bonus.

#### Minuted note 1:

The familiarisation and job orientation of workers and summer employees form part of the normal duties of salaried employees, and no separate bonus shall be paid for the familiarisation and orientation of such personnel.

Application instructions concerning the job orientation bonus are appended to this collective agreement.

#### **WORKING HOURS**

#### 9 § General provisions concerning working hours

Regular working hours shall be eight hours a day and forty hours a week, unless the employer and salaried employee have agreed that working hours will be seven and a half hours a day and thirty-seven and a half hours a week, or other regular working hours.

#### Averaging of working hours

Regular weekly working hours may be arranged on the basis of an average so that a working hours averaging plan is prepared for the period within which working hours will adjust to 40 hours per week. The maximum averaging period is 52 weeks.

The nature of the working hours adjustment plan is collective and the system covers the period over which the working hours used at a worksite, department or workplace comply with the working hours adjustment plan. The working hours of a salaried employee who has worked under a working hours adjustment plan will not be separately averaged out at the end of the employment.

The working hours of an individual salaried employee working under a system for averaging working hours may be monitored to ensure correspondence between the hours worked and the salary paid.

Regular daily working hours may, however, be extended by a maximum of four hours by local agreement. Regular weekly working time shall not exceed 50 hours in such cases. If work is divided over more than five days in a working week, the regular weekly working hours shall not exceed 48 hours.

#### Maximum working hours

As set out in section 18 of the Working Hours Act, the averaging period for the maximum working hours can 12 months.

#### Part-time work

The guide "Monipuoliset työajat kemianteollisuudessa" ("Versatile working times in chemical industry") discusses part-time work and the effect of working time on the working requirement of earnings-based unemployment benefits.

#### Periodic work

Periodic work can also be agreed locally for work other than that referred to in section 7 of the Working Hours Act. The local agreement shall be sent to the federations for information.

# Flexible working hours

When agreeing on flexible working hours, it will be taken into account that the working hours during flexible work are averaged out to the form-specific annual working hours set out in the collective agreement. The averaging period in flexible working hours is 26 weeks. Working hours-related compensation is not paid for the duration of flexible work to the extent that the salaried employee may decide on the timing of working hours and the working place.

#### Working hour bank

The working hour bank is subject to local agreement. The agreement is made in writing between the employer and employee representative.

When the working hour bank is introduced, the maximum daily and weekly working hours must be specified that are not limited by the entry on maximum working hours in section 9 (Averaging of working hours) of the collective agreement. Working hours, paid leave pursuant to the collective agreement, accrued saved leaves, monetary items converted into working hours or other items with monetary value can be agreed to be saved in the working hour bank.

Any leave transferred into the bank loses its original identity, and the averaging or expiration times according to the Working Hours Act or the Annual Holidays Act, for example, no longer apply.

#### The federations agree

- that the granting and taking of leave may not lead to a need to have overtime done or a disruption of production
- on the principle according to which, if the volume of work is reduced, any hours accrued
  in the bank should be used before resorting to layoffs.

#### 10 § Schedule of work shifts

A schedule of work shifts must be prepared at the workplace when it is possible with regard to the nature of work. The schedule of work shifts shall specify the beginning and end of the regular daily working hours, the duration and time of the meal break, and the weekly days off.

# 11 § Amendments to the work shift schedule and the working hours adjustment plan

The salaried employees concerned and the shop steward shall be notified of permanent changes in the work shift schedule or in the working hours adjustment plan at the earliest opportunity and no later than two weeks before the change takes effect. If the change affects several employees or an otherwise significant part of the staff, then the change shall be negotiated in advance with the shop steward.

The salaried employees concerned shall be informed of temporary deviations from the schedule of working hours or the working hours adjustment plan at the earliest opportunity and no later than on the third day before the change takes effect The shop steward shall also be notified if the change concerns a department or a corresponding operational unit.

The foregoing notification times may be deviated from by local agreement.

#### 12 § Working hours in daily, one- and two-shift work

Regular working hours

- 1. The regular working hours in daytime and two-shift work shall be eight hours a day and forty hours a week, unless the employer and salaried employee have agreed that working hours are seven and a half hours a day and thirty-seven and a half hours a week, or other regular working hours.
- 2. Conversion from a working week of 37.5 hours to a working week of 40 hours may be agreed locally by applying the negotiating procedure stipulated in the collective agreement. The agreement must be concluded by the end of the preceding calendar year. It may be terminated annually with two months' notice so that the agreement terminates at the end of the calendar year.

The monthly salary of a salaried employee shall be increased by 2.7 per cent when switching to a working week of forty hours. The monthly salary shall be reduced by 2.6 per cent when switching back to a working week of thirty-seven and a half hours.

The provisions of item 5 of this section shall apply after switching to a form of working hours of 40 hours.

3. It is also appropriate to investigate the possibility of introducing flexible and graduated working hours when planning the introduction of various working hour arrangements.

# Flexible working hours

Flexible working hours may be introduced where locally agreed. A daily flexitime of a maximum of four hours and the limitation of the maximum accrued hours to 80 hours can be agreed locally. A calendar year can be used as the follow-up period for the maximum of flexitime. Instead of a calendar year, a one-year long period can be locally agreed to be the follow-up period.

# Entry on record

If a salaried employee's balances are constantly close to the agreed maximum amounts of the flexibility balance, the supervisor must discuss correcting the balance and the associated schedule with the salaried employee.

#### **Graduated working hours**

Graduated working hours can be introduced in the workplace. Before switching to graduated working hours, the employer shall negotiate with the shop steward or, if no shop steward has been elected, the relevant salaried employees in order to reach a mutual understanding.

- 1. In the negotiations, the parties shall go over the reasons for switching to the model and the possible challenges for integrating work and family life related to the model.
- 2. Graduated working hours shall primarily be used for voluntary salaried employees.
- 3. If there are not enough volunteers for graduated working hours, the employer can use graduated working hours for other salaried employees as well. The employer shall take salaried employees' whishes concerning graduated working hours into account.

# Entry on record

The federations provide company-specific training on graduated working hours.

- 4. Unless otherwise agreed locally, the working week and the working day shall commence at the beginning of the first shift on Monday. The Sunday working day shall end at that time.
- 5. Averaging of working hours in daytime and two-shift work

The provisions of this paragraph shall govern forms of working hours in which the regular working time is forty hours a week.

It is also required that salaried employees have an annual holiday of no more than 30 ordinary weekdays and that their yearly working hours are otherwise reduced only by religious holidays, 1st of May, Midsummer Eve, Finnish Independence Day, Christmas Eve and New Year's Day.

An exchange of leave based on averaging working hours for flexible leave may be agreed locally. This flexible leave shall be governed by section 27 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act, but shall be scheduled by agreement. No holiday bonus shall be paid on flexible leave.

A. Averaging of working hours/averaging days

Leave shall be earned according to the number of annual regular working days as follows:

no fewer than	17	working days	1	day off
"	35	"	2	days off
"	53	"	3	"
"	71	"	4	"
"	88	"	5	"
"	105	"	6	"
"	121	"	7	"
"	138	"	8	"
"	155	"	9	"
"	172	"	10	"
"	189	"	11	"
"	205	"	12.5	11

Days for which the employer pays sickness or maternity leave salary and any training period that is even partly funded by the employer if the employer pays salary for said period shall also count as regular working days. The time off referred to in section 31 of

the collective agreement (short temporary leave), for which the employer pays salary, shall also count as days worked. Days of leave shall therefore both accrue and be used at these times. The days off referred to in this agreement shall also be equivalent to days worked.

Days off other than the annual holiday arrangements or annually recurring regular days off which reduce the annual working hours and are based on agreement or practice, as referred to in paragraph 5, shall be deducted from the total averaging of working hours.

#### Granting of leave

Leave accrued during a calendar year shall be granted to a salaried employee by no later than the end of the calendar year in which it was accrued or, by agreement with the salaried employee, by paying cash compensation or granting leave at another agreed time. Leave shall be granted at a time determined by the employer. The two-week notification period referred to in this agreement for announcing changes in the system for averaging working hours shall be observed if leave is granted simultaneously to all salaried employees or to a work department. The granting of personal leave shall be announced no later than one week before said leave is taken. These notice periods may be agreed otherwise by local agreement.

When granting time off, the employer shall endeavour to accommodate the salaried employees' individual wishes concerning the timing of leave periods within the constraints imposed by the needs of production and by operation and service times.

In addition to their normal salary, a salaried employee shall receive compensation for hours worked on an averaging day designated individually to each salaried employee in the same manner as for weekly overtime, if working on the designated averaging day is agreed with the salaried employee later than one week before the averaging day.

Leave shall be granted for a period of no less than a full work shift at a time, or as half days for no more than six and a half days. Leave may also be granted in other ways if so agreed locally.

If a salaried employee has been granted too much leave at the end of employment, the employer shall be entitled to deduct a corresponding sum from the final salary payment as stipulated in section 7 of the collective agreement. The deduction shall be implemented in full working days only.

In the event that any averaging days off are outstanding at the end of the employment relationship, and it has not been possible to grant them before the end of the calendar year or it has been agreed with the salaried employee that they will not be taken, then compensation shall be paid to the salaried employee for the outstanding days off at the basic rate.

#### Level of earnings

Working hours shall be balanced without reducing the level of earnings.

#### B. Averaging of working hours/average working hours

Working hours can also be arranged as average working hours by means of local agreements. The long-term average is 36.4 hours per week. The annual working hours are specified in the table appended to this collective agreement. This average weekly working time is derived by allowing for an averaging of working hours (100 hours) in the calculation. Public holidays, Midsummer's Eve and Christmas Eve then also balance out the weekly working hours over the calendar year. Annual leave days may not be used for averaging working hours.

Working hours shall be averaged by granting leave so that the working hours over a period of no longer than a calendar year reach the aforementioned average hours, provided that a system for averaging working hours has been prepared for work in advance to cover, at a minimum, the period over which the regular weekly working hours are averaged. The nature of the system for averaging working hours shall be collective and cover the period over which the form of working hours generally applied at the worksite, department or workplace is daytime or two-shift work. When switching to another form of working hours, such as three-shift work, the working hours shall, after the switch, be determined in accordance with the regulations governing the form of working hours in question.

The employer must negotiate with the representatives of the salaried employees before implementing the schedule of working hours referred to above. The negotiations must take into consideration the nature of the work of salaried employees in the workplace, securing operation and service times, working time arrangements of other staff groups, and other corresponding factors. After the negotiations, the employer shall announce the system for determining the applicable procedures.

#### Example 1

When working in daily and two-shift work for the entire year with 30 days of annual holiday, the foregoing annual working hours shall be formed as follows:

- the period to be worked in daytime and two-shift work is 365 calendar days
- the same in working weeks, i.e. 365 days/ 7 days per week, or 52.14 weeks
- salaried employees are on annual holiday for 5 weeks during this period
- the number of actual weeks worked is 47.14 weeks

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 47.14 weeks x 36.4 hours/week, i.e. 1,716 hours, or 214 shifts of 8 hours per shift.

# Example 2

The implementation of the average working hours agreed in the collective agreement shall be settled as follows when working for only part of the year:

- the period to be worked in daytime and two-shift work is 196 calendar days
- the same in working weeks, i.e. 196 days/ 7 days per week, i.e. 28 weeks
- salaried employees are on annual holiday for 3 weeks during this period
- the number of actual weeks worked is 25 weeks

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 25 weeks x 36.4 hours/week, i.e. 910 hours, or 114 shifts of 8 hours per shift.

If the periods described above in examples 1 and 2 include longer unpaid absences for an individual salaried employee, such as prolonged unsalaried incapacity for work, paternity leave, job alternation leave or study leave or equivalent, the period in question shall be taken into account as a factor reducing working hours, in the same way as with annual holiday referred to in the example.

#### Annual holiday

6. Days on which a salaried employee is unable to work due to taking leave referred to in this agreement shall be considered equal to days worked for the purpose of determining the duration of annual holiday.

Due to a sudden, unexpected or exceptional production-related situation, the employer may temporarily extend the regular daily working hours of other than shift workers up to the maximum of 10 hours and the weekly working hours up to the maximum of 50 hours with a three-day notice. The payment of wages remains according to the regular working hours as well as when having extended working hours or averaging working hours, excluding hours done during mid-week public holidays or Sundays, for which compensation is paid in accordance with working and collective agreement provisions. By local bargaining, a change in working hours can be made without a notice period.

An individual salaried employee may work for a maximum of ten hours per day on a maximum of 30 days in a calendar year and in a maximum of two consecutive working weeks.

A salaried employee has the possibility to decline changes in working hours according to this collective agreement provision on a case-by-case basis for appropriate personal reasons (e.g. health reasons, childcare or care of relatives).

The working hours must adjust to the average of 40 hours per week within 52 calendar weeks. The employer will prepare a preliminary adjustment plan, and the parties will agree on the timing of free time within 4 calendar weeks of the performed work. If no agreement on the free time is reached, the salaried employee has the right, in compliance with the 3-week notice period, to adjust their working hours to the average of 40 hours per week by using time off primarily as whole days. However, the days off announced by a salaried employee cannot be taken if the company's production-related operations are seriously disrupted, or during the weeks for which the employer has notified of the need for working longer hours as set out in this collective agreement provision.

If the days off referred to in this collective agreement provision have not been taken within 52 calendar weeks, the employer will compensate for the hours remaining unadjusted with a 50% increase in connection with the following payment of wages.

# 13 § Working hours in discontinuous three-shift work

The regular working hours in discontinuous three-shift work shall be 8 hours per day and as a long-term average, an average of 35.9 hours per week. The average regular weekly working hours may vary each year according to the days on which weekday public holidays fall. The annual working hours are specified in the table appended to this collective agreement.

# Example 1

When working in discontinuous three-shift work for the entire year with 30 days of annual holiday, the annual working hours shall be formed as follows:

- the period to be worked in daytime and two-shift work is 365 calendar days
- the same in working weeks, i.e. 365 days/ 7 days per week, or 52.14 weeks
- salaried employees are on annual holiday for 5 weeks during this period
- the number of actual weeks worked is 47.14 weeks

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 47.14 weeks x 35.8 hours/week, i.e. 1,689 hours, or 211 shifts of 8 hours per shift.

# Example 2

The implementation of the average working hours agreed in the collective agreement shall be settled as follows when working for only part of the year:

- the period to be worked in discontinuous three-shift work is 196 calendar days
- the same in working weeks, i.e. 196 days/ 7 days per week, i.e. 28 weeks
- salaried employees are on annual holiday for 3 weeks during this period
- the number of actual weeks worked is 25 weeks

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 25 weeks x 35.8 hours/week, i.e. 895 hours, or 112 shifts of 8 hours per shift.

If the periods described above in examples 1 and 2 include longer unpaid absences for an individual salaried employee, such as prolonged unsalaried incapacity for work, paternity leave, job alternation leave or study leave or equivalent, the period in question shall be taken into account as a factor reducing working hours, in the same way as with annual holiday referred to in the example.

A system for averaging working hours shall be prepared in advance for a period not exceeding a calendar year over which the regular weekly working hours shall reach the said average.

Averaging of working hours shall be implemented without reducing the monthly salary.

Days off under the system for averaging working hours shall be equated with days worked when determining annual holiday, however, they are reduced by the number of days off usually granted during a calendar month to salaried employees performing daytime work.

Compensation shall be paid in accordance with the weekly overtime provisions of the collective agreement for discontinuous three-shift work exceeding the weekly regular working hours under the system for averaging working hours.

The monthly salary shall be divided by 155 when calculating compensation for overtime.

#### 14 § Working hours in continuous three-shift work

The average regular working hours in continuous three-shift work shall be 34.6 hours a week.

Working hours in work referred to above in item 1 shall be averaged to 34.6 hours over a period not exceeding one year (excluding annual holidays). Therefore, the working hours of salaried employees entitled to 30 days of annual holiday who take this holiday during the calendar year is 1,632 hours a year. The corresponding working hours of salaried employees entitled to 24 ordinary weekdays of annual holiday is 1,666 hours a year.

# Example 1

The aforementioned annual working hours in continuous three-shift work with 30 days of annual holiday shall be formed as follows:

- the period to be worked in discontinuous three-shift work is 365 calendar days
- the same in working weeks, i.e. 365 days/ 7 days per week, or 52.14 weeks
- salaried employees are on annual holiday for 5 weeks during this period
- the number of actual weeks worked is 47.14 weeks

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 47.14 weeks x 34.6 hours/week, i.e. 1,632 hours, or 204 shifts of 8 hours per shift.

# Example 2

The implementation of the average working hours agreed in the collective agreement shall be settled as follows when an employee performs continuous three-shift work for only part of the year:

-	period to be worked in	196 calendar days
	in discontinuous three-shift work	
-	the same in working weeks, i.e. 196 days 7	i.e. 28 weeks
	days per week	
-	salaried employees are on annual holiday	for 3 weeks during this period
_	actual number of weeks worked	25 weeks

Working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 25 weeks x 34.6 hours/week, i.e. 865 hours, or 108 shifts of 8 hours per shift, and the schedule of working hours prepared for the period shall therefore include 108 shifts.

If the period of 28 calendar weeks described above includes longer unpaid absences for an individual salaried employee other than those referred to in item 6 of this section, such as prolonged unsalaried incapacity for work, paternity leave, job alternation leave or study leave or equivalent, the period in question shall be taken into account as a factor reducing working hours, in the same way as with annual holiday referred to in the example.

A system for averaging working hours shall be prepared in advance covering at least the period over which the regular weekly working hours shall reach the said average.

Days off under the system for averaging working hours shall be equated with days worked when determining annual holiday, however, they are reduced by the number of days off usually granted during a calendar month to salaried employees performing daytime work.

If the holiday period of 2 May–30 September includes, in addition to Sundays, other days that are not eligible to be statutory days off, the annual working hours referred to in this section shall be reduced correspondingly.

In this form of working hours, compensation shall be paid in accordance with the collective agreement provisions on weekly overtime for any work that exceeds the working hours scheduled for the week in question under the system for averaging working hours.

Any training period that is even partly funded by the employer shall also be counted as a regular shift worked in three-shift work insofar as the employer pays compensation for loss of earnings under the learning agreement. Short temporary salaried leave, for which the employer pays a salary, taken under section 30 of the collective agreement shall be equated with regular shifts.

The divisor applied under paragraph 5 of section 22 of the collective agreement shall be 148.

The salary for part-time work shall be calculated in accordance with the provisions for calculating part-time salary in section 7 of the collective agreement based on the number of work-days referred to in the implementation regulation table of said section.

A salaried employee performing continuous three-shift work shall be paid a separate additional monthly bonus of 5.5 per cent in compensation for lost earnings. There is no need to change any existing arrangements if the company already has a system in place that takes the compensation into consideration.

Days off under the system for averaging working hours ('minus days') shall be equivalent to days worked when determining annual holiday but reduced by the number of days off customarily granted to employees engaged in day work during the calendar month concerned.

# 15 § Shift work and evening and night work

- In shift work, shifts shall change regularly and shall be amended in periods not exceeding four weeks. It is possible to locally agree on a different rotation interval. Nevertheless, a salaried employee may work the same shift continually, when so agreed. Work in which consecutive shifts overlap by no more than one hour or are separated by a period of no more than one hour, and in which the shifts are amended in a predetermined manner, shall also be regarded as shift work.
- 2. Extra pay for shift work

As of **1 February 2018**, or from the beginning of the closest subsequent pay period, the shift bonuses shall be as follows:

evening shift	night shift		
cents/hr	cents/hr		
228	417		

As of **1 April 2024**, or from the beginning of the closest subsequent pay period, the shift bonuses shall be as follows:

evening shift	night shift
cents/hr	cents/hr
236	432

- 3. When working overtime, a salaried employee in shift work shall be paid extra pay for shift work for the shift during which the overtime is worked. When a salaried employee in two-shift work stays on for overtime after the end of the evening shift, said employee shall be paid the nightshift bonus for this overtime.
- 4. Night work may be assigned under the conditions prescribed in section 8 of the Finnish Working Hours Act. By local agreement, night work may also be performed on cases other than those referred to in section 8 of the Working Hours Act.
- 5. Any work that is not shift work, overtime or emergency work that a salaried employee must perform between 18:00 and 22:00 shall be deemed evening work, while work performed between 22:00 and 06:00 shall be regarded as night work. The bonus payable for such work shall be the same as would have been paid as a bonus for the evening or night shift if the work had been shift work.
- 6. When a salaried employee on the evening or night shift stays on for overtime following the end of their shift, the evening or night shift bonus payable for regular hours of work shall also be paid for said overtime until no later than 06:00.
- 7. The shift work bonus may also be paid as a separate fixed monthly bonus. In that case, the monthly bonus shall be based on no less than the amounts specified in cents in the agreement for salaried employees.
  - The earning dates of shift bonuses as well as evening and night shift bonuses of regular working hours may be locally agreed on otherwise together with the shop steward.
- 8. Any shift work bonus payable for overtime or Sunday work must include any increases applicable to the rest of the salary payable for the period in question.

# 16 § Days off

- 1. One of the two days off granted in each week may be agreed locally. Unless otherwise agreed, one of the two days off granted in each week may be:
  - a fixed day of the week, which shall be a Saturday, or where this is not possible, a Monday, or
  - a varying day of the week if work is performed on six days in a week, at a minimum.
- 2. If average weekly working hours are observed, the days off shall be scheduled to include enough days off to reach the average regular weekly working hours over the period.
  - If days off cannot be scheduled in advance, then the allocation of days off to reach the average shall be announced no later than one week in advance.

# 17 § Weeks including a weekday public holiday

- 1. In weeks including a public holiday falling on a weekday, the regular working hours on the eve of said holiday and on Saturday shall be the same as on other weekdays.
- 2. However, the following days shall be days off:
  - a) the Saturday of the week including New Year's Day
  - b) the Saturday of the week including Epiphany
  - c) Easter Saturday
  - d) the first Saturday after Easter
  - e) the Saturday of the week including the first of May
  - f) the Saturday of the week of Ascension Day
  - g) Midsummer Eve
  - h) the Saturday of the week including Finnish Independence Day (6 December)
  - i) Christmas Eve and
  - j) the first Saturday after Christmas

If production-related reasons require working on said days off, the lost day off shall be compensated with a day off granted during regular working hours or by a cash payment such as weekly overtime, unless compensation for downtime is already being paid for said period. The manner of compensation should be settled in advance.

If it has been agreed locally that a weekday holiday be converted into a normal working day without the compensation for working on a major public holiday as specified in section 9, Saturdays of such weeks are converted into days off as specified in section 16.

3. A salary increased by 100 per cent shall be paid to salaried employees who work on Easter Saturday, Midsummer Eve and Christmas Eve. This provision shall not apply in continuous shift work or in regular evening or night work.

#### 18 § Sunday work

- Sunday work shall refer to work performed on a Sunday, on another public holiday, on 1st May and on Finnish Independence Day (6 December). In addition to other salary payable for said day, a Sunday work bonus equalling a single basic rate shall be paid for Sunday work.
- 2. If the work performed on a Sunday is additional or overtime work, the compensation to be paid for it shall be in accordance with the regulations governing additional or overtime work plus the single rate Sunday work bonus referred to in item 1 above.
- 3. By agreement with the salaried employee concerned, the Sunday work bonus or the entire salary for Sunday work may be paid as a fixed monthly compensation or exchanged for an equivalent period of time off. Said time off must be granted and taken within six months of performing the overtime work.
- 4. Exchanging the Sunday work bonus for flexible leave may be agreed locally. This flexible leave shall be governed by section 27 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act, but shall be scheduled by agreement. No holiday bonus shall be paid on flexible leave.

# 19 § Compensation for working on major public holidays

All salaried employees working on New Year's Day, Epiphany, Good Friday, Easter Sunday, Easter Monday, 1 May, Ascension Day, Pentecost, Midsummer Eve, All Saints' Day, Finnish Independence Day (6 December), Christmas Day and Boxing Day shall be paid salary increased by 200 per cent as of 6:00 a.m. for the subsequent 24-hour period. Said salary shall include any Sunday bonus. The time of payment of the aforementioned compensation for extra public holidays may be locally agreed otherwise when deemed necessary due to the agreed rhythm of shifts, the time of change of the working day, or other such reasons.

#### Minuted note 1

The point of time a major public holiday is observed and the compensation paid for the holiday can be transferred based on local collective bargaining.

Salaried employees working in shift work or regular evening or night work on the eve of the foregoing days shall be paid a salary increased by 100 per cent for evening and night shifts, and a salary increased by 20 per cent for morning shifts in compensation for extra public holidays. Said remuneration shall not include any overtime or Sunday bonuses.

A salaried employee working in daytime work on the aforementioned eves shall be paid a 20 per cent salary increase for regular working hours under the system for averaging working hours. Said remuneration shall not include any overtime. Said remuneration shall not include any Sunday bonus.

#### Minuted note 2

Subject to local collective bargaining, it is possible to cut the regular working hours in daytime work on the above eves of major holidays so that the cut equals the compensation payable for working on the eve of a major holiday.

# 20 § Rest periods and compensation for weekly time off

Daily rest period

- 1. When work has been arranged in regularly changing shifts of more than six hours, even in the work referred to in section 7 of the Finnish Working Hours Act, a salaried employee shall be granted a rest period of a minimum of half an hour or an opportunity to take a meal during the hours of work.
- When the hours of work in daytime work exceed six hours, a salaried employee shall be granted at least one regular rest period of a minimum of one hour. Where agreed locally this rest period may be reduced to no less than half an hour. A salaried employee shall have the right to leave the workplace freely during the rest period. However, this shall not apply to salaried employee whose presence at the workplace is essential for the continuation of operations.
  - It may be agreed locally that a salaried employee shall not take a fixed meal break in daytime work, but is provided with the opportunity to take a meal in the middle of the day at a time that is convenient in terms of work.
- 3. All of the time during which a salaried employee is bound to duties of work or required to be present at the workplace shall be counted as working hours, but any break during

which the employee has both the right and the practical opportunity to leave the workplace freely shall not constitute working hours.

4. The federations recommend that a salaried employee be given a daily opportunity while working, at the time that is most convenient for performance of duties, to have coffee or refreshments in a way that causes minimum disruption to the flow of work.

#### Twenty-four-hour rest period

During the 24 hours following the beginning of each shift, a salaried employee shall be granted a continuous rest period of no less than 11 hours and, in shift work, a rest period of no less than 9 hours, unless the work is performed during standby time.

Temporary exceptions to the foregoing may be made for no more than three consecutive twenty-four-hour periods at a time in the cases referred to in section 29, paragraph 2 of the Working Hours Act. This rest period shall nevertheless be at least five hours in such cases, and the salaried employee shall be granted the compensatory rest periods referred to in the said statute at the earliest opportunity and no later than within 14 calendar days.

The employer and the salaried employee may agree on a temporary reduction in the twenty-four-hour rest period to no less than seven hours if expedient organization of work so requires.

If it is considered necessary due to the rotation of shifts or other such reason, the twenty-four-hour rest period can be reduced based on local collective bargaining to a minimum of 7 hours.

#### Weekly time off

- 1. If possible, the salaried employee shall be granted a weekly continuous time-off period of no less than 35 hours, scheduled for Sunday. Nevertheless, a time-off period of said length may be granted at another time during the week if the work is characteristically done on all days of the week, or if the salaried employee is temporarily required to work on a Sunday in order to secure a regular flow of work in a shop or company.
- 2. In continuous shift work, however, weekly time off may be scheduled to average no less than 35 hours per week over a period of 12 weeks and no less than 24 hours in any single week.
- 3. A weekly time off is also deemed to be implemented when the weekly time off is divided between two weeks, as long as the most part of the weekly time off is taken during the week intended for the weekly time off.
- 4. Exceptions to the provisions of this section governing weekly time off may occur:
  - a) When the regular working hours of a salaried employee do not exceed three hours in a 24-hour period;
  - b) When a salaried employee is needed for emergency work;
  - When the technical character of the work does not permit full job release of some salaried employees;
  - d) When a salaried employee is needed to work on a temporary basis during the weekly rest period in order to maintain the regular flow of work at the company.

# Compensation for weekly time off

- A salaried employee shall be compensated for work performed temporarily during the
  weekly time off period by deducting from the employee's regular working hours a corresponding number of hours scheduled no later than within the following three calendar
  months or, by prior agreement, by paying the entire monetary compensation for weekly
  time off in accordance with item 5 below.
- 2. Unless otherwise agreed, the weekly rest day shall be Sunday in daytime work and in discontinuous shift work, and the last day off in the week under the system for averaging working hours in other forms of work.
- Compensation shall be paid for temporary work performed during a weekly time off period even when the salaried employee concerned has been absent from work due to illness, temporary child-care leave, accident or employer-specified training during the same week.
- 4. The regular working hours during the week in which the corresponding time off is granted shall be the weekly working hours scheduled under the system for averaging working hours minus the number of hours of time off.
- 5. With the consent of the salaried employee concerned, the following cash compensation for hours worked during weekly time off may be paid in full in addition to the monthly salary
  - basic rate increased by 100 per cent, and
  - the overtime and Sunday work bonuses required in this agreement if the hours worked also constitute overtime or Sunday work.

The mode of compensation shall be agreed when settling the work to be performed during a weekly rest period.

# 21 § Additional work

1. The concept of additional work

Additional work refers to work performed in accordance with the Finnish Working Hours Act at the employer's initiative and with the consent of the salaried employee, that exceeds the working hours stipulated in the collective agreement but does not exceed the maximum regular working hours prescribed in the Working Hours Act (8 hours a day and 40 hours a week, or an average of these if averaging of working hours has been applied).

2. The forms of additional work

Additional work may occur in the following forms:

- a) As daily additional work, usually only 0.5 hours per day.
- b) As additional work on leave days
  - usually not exceeding 2.5 hours when no additional work has been performed during the week, or
  - up to 40 hours per week when the salaried employee has been absent from work during the week.

3. When applying average weekly working hours, additional work shall include any work performed in addition to the agreed weekly working hours averaging fewer than 40 hours over the entire period.

When the period on which the system for averaging working hours is based is too long for a single pay period, additional work may be calculated on a weekly basis using the regular weekly working hours confirmed for the week in question in the system for averaging working hours as the basis for comparison.

#### 4. Salary for additional work

If no time off in lieu of additional work has been agreed, the compensation for said work shall be the regular hourly rate based on the number of hours worked. The basic hourly rate payable for additional work shall be calculated in the same manner as the overtime rate.

A salaried employee with regular working hours of 7.5 hours per day and 37.5 hours per week shall, nevertheless, be compensated for additional work performed in excess of the daily or weekly working hours scheduled under an averaging system for working hours in the manner agreed for daily or weekly overtime. Additional work shall not constitute overtime.

The additional work bonus may be paid as fixed monthly remuneration or exchanged for a corresponding period of time off if so agreed with the salaried employee in question. The dates when the time off is taken shall be agreed with the salaried employee.

An exchange of additional work for flexible leave may be agreed locally. This flexible leave shall be governed by section 27 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act, but shall be scheduled by agreement. No holiday bonus shall be paid on flexible leave.

# 22 § Overtime

1. In accordance with the Working Hours Act, overtime refers to any work performed at the employer's initiative and with the consent of the salaried employee in excess of the maximum regular working hours (8 hours a day and 40 hours a week, or an average of these if averaging of working hours has been applied).

If a salaried employee working hours during the working week fall under different forms of working hours, the weekly overtime shall be determined on the basis of the schedule of work shifts for the form of working hours under which the employee has mostly worked during the week in question.

2. Compensation for hours exceeding the regular working hours

Compensation for daily overtime

If the number of hours worked exceeds 8 hours in a working day, or the number of hours set for said day in the system for averaging working hours when using such a system, the salary shall be increased by 50 per cent for the first two hours and by 100 per cent for the subsequent hours. The compensation shall be directly 100 per cent for all overtime worked on a Saturday or on the eve of a public holiday.

#### Compensation for weekly overtime

If the number of hours worked minus the daily overtime referred to in the preceding item and performed during the same week exceeds 40 hours or, when using the system for averaging working hours, exceeds the number of hours set for said week in the system, the salary shall be increased by 50 per cent for the first eight hours and by 100 per cent for the subsequent hours. Said compensation shall be 100 per cent for all overtime hours worked on Easter Saturday, Midsummer Eve and Christmas Eve.

A salary increase of 100 per cent shall be paid for work performed immediately after a full regular night shift.

The overtime bonus or the entire salary for overtime worked may be paid as a fixed monthly compensation or exchanged for a corresponding period of time off, if so agreed with the salaried employee in question. Said time off must be granted and taken within six months of performing the overtime work.

An exchange of the overtime bonus or the entire overtime pay for flexible leave may be agreed locally. This flexible leave shall be governed by section 27 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act, but shall be scheduled by agreement. No holiday bonus shall be paid on flexible leave.

- 3. If a salaried employee has been unable to, on working days defined in the system for averaging working hours, work for a period corresponding to their regular working hours on account of annual holiday, illness, caring for an ill child under the age of 10 or arranging the care of an ill child under the age of 10, accident, layoff for production-related or financial reasons, leave granted to reduce working hours in accordance with an agreement on reduction of hours, leave based on the working hour bank, flexitime leave taken as a full day, travel on the order of the employer, training referred to in sections 5.1 and 5.2 of the co-operation agreement or reserve military training and said salaried employee works on a day off included in the system for averaging working hours, then an overtime bonus as agreed with respect to weekly overtime shall be paid for the hours worked on said day off.
- 4. If a salaried employee switches from one form of working hours to another in the middle of a working week, then any work performed in excess of 40 hours a week without exceeding the regular daily working hours shall be deemed weekly overtime.
- 5. When calculating the increased salary payable for overtime, the basic salary must be calculated by dividing the monthly salary for daytime and two-shift work, including fringe benefits, by 160 when the regular weekly working hours are 40 hours and by 158 when the regular weekly hours are 37.5 hours. The divisor shall be 155 in discontinuous three-shift work and 148 in continuous three-shift work.

In addition to the personal monthly salary, items to be included when calculating the basic salary shall, in addition to the monetary value of any fringe benefits, be the seniority bonus when it has been agreed that it is paid by pay period, commission and productivity bonuses and any extra duties allowance. Said calculation shall nevertheless exclude any shift work bonuses, fixed compensation for regular Sunday work, extraordinary compensation items of temporary character, such as overtime, Sunday work and additional work bonuses, and profit sharing or other corresponding bonuses that are paid no more than twice a year.

If the work performed by a salaried employee continues from one day (24-hour period) or one working day to another, the work performed until the time when the employee's regular workday normally begins shall be deemed to be work performed during the preceding day for the purpose of calculating bonuses for additional work or overtime. In that situation, these hours shall not be included when calculating the regular working hours for the subsequent day.

- 6. When a salaried employee works overtime after the end of the regular working hours for an estimated period of no less than two hours, it must be considered reasonable to allow the employee to take a necessary meal break or an opportunity to have a meal while working.
- 7. A salaried employee who has worked more hours in a week including a weekday public holiday than is required for that week shall be compensated for the excess hours in the manner agreed for weekly overtime, unless said compensation is paid as daily overtime.
- 8. Compensation shall be paid for any daily overtime incurred in starting-up and running-down work. Therefore, it is necessary to locally determine the duties which involve such starting-up and running-down work. At the same time, the mode of compensation applicable to such cases shall also be determined.

An example of compensation for hours worked in addition to the regular working hours

Mon 8	Tue 8	Wed 8	Thu 10	Fri 8	Sat 1.5	Sun 10
total of the h	-	-	10	J	53.5 hours	10
the hours exceeding the regular daily working hours (Thu and Sun) are deducted from the above				4.0 hours 49.5 hours		
from the rem	ainder	eraged regula ted as weekly		vork	40.0 hours 9.5 hours	

Salary increased by 50 per cent shall be paid for daily overtime (on Thursday). However, when 8 hours of overtime have already been accrued during the week, an increase of 100 per cent shall be paid for hours worked in excess of the regular daily working hours. This means that the salary for the last two hours worked on the Sunday is increased by 100 per cent.

Salary increased by 50 per cent shall be paid for the first eight hours of weekly overtime and increased by 100 per cent shall be paid for any subsequent overtime. This means that a 50 per cent increase is paid for the Saturday hours shown above and for the first 6.5 hours on Sunday, and a 100 per cent increase is paid for the following 1.5 hours on Sunday.

In addition to other salary payments, a Sunday work bonus comprising the single basic hourly rate payable for all 10 hours shall be paid for working on a Sunday.

The weekly rest period shall also be granted at a later date, or weekly rest compensation governed by section 20 above shall be paid.

For compensation for additional work, see section 21 of this collective agreement. For working time in weeks including a weekday public holiday, see section 17. Overtime on the eve of a public holiday is governed by section 22 of this collective agreement.

#### 23 § On-call duty and telephone consultation

To be on call means that a salaried employee is contractually ready to arrive and perform working duties when summoned to do so outside of the employee's regular working hours.

The employer shall be liable to pay compensation for on-call duty to the salaried employee.

The compensation payable for on-call duty shall be:

- 1. 50 per cent of the personal hourly rate for regular working hours if a salaried employee is obliged to begin work no later than one hour after the call into work.
- 2. 25 per cent of the personal hourly rate for regular working hours if a salaried employee is obliged to begin work no later than two hours after the call into work.
- 3. 10 per cent of the personal hourly rate for regular working hours if a salaried employee is obliged to begin work no later than three hours after the call into work.

Compensation shall be paid for the time when a salaried employee is on call but not working.

If a salaried employee on call is called into work, the salary shall be paid for the time spent working according to the other provisions of this agreement.

Neither the provisions governing emergency work nor the provisions of the Finnish Working Hours Act concerning standby time shall apply to the call to work of a salaried employee who is on call.

On-call arrangements shall be agreed with the salaried employee concerned in sufficient detail to prevent subsequent disputes on the nature and duration of the intended restriction.

If the duties of a salaried employee usually and characteristically involve giving special instructions or orders by telephone or by other means during the employee's time off, when the company so requires, this shall be taken into account in said employee's total salary or as a separate bonus.

Other arrangements may be agreed locally on the compensation for on-call duty and on consultation by telephone and the grounds for determining such compensation. When agreeing on the amount of compensation, the timing of the work on evening between 6 p.m. and 10 p.m. or at night between 10 p.m. and 6 a.m. can be taken into account based on the call.

# 24 § Emergency work

1. Emergency work is carried out in response to an emergency call and the salaried employee concerned has to come to work outside of the employee's regular working hours and after the employee has already left the workplace.

- 2. The amount of the emergency bonus shall be determined as follows, based on when the emergency call is issued:
  - a) two hours at the basic rate if the emergency call is issued within regular working hours ending by 16:00, or thereafter but before 21:00, or on a day off so that the salaried employee must leave for work within two hours after receiving the emergency call; and
  - b) three hours at the basic rate if the emergency call occurs between 21:00 and 07:00.
- 3. The basic salary increased by 100 per cent, including any overtime bonuses, shall be paid for time spent at work when the call to perform emergency work is issued and the work is performed between 21:00 and 07:00.
- 4. A salaried employee shall be paid the salary for a full hour of emergency work, even if the work takes less than one hour.
- 5. Emergency work cannot be compensated for by reducing the salaried employee's regular working hours by a corresponding number of hours.

# **Application instructions**

When a salaried employee is called to perform emergency work, this causes the employee extra inconvenience, which is compensated for by emergency pay. When a salaried employee is called to work at a time of day when there is no public transportation available or at such urgency that it is not possible to use public transportation, the employee's travelling expenses shall be reimbursed against a statement of expenses.

This regulation shall not apply, however, if the emergency work is immediately followed by the regular work of the next working day.

# Salary for work

In addition to emergency salary, a salaried employee shall receive their normal salary and any applicable overtime bonus if the work constitutes overtime. Work performed in response to a call issued between 21:00 and 07:00 shall be remunerated as separately agreed. A basic salary increased by 100 per cent plus any applicable overtime bonus shall always be paid for emergency work performed during said period.

Emergency work regulations shall not apply to the standby cases referred to in this agreement.

The provisions of the Finnish Working Hours Act concerning daily rest periods shall not apply to emergency work.

#### TRAVEL AND TRAINING

# 25 § Travel compensation

- 1. Salaried employees shall travel as required by their duties. The travel shall be completed in an appropriate manner, so as not to spend more time or incur more expenses than is necessary in performing said duties.
- 2. A journey shall be deemed to have begun when the salaried employee leaves for the journey from the workplace or, when separately agreed, from the employee's home before the start of the regular working hours. It is deemed to have ended when the employee returns to the workplace, except when the employee goes directly home after the regular working hours, in which case the journey shall be deemed to have ended at this time. The days entitling to a per diem allowance shall be calculated from the beginning of the journey to the end. The regulations governing salary payable for travelling time shall not apply to the calculating of travelling days.
- 3. The employer shall pay all necessary travelling expenses, including the cost of tickets, baggage expenses and the cost of sleeping berths when the journey involves overnight travel.
  - Compensation for travelling expenses and other details of travel shall be mutually agreed as necessary before the journey begins.
- 4. Per diem and kilometer allowances shall be governed by the current decisions of the Finnish Tax Administration concerning tax-exempt allowances for travel expenses and the amounts thereof.
  - a) Full per diem allowance for a full day spent travelling, working or staying at the travel location or for more than 10 hours, and
  - b) Partial per diem allowance for part of a day, lasting for more than six but fewer than ten hours
  - c) Partial per diem allowance, when the time spent travelling exceeds the last full travelling day by at least two hours, and full per diem allowance, when said time exceeds the last full travelling day by more than six hours.

In addition to the per diem allowance, the costs of any accommodation necessary during a journey shall be reimbursed in accordance with the current decision by the Finnish Tax Administration.

If the salaried employee fails to present an invoice for the accommodation, an overnight travelling allowance shall be paid in accordance with the current decision by the Finnish Tax Administration.

5. Salaried employees shall be paid a meal allowance in accordance with the current decision of the Finnish Tax Administration when their duties exceptionally prevent them from taking meals during the meal break at the employer's cafeteria or at their places of residence, and the employee is not working at another location of the company in the same district or nearby that provides a comparable normal opportunity to take meals. No per diem allowance shall be paid in such cases.

6. The decision by the Finnish Tax Administration shall govern per diem allowances and reimbursement of hotel expenses during journeys outside of Finland necessary for the employee's duties. If accommodation is needed during the journey, the accommodation expenses shall be reimbursed, in addition to the per diem allowance, against a receipt to the maximum amount specified below.

If the salaried employee enjoys a free meal or if a meal is included in the price of the ticket on any travelling day, then the maximum per diem allowance shall be half of the amounts referred to above in this section. Free meals shall mean two free meals in the case of a full per diem allowance and one free meal in the case of a partial per diem allowance.

When the time spent on a journey outside of Finland exceeds the last full travelling day by more than 10 hours, a salaried employee shall be paid the full foreign per diem allowance for said partial travelling day, and half of the foreign per diem allowance when said time exceeds the last full travelling day by at least 2 hours but fewer than 10 hours.

The per diem allowance payable for partial day shall be determined according to the foreign per diem allowance that is paid for the last full day of travel.

If the total time spent on business travel abroad is less than 24 hours but not less than 10 hours, the salaried employee shall be paid the full per diem allowance applicable to the country concerned.

If significant changes occur in exchange rates due to devaluation, revaluation or other currency regulation, the consequent changes in per diem allowances and accommodation compensation shall be agreed between the federations.

- 7. If performance of the duties of a salaried employee requires an uninterrupted stay of no less than 2 weeks in the same district, the assignment is considered to be a short assignment. An assignment of a minimum of two months constitutes a long assignment. The per diem allowances payable in such cases may be agreed locally, taking into consideration the local conditions and any measures that the employer may have taken with regard to said visit.
- 8. Within the limits of the hours of work scheduled under the system for averaging working hours, any work performed during a travelling day shall be counted as regular working hours. The bonuses for additional work and overtime stipulated in this agreement shall be paid for any additional work or overtime. There shall be no reduction in the employee's monthly salary, even if it has not been possible to perform the number of working hours scheduled under the system for averaging working hours within the same day.
- 9. When a salaried employee travels at the employer's initiative at a time that is scheduled as time off under the system for averaging working hours, the basic salary shall be paid in compensation for the time spent travelling for a maximum of 8 hours on a working day and 16 hours on a day off. Such travelling time shall include full half-hours. Travelling time shall not be counted as working hours.

This benefit may also be granted as separate fixed monthly compensation agreed locally.

No compensation shall be paid for travelling time between 21:00 and 07:00 when the employer pays for the salaried employee's sleeper berth.

When calculating completion of regular weekly working hours for the purpose of calculating weekly overtime, travelling hours shall also be included up to the maximum daily regular hours of work under the system for averaging working hours on travelling days on which the full regular working hours cannot otherwise be reached. Such hours shall not, however, count as regular working hours.

10. No compensation shall be paid for travelling time when the normal duties of a salaried employee require repeated travelling or when the employee, owing to the nature of said duties, decides on travelling and the use of working hours.

Instead of the per diem allowances and meal allowances referred to above, a fixed separate compensation payable with the monthly salary may be agreed with a salaried employee referred to in this paragraph.

11. If it has been agreed that salaried employees use their own vehicles, compensation shall be paid in accordance with the current decisions of the Finnish Tax Administration.

If a salaried employee, at the employer's initiative, has to transport other persons during work-related travel, or due to the job duties is required to transport in the car tools, measuring instruments or complete devices, the travelling or transportation expenses of which should be covered by the employer, the kilometer allowance shall be increased by EUR 0.02 per person or by an equivalent quantity of goods.

The kilometer allowance shall be increased in accordance with the current decisions of the Finnish Tax Administration when performance of the employee's duties requires the use of a trailer.

12. Travelling regulations may be agreed locally for local use. Such regulations may differ from the stipulations of this section, provided that the overall level of compensation for travelling expenses corresponds to the level established by said stipulations.

#### **Application instructions**

Problems may arise in some cases regarding whether a half day per diem allowance or a meal allowance should be paid.

# Some examples:

- 1. A salaried employee travels on business from their workplace at one end of Jyväskylä to the city centre by bus. While returning to the workplace, the employee also attends to another matter in a city office. The employee leaves at 09.00 and is back at work at 13:00 the compensation is a meal allowance (one meal).
- 2. A salaried employee leaves Helsinki for Espoo at 11:00 and returns to work at 16:00 the compensation is half of the half day per diem allowance (one meal).
- 3. A salaried employee leaves Helsinki for Espoo at 11:00 and returns to work at 18:30 the compensation is half of the full day per diem allowance (two meals).
- 4. A salaried employee leaves Tampere for Turku by air at 08.00 and returns at 15.00 the compensation is partial per diem allowance.

5. Varkaus–Kuopio–Varkaus from 07.00 to 19.00 – the compensation is full per diem allowance.

No accommodation allowance shall be paid in cases where the employer arranges free board.

# 26 § Training and development opportunities

In addition to the regular annual working hours, the employer may direct salaried employees to additional, in-service, equipment, work well-being or safety training necessary for the performance of work or arrange development events for the improvement of productivity, efficiency and quality at workplace or at a place determined by the employer at maximum 8 hours per calendar year.

This time is deemed regular working hours that can be required in addition to the regular annual working hours agreed in the collective agreement. A salary with working hours and condition bonuses equalling the regular working hours salary will be paid during training or a development event.

Training and development events can be implemented so that the work shift is pro-longed by the duration of the training or a development event, however, at maximum by two hours per day, unless otherwise agreed locally. Training or a development event may also be carried out as a whole day. Training or a development event may not be arranged on mid-week holidays.

Otherwise, with regard to training activities, the provisions of the cooperation agreement concluded between the federations are adhered to.

#### Note

If the above-mentioned training or event is arranged outside the workplace, the provisions of section 25 on the compensation for travel expenses are applied.

#### 27 § Remuneration for training events

When salaried employees are sent by the employer to training events intended to improve their professional skills, the associated travelling expenses shall be reimbursed in the manner stipulated in section 25 of the collective agreement.

The compensation referred to in the preceding paragraph shall also be paid to a salaried employee participating in the joint training event referred to in item 5.2 of the co-operation agreement if the purpose of the event is locally found to promote the employee's vocational abilities.

If a training event is arranged at a time requiring a salaried employee working the night shift, for example, to attend during their time off, compensation shall either be paid to the employee at the basic rate for this attendance time or corresponding time off shall be granted instead. No reduction in salary shall occur if the event takes place during the salaried employee's regular working hours. No compensation for travelling time shall be paid for journeys pertaining to the training events referred to in this section.

### Note 1

Trainings are mainly not included in working hours, and no travel time compensation is paid for them. In exceptional situations, training can be included in working hours as set out in the implementing regulation (Appendix 1 of the collective agreement, "Inclusion of vocational training in working hours"), and then travel time compensation will be paid as for work-related travel.

The federations note that if the aforementioned training event occurs on the employee's day off, the basis of compensation for attending will be agreed locally as necessary.

Care shall be taken when arranging training events to ensure that the employee concerned is granted a daily rest period of sufficient length.

#### **ANNUAL HOLIDAY**

# 28 § Annual holiday

 Annual holiday shall be granted according to law. When determining the length of the annual holiday, the length of employment shall also include time worked for the same employer prior to discontinuation of employment for the purpose of relevant vocational studies increasing vocational competence as well as time worked by the said person for the employer during the studies if the employment continues immediately after the studies.

Local agreements are allowed concerning the division of annual leave in excess of 12 days to be taken in one or more sections.

The working hours averaging leaves and working hours bank leaves in accordance with the collective agreement and the paid absence due to sudden illness of a child referred to in section 30 of the collective agreement shall be calculated as time corresponding to working time for the calculation of the duration of annual holiday. If the working time is arranged into 12-hour shifts and the salaried employee follows the averaging of working hours system, the annual leave accrued by them is not affected by the absences caused by the organisation of working time.

In continuous three-shift work, it can be agreed locally that the annual holiday or part thereof may be incorporated into free periods under the system for averaging working hours.

If the employer gives notice to a salaried employee on grounds related to the person of the salaried employee in accordance with chapter 7, section 2 of the Employment Contracts Act, the employer may order the salaried employee to take the earned leave during the period of notice regardless of the holiday period. Holiday pay and bonus shall be paid for the duration of the annual leave taken.

2. The holiday pay shall be paid before the holiday begins unless it has been locally agreed that it will be paid on the employee's regular pay day.

The holiday pay may be paid on the customary pay day for a holiday period of no more than six days.

The daily salary payable as holiday pay or as annual holiday compensation shall be calculated as follows:

a) Holiday pay shall be determined by apportioning the monthly salary into salary for time spent working on one hand and salary for the holiday period on the other. These two components together shall always correspond to the monthly salary. To ensure this, it is recommended that annual holiday pay be calculated using the procedure for calculating part-time salary.

The daily salary payable as compensation for holidays outstanding when employment ends shall be determined by dividing the monthly salary by 25 and multiplying it by the number of days of outstanding holiday.

- b) For the duration of their annual holiday pay, salaried employees who have performed continuous or regularly recurrent shift work shall be paid the monthly salary plus an average daily pay based on the shift work bonus and calculated as provided in section 11 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act or in the manner agreed locally. Other continuous or regularly recurrent agreed bonuses and regularly recurrent Sunday work bonuses shall also be included when calculating the aforementioned average daily salary.
- c) When fixed monthly compensation is paid to a salaried employee on the basis of overtime, shift work, start-up or shutdown work, these items similar to salary shall also be paid during the annual holiday. Fringe benefits shall be governed by the provisions of section 9, subsection 2 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act.

# 3. Holiday bonus

A salaried employee shall receive a holiday bonus of 50 per cent of the annual holiday pay (= monetary salary) referred to in this agreement. When calculating the annual holiday bonus, the monthly salary shall be divided by 25 and multiplied by the number of holiday days stipulated in the Finnish Annual Holidays Act.

Half of the holiday bonus shall be paid when paying the annual holiday salary. Half shall be paid at the time the salary paid for the first working day following the salaried employee's return from the annual holiday is paid, or at the time when said payment would have been made if the employee concerned had not been prevented from returning to work.

The employer may also pay holiday bonus as follows: On two payment times, of which one is in summer, the other is in winter. The employer must annually, after hearing the shop steward, notify by the end of March at the latest when the payment dates are during the summer starting on 2 May and during the following winter period. If the employer has not announced the payment dates, they are for the summer holiday on 15 June and for the winter holiday on 15 February or after the mentioned dates in connection with the closest payment of wages. The holiday bonus must be paid for the summer holiday by the end of July at the latest. This does not change the preconditions for obtaining holiday bonus.

The holiday bonus shall also be paid for the holiday compensation payable for a leaveearning year that has already ended if regular employment is terminated during the holiday period for reasons not attributable to the salaried employee, or when temporary employment ends during the holiday period.

The holiday bonus shall be payable to a salaried employee retiring on old-age or disability pension and on early old-age or individual early pension at the aforementioned percentage of annual holiday salary and of any annual holiday compensation to which the employee is entitled.

A salaried employee returning to work after completing the armed forces as provided in the Finnish Act on the Continuation of the Employment and Civil Service Contracts of Persons Liable for Military Service Called to Service (no. 570 of 1961) or the voluntary military service for women shall be entitled to an annual holiday bonus payable at the foregoing percentage on the annual holiday compensation that was paid to the employee on entry into said military service.

The holiday bonus may be paid by local agreement in either one or more instalments, provided that it is paid in full by no later than the end of the leave-earning year following the leave-earning year entitling the employee to the holiday in question. An exchange of the holiday bonus for a corresponding period of time off to be taken by the end of the leave-earning year referred to above may be agreed as an alternative. When holiday bonus is exchanged for time off, said time off counts as working time when determining the length of annual holiday. If the employment relationship of a salaried employee ends before the locally agreed date of holiday bonus payment, then the holiday bonus shall be paid when the employment relationship ends if the employee concerned is otherwise entitled to a holiday bonus.

Exchange of the holiday bonus for flexible leave may be agreed locally. This flexible leave shall be governed by section 27 of the Finnish Annual Holidays Act, but shall be scheduled by agreement. No holiday bonus shall be paid on flexible leave.

# **HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELL-BEING**

# 29 § Salary during sickness, maternity or paternity leave and after accidents

 If a salaried employee is unable to work due to illness or accident and has not brought about said illness or accident wilfully or through criminal activity, reckless behaviour or other gross negligence, while said incapacity continues, the employee shall be entitled to continue to receive the salary that would have been payable for the regular hours of work, inclusive of fringe benefits, as follows.

Length of continuous employment	Salary
At least 1 month but less than 12 months At least one year months but less than five years	for 4 weeks for 5 weeks
5 years or longer	for 3 months

If incapacity to work due to illness or accident begins before the employment has continued for one month, the employer shall pay 50 per cent of the salaried employee's salary

as sick pay, however for no more than the regular hours of work scheduled between the date of onset of the incapacity and the ninth subsequent ordinary weekday. If the salaried employee's right to daily allowance under the Finnish Health Insurance Act begins earlier, the period for which the salary is payable shall be correspondingly reduced.

- 2. A salaried employee who is unable to work due to illness shall inform the employer thereof without delay, and shall advise the employer of the estimated date on which the incapacity will end.
- 3. Should the employer so require, a salaried employee shall present a medical certificate issued by the company's occupational health physician or by another physician acceptable to the employer. If the employer does not approve a medical certificate presented by the salaried employee and refers the employee for examination by another specified physician, the employer must compensate for any fees that are incurred in obtaining said medical certificate.

If incapacity to work due to the same illness begins again within 30 days of the date for which the employer last paid sick pay to the salaried employee, the salaried employee shall not be entitled to a new sick pay period under item 1 of this section, but sick pay shall be paid for a maximum of the total period referred to in item 1. If the employer's obligation to pay salary has already been met in full during the previous period of incapacity for work, the employer shall nevertheless pay the salary for the waiting period of one day stipulated in section 7, subsection 2 of chapter 8 of the Finnish Health Insurance Act. Whether the illness in question is the same shall be determined on the basis of the decision issued by the Finnish Social Insurance Institution (KELA).

- 4. If a salaried employee has knowingly concealed an illness from the employer at the time of concluding the employment contract, then the employer shall not be required to pay any salary for the period of illness.
- 5. A salaried employee shall be granted maternity, paternity and parental leave for the period of entitlement to maternity, paternity or parental allowances under the Health Insurance Act. The salary paid during maternity leave is the difference between the salary and daily allowance for three months.

The difference between the salary and per diem allowance is paid for regular working hours to a salaried employee for six (6) days of paternity leave. Payment of paternity leave salary is governed by the same provisions as the payment of maternity leave salary.

#### Note

For the payment of the difference between the salary and per diem allowance, the salaried employee must provide an account of the amount of maternity and paternity allowance and, after the family leave reform enters into force, an account of the corresponding family leave allowances.

The employer may decide to pay full salary instead of the difference between the salary and per diem allowance.

6. It shall be a condition of salary payment, however, that the employee's employment has continued for an uninterrupted period of no less than six months before delivery. A female salaried employee who has adopted a child below school age shall be granted paid leave

of three months, comparable to maternity leave, at the immediate time of adoption. No salary shall be paid for the duration of paternity leave. The parties recommend that a comprehensive plan for the use of parental leave and child care leave be prepared using the form jointly drafted by the confederations.

- 7. The parties recommend that before a salaried employee taking a family leave, the salaried employee and the employer are to discuss voluntary communications of free form during the family leave. For example, in the discussions, the communication of current topics at the workplace during the family leave can be considered as well as means to make the salaried employee's return back to work easier and more efficient after the end of the family leave.
- 8. The employer shall assign the same duties to a salaried employee returning from family leave as were performed by the employee before the family leave began.

If this is not possible, then the employer shall provide other work of the same level or, where no such work is available, other work.

The employer shall ensure that a salaried employee returning from family leave is familiarised with any changes that have occurred in said employee's work.

If daily allowance or comparable compensation is not paid for reasons due to the individual salaried employee, or if the amount paid is lower than the amount to which the employee would have been entitled by law, the employer shall be entitled to deduct from the employee's salary that part of the daily allowance or compensation that was not paid due to the employee's default.

#### 9. Substitute work

Substitute work refers to work that a salaried employee performs while incapacitated to perform their established duties or those defined in their employment contract due to an accident or illness. Substitute work should be appropriate and correspond to the salaried employee's normal duties, where possible. Performing substitute work in another position or training can be agreed separately.

Substitute work is voluntary and based on the assessment of an occupational health care physician on the employee's capacity to work and the agreement between the employee and employer on substitute work. Substitute work may not compromise the salaried employee's recovery. The methods substitute work is carried out and the related principles should be covered in the co-operation negotiations before they are implemented.

#### Minuted note 1:

The federations have jointly published a guide concerning substitute work in companies ("Korvaava työ kemian aloilla"). When needed, the federations provide guidance and training to companies on the provision of substitute work.

#### 30 § Medical examinations

Statutory medical examinations

The employer shall compensate for the earnings for regular working hours lost by an employee through work-related statutory medical examinations ordered by the employer, or in associated travelling.

If the examination occurs during the salaried employee's time off, the employee shall be paid a sum corresponding to the minimum daily sickness benefit payable under section 7 of chapter 11 of the Finnish Health Insurance Act in compensation for extraordinary expenses.

Other medical examinations

The employer shall compensate for lost earnings in the following cases:

When an illness or accident necessitates an urgent medical examination or in other cases of illness or accident where a medical appointment cannot be arranged outside of working hours within a reasonable time.

Laboratory tests and x-ray examinations prescribed by a physician and related to a medical examination shall be equated with other medical examinations. A medical examination to determine treatment for a previously diagnosed chronic illness, and medical examinations associated with pregnancy shall also be equated with other medical examinations. Treatment for cancer or acute dental illness as well as cancer screenings in accordance with the Government decree shall also be equated with other medical examinations.

For the time taken in an examination to determine the course of treatment, conducted by a medical specialist in the field in question, in which a prescription is issued for the purchase of assistive devices, such as eyeglasses.

A salaried employee shall notify the employer in advance of their medical appointment. If this is not possible, the employer shall be notified at the earliest opportunity. The salaried employee shall present an account of the medical examination, of any waiting time and of reasonable travelling time in the cases referred to in the preceding paragraph and comparable cases, also including an account of the reasons why an appointment outside of the working hours was not possible.

No compensation for lost earnings shall be payable based on the stipulations of this agreement governing medical examinations if a salaried employee receives sick pay for the duration of a medical examination.

#### Calculation

The aforementioned loss of earnings shall be determined according to the stipulations of the collective agreement governing the calculation of sick pay. Travel expenses arising from statutory medical examinations shall be paid in accordance with the principles concerning travel expenses provided in the collective agreement.

# Minuted note 1:

This amended stipulation is not intended to alter the prevailing application of this section.

#### 31 § Short temporary leave of absence

 No deduction shall be made from the salary or annual holiday of a salaried employee on account of a brief and temporary leave of absence granted due to the sudden illness of a family member or the death of a close relative. Close relative refers to the spouse, parents or parents-in-law of the employee, their grandparents, the children of the family, and brothers and sisters.

# Minuted note 1: Short temporary leave of absence granted due to the illness of a child.

Under the collective agreement provision on short temporary leave of absence, no deduction shall be made from the salary or annual holiday of a salaried employee on account of a temporary leave of absence granted due to the sudden illness of a member of the salaried employee's family. A close relative in said regulation refers to the employee's spouse, children, parents, brothers, sisters and grandparents as well as their parents-in-law. This means that a salaried employee is also entitled to salary while remaining at home to care for the employee's children or the children of the employee's spouse.

The Finnish Employment Contracts Act includes a provision on temporary child care leave, which entitles the parent of a child under ten years of age who suddenly falls ill to be absent from work for a maximum of four working days. By contrast, this regulation of the collective agreement sets no limit on duration, but in accordance with the agreement, the duration of absence must be determined in proportion to the situation at hand. The time spent to care for the child may therefore vary, but will most commonly be 1–4 days. This period may be exceeded in exceptional cases. The agreement also imposes no age limit for the child in care, meaning that a salaried employee may also take leave to care for a child over ten years of age where said care so requires (e.g. when the child is suffering from a high fever).

Eligibility for absence to care for a child always requires a sudden onset of illness. A salaried employee who has prior knowledge, for example, of medical or rehabilitation measures, or of a medical examination, is, under the collective agreement, not entitled to paid leave of absence to care for a child. Naturally, the salaried employee is entitled to (unpaid) temporary leave of absence pursuant to the Finnish Employment Contracts Act in such cases.

The right to a short temporary leave shall remain even if the child's illness recurred. No regulation has been agreed with respect to the illness of a child whereby a salaried employee must return to work for 30 days between illnesses before enjoying renewed eligibility for salaried leave of absence.

If the parents of a child under 10 years of age, who has suddenly taken ill, are employed by the same employer, and one of the parents has been in the night shift and the other's work shift is at day time, the parent working at day time is given the opportunity to take care of the child without a loss of salary, if the spouse in the night shift were to have a night shift also at the following night.

 A day off with salary corresponding to the individual's regular working hours shall be granted to a salaried employee on their 50th and 60th birthday and their wedding day when said birthday falls on a working day according to the schedule of work shifts or the system for averaging working hours. 3. A brief temporary leave of absence shall also be granted for performing the duties of official public appointments.

A sum corresponding to the loss of regular working hours arising from attending the meetings of elected local authority bodies shall be deducted from the monthly salary of a salaried employee acting as a municipal shop steward. The reduction of the monthly salary shall be implemented so that the employee's regular monthly salary continues after the reduced salary has been supplemented by compensation for lost earnings paid by the municipality. Any element payable by the employer shall be paid after the employee has furnished the employer with a statement of said compensation for lost earnings paid by the municipality.

A corresponding adjustment of earnings shall also be carried out for other official public appointments.

- 4. The length of brief temporary leave of absence shall be determined in relation to the foregoing circumstances and any necessary travelling time.
- 5. For the duration of military reserve refresher courses, the employer shall pay a salary to the salaried employee so that, supplemented by the reservist pay received from the State, the employee receives full salary. This provision shall also apply to those who are trained under the Finnish Rescue Act to perform special duties relating to civil defence.
- 6. Salaried employees belonging to the representative assemblies, boards and committees of the undersigned federations and of the Finnish Confederation of Salaried Employees STTK shall be permitted, during their hours of work, to take part in meetings of said bodies that are arranged to consider issues pertaining to collective bargaining.

#### Minuted note 2:

The shop steward, departmental representative or occupational safety delegate can participate in Trade Union Pro's conferences for shop stewards and their salary is not reduced for days spent at the conferences. A deputy can attend said negotiations on behalf of the shop steward when the latter is prevented from doing so.

#### 7. Serious illness of a child

After reaching prior agreement on such absence with the employer, a salaried employee whose child suffers from a serious illness of the kind referred to in Decision no. 1315 of 1989 of the Finnish Council of State shall be entitled to leave of absence from work in order to participate in the treatment, rehabilitation or care guidance of said child.

# 32 § Protective clothing

If it can be mutually agreed based on expert opinions or other corresponding grounds that the use of special overalls or protective equipment at work has a significant positive impact on occupational safety or health, the employer shall procure such overalls or equipment for the salaried employee to use at the workplace, even if providing them is not necessary under the Finnish Occupational Safety and Health Act. This shall not apply to regular working clothes. These regulations shall apply in duties where working clothes become worn out more easily.

#### **MISCELLANEOUS REGULATIONS**

# 33 § Survival actions if the company finds itself in financial difficulties

In order to safeguard the operations of the company and jobs:

- The flexible working time arrangements and other opportunities included in the collective agreement shall be used primarily, such as:

#### Based on local collective bargaining

- longer and shorter work shifts
- working hour bank
- transfer of the time of major holidays and the compensations paid for them
- delayed payment of holiday bonuses and converting them into leave
- graduated working hours
- distribution of annual leave exceeding 12 days

# - By decision of the employer

- longer and shorter work weeks
- changes from shift work to day-time work and vice versa

The federations agree on the principle according to which, if the volume of work is reduced, any hours accrued in the possible working hour bank should be used before resorting to layoffs.

Company here refers to a company or an independent part thereof, such as a production facility.

# Survival clause

If the financial situation of the employer so requires, the needs of the customers, the order book, the financial situation of the company and the employer's corrective actions are discussed with the shop steward in order to improve the financial situation.

When it is jointly agreed with the shop steward that the company is about to find itself in exceptional financial difficulties which might result in a reduction of the use of workforce, it can be agreed locally with the shop steward that in addition to the above measures, the terms of work may be modified for a fixed period of a maximum of one year. Matters to be agreed may include benefits of the collective agreement with a monetary value, such as holiday bonuses and compensation for working on major holidays.

The local agreement shall be made in writing. The adjustments shall apply to the entire staff and management of the company equally. At the same time, local agreements will also be made in terms of the protection against dismissal. When the agreement is made, its effects with regard to the applicable unemployment and pay security regulations must be evaluated.

At the same time, it must be agreed how the financial losses of the salaried employees will be compensated once the company's financial situation has improved. The development of the company's financial situation is monitored regularly during the agreement period, and if the company's financial situation improves during the agreement period in such a way that the justification for the use of the survival clause no longer exists, the agreement may be terminated.

When it is jointly agreed that the company is about to find itself in exceptional financial difficulties which would result in a reduction of the use of workforce, the employer may decide to extend the holiday period to last from 1 April to 31 October.

It should additionally be noted that the Act allows agreements to be made concerning a shorter process for layoffs and the collective agreement for a shorter period of layoff notices.

Local parties are entitled to request from the unions party to the collective agreement support for detecting the unusual situation mentioned above and surveying the means available.

# 34 § Survival actions if the

Subject to the following conditions, a registered or corresponding association of salaried employees belonging to a union of salaried employees that is bound by this agreement and has members at the workplace concerned shall be given an opportunity to hold meetings for the employer's salaried staff outside of working hours (before the beginning of the working day, during meal breaks or immediately after the end of the working day and, by separate agreement, also during the weekly rest period) at each workplace to discuss matters pertaining to industrial relations at said workplace:

- a) Holding a meeting at the workplace or at another venue referred to in this agreement shall, if possible, be agreed with the employer three days before the meeting takes place.
- b) The employer shall specify the venue for the meeting, which shall be a suitable place for the purpose either at the workplace or in the vicinity of the workplace, administered by the employer. If no such venue is available, the matter shall be discussed with a view to finding an expedient solution.
- c) The organisation that reserved the venue and arranged the meeting shall be responsible for maintaining order at the meeting and tidiness at the venue. The elected officers of said organisation should attend the meeting.
- d) The organiser of the meeting shall be entitled to invite to the meeting representatives of a federation that is a party to this collective agreement and of any association that is affiliated thereto, and representatives of the competent national central labour and employer confederations.

#### **BINDING CHARACTER AND VALIDITY OF AGREEMENT**

# 35 § Binding character of agreement

- 1. This agreement shall be binding to:
  - a) the organizations that have signed it,
  - b) the employers, salaried employees and associations thereof that are or, during the validity of the agreement, have been members of the foregoing associations.
- 2. After this agreement has become binding to the federations, all industrial action directed against the said agreements as a whole or in respect of any individual provision of the agreements shall be prohibited. A federation and its subordinate associations shall also be required to ensure that none of their member associations, employers and salaried employees that are bound by the agreement engage in any such industrial action or otherwise infringe the regulations of this agreement.

# 36 § Duration of the agreement

This agreement shall be in effect from 7 February 2023 to 31 December 2024 and thereafter for one year at a time, unless either party has terminated it in writing no later than two months before the agreement expires.

If the agreement is terminated, the negotiations on a new agreement shall commence and a proposal for amendment shall be submitted to the counterparty no later than one month after said termination.

Helsinki, 16 February 2023

CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND

TRADE UNION PRO

# CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND TRADE UNION PRO

# PROTOCOL OF SIGNATURE FOR THE RENEWAL OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT FOR SALARIED EMPLOYEES IN THE FINNISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FOR THE PERIOD OF 7 FEBRUARY 2023–31 DECEMBER 2024

Date 16 February 2023

Place Chemical Industry Federation of Finland, Eteläranta 10, Helsinki

Present The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland

Minna Etu-Seppälä Miira Kaukolinna Jaana Neuvonen Sampo Pehkonen Juha Teerimäki

**Trade Union Pro** 

Anssi Vuorio Taru Reinikainen Piia Säkkinen

# 1. Signing the collective agreement

On 7 February 2023, the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and Trade Union Pro concluded the negotiations on the renewal of the Collective Agreement for Salaried Employees in the Finnish chemical industry for 2023–2024. The federations have today signed the collective agreement for the industry.

#### 2. Agreement period

As of 7 February 2023, the new collective agreement replaces the collective agreement signed between the parties for the period 17 January 2022–31 December 2023. The collective agreement will remain in effect from 7 February 2023 to 31 December 2024, and thereafter for one year at a time, unless either federation terminates it in writing no later than two months before the agreement expires.

# 3. Salary adjustments

#### 3.1 Local salary negotiations

The objective of the local salary negotiations is to find a salary settlement which supports the financial situation, order book, employment situation and cost competitiveness of each company or workplace. The goal for the pay formation is to encourage employees to develop their competence and, through their actions, contribute to the development of profitability and well-being at work in the company in line with the set objectives.

When the salary settlement is being negotiated, attention can be paid to the financial situation of the company.

When negotiating the amount, date and method of pay increases, the employer gives, in advance, the shop steward the information for **2023** in May 2023 (without summer workers) and for **2024** in February 2024. The information is the total sum of the personal hourly and monthly pay of employed salaried employees and how the sum was calculated.

The information provided in the negotiations is confidential and may only be used to allocate the local amount.

If local collective bargaining is carried out on the salary settlement pursuant to the collective agreement, the employer must give the salaried employees the opportunity to meet to discuss the content of the negotiations during working hours. Unless otherwise agreed locally, the employer determines the date, time and maximum duration of the meeting.

The shop steward and employer together can often promote local collective bargaining and its progress by discussing the ways in which they can together explain the ongoing negotiations and the final content of the agreement to the salaried employees.

# 3.2. Local salary settlement

Matters to be agreed on the local salary settlement include the

- amount of the pay increase (e.g. a non-recurring payment or amount of the increases),
- time and
- implementation method of salary adjustments (e.g. a non-recurring payment, adjournment compensation, general increase and/or company-specific instalment).

The agreement or agreements are made with the shop steward. The agreement or agreements will be made for the year 2023 by 15 August 2023 and for the year 2024 by 15 March 2024, unless an extension is mutually agreed. The agreement or agreements are made in writing.

# 3.3. Implementation method and scope of salary adjustments, unless a local salary settlement has been agreed

#### 3.3.1. Non-recurring payment in 2023

The one-time instalment is EUR 400 and it will be paid with the pay of March 2023.

This non-recurring payment shall be made only to those salaried employees whose continuous employment has begun no later than 1 December 2022 and whose employment contract is still effective on the payment date. The non-recurring payment shall also be made even if the salaried employee has been laid off or they are on sick or family leave.

For salaried employees in part-time employment, the non-recurring payment is calculated based on the agreed working hours/full-time working hours ratio. Hourly paid employees: see section 3.4 of the Protocol of Signature.

The non-recurring payment shall not be made if the salaried employee has resigned before the payment date of the non-recurring payment.

#### Protocol of signature

Exception: If the salaried employee has resigned due to retiring before the negotiations have reached a solution, the non-recurring payment shall be made if the employment relationship is valid on the date of the payment of the non-recurring payment.

The non-recurring payment is not taken into consideration when calculating other salary components, such as the annual holiday pay and overtime pay.

# 3.3.2. Adjournment compensation in 2023

The adjournment compensation is compensation for adjourning the pay increase by five months.

The adjournment compensation is EUR 400 and it will be paid with the pay of June 2023.

The adjournment compensation shall be paid only to those salaried employees whose continuous employment has begun no later than 1 March 2023 and whose employment contract is still effective on the payment date of the adjournment compensation. The adjournment compensation shall also be paid even if the salaried employee has been laid off or they are on sick or family leave.

For salaried employees in part-time employment, the amount of the adjournment compensation is calculated based on the agreed working hours/full-time working hours ratio. Hourly paid employees: see section 3.4 of the Protocol of Signature.

The adjournment compensation shall not be paid if the salaried employee has resigned before the payment date of the non-recurring payment.

The adjournment compensation is not taken into consideration when paying other salary components, such as the annual holiday pay and overtime pay.

#### 3.3.3. General increase

# In 2023

- the increase takes place on **1 September 2023** or from the start of the pay period beginning soonest thereafter
- the salary increase will be a general increase of 2.2%

# In 2024

- the increase takes place on **1 April 2024** or from the start of the pay period beginning soonest thereafter
- the salary increase will be a general increase of 3.1%

# 3.3.4. Company or workplace-specific amount

The purpose of the company or workplace-specific item is to promote an encouraging salary formation, fair pay structure and scales, the development of productivity in the workplace and the implementation of the employer's pay policy, as well as to rectify possible biases. The salaried employees' professional skills and work performance must be the guiding factor in the distribution of personal increases. The principle of the company- and workplace-specific remuneration is that increases are seen as genuinely rewarding.

#### Year 2024

in addition to the general increase, a company and workplace-specific amount of 0.4% is used for the pay increase of salaried employees, the distribution of which will be decided by the employer.

The company or workplace-specific amount is calculated in **February 2024** on the basis of the sum total of the personal pay of the salaried employees who are in employment in and are included within the scope of the collective agreement. The pay of salaried employees absent for the entire month is not included if a substitute has been hired for the salaried employee in question.

The hourly or monthly salaries including fringe benefits are used as the salaries for the calculation (excluding any separate bonuses, such as seniority bonus, shift work bonus and bonus for working conditions).

An example of calculating the company or workplace-specific amount

The company has three salaried employees in January: A, B and C. They earn EUR 2,513/month, EUR 2,854/month and EUR 3,204/month, respectively. The total amount of pay (2,513 + 2,854 + 3,204) is EUR 8,571/month.

Therefore, the local pay increase item is EUR  $8,571/month \times 0.4\% = EUR 34.28/month$ . A total of EUR 34.28/month is used to increase the monthly salary of the salaried employees in a manner agreed on locally.

#### 3.3.5. Exchange of general increase for non-recurring payment

Salaried employees and the employer can agree that the 2023 general increase will be paid as a non-recurring payment. The amount of the non-recurring payment is calculated as follows:

- employee paid monthly: 2.2% x personal monthly pay x 12 months
- employee paid hourly: see section 3.4 of the Protocol of Signature.

The agreement shall be made in writing in the period of 1–15 September 2023. The non-recurring payment agreed in this manner will be paid with the pay of September 2023.

#### 3.4. Calculation of pay increases of salaried employees with hourly pay

The pay of salaried employees with hourly pay is first changed to a monthly pay, after which the monthly pay is raised. The raised wage will be compared to the salary scales of the collective agreement, and it will be ensured that the new wage exceeds the salary scales by 4% if the employment has continued over 6 months. At the end, the monthly pay is converted back to hourly pay.

The non-recurring payment and adjournment compensation shall not be included in the new pay.

# 3.5. Practices for changing the time of salary adjustments

#### 3.5.1. Agreeing on the time of salary adjustments

If the date of increase has not been agreed on in the local salary settlement, but it is wished to be adjourned, an agreement concerning the **2023** increases must be made in writing by 15 August 2023 and concerning the **2024** increases by 15 March 2024. If the adjournment of

# Protocol of signature

salary adjustments is agreed on, an agreement must be made in the same context concerning compensation of any loss of earnings caused by the change with a corresponding non-recurring payment. The compensation will be paid at the latest as of the date of implementing the pay increase.

# 3.5.2. Consideration of pay increases when implementing pay increases pursuant to the collective agreement

If companies implement pay increases on a schedule that differs from that of the pay increases specified in the collective agreement, a local agreement can be made with the shop steward to take the payments in question into account when implementing salary increases based on the collective agreement. In that case, the salaried employee must be informed that the increase also includes the increase that is based on the collective agreement.

# 3.6. Pay scales

From the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 September 2023** or the closest subsequent pay period, the job requirement salaries (TVL) shall be as follows:

Job grade	EUR/month
1	1,876
2	2,023
3	2,189
4	2,434
5	2,726
6	3,088
7	3,521
8	4,010

From the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 April 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period, the job requirement salaries (TVL) shall be as follows:

Job grade	EUR/month
1	1,936
2	2,088
3	2,259
4	2,512
5	2,813
6	3,187
7	3,634
8	4,138

# 3.7. Seniority bonuses

Seniority bonus from the start of the pay period beginning on **1 April 2024** or soonest thereafter:

<b>EUR/month</b>
47
62
91
114
140

# 3.8. Extra pay for shift work

As of **1 April 2024** or from the beginning of the closest subsequent pay period, the shift bonuses shall be as follows:

evening shift	night shift
cents/hr	cents/hr
236	432

# 3.9. Shop steward and labour protection delegate remuneration

The remuneration payable to the shop steward (not the departmental representative) as of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 January 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period shall be as follows:

5–9	89
10–24	134
25–50	182
51–100	250
101–200	303
201–400	351
401–600	392
600-	460

As of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 January 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period the occupational safety delegate's compensation shall be as follows:

5–24	75
25-100	97
101–250	125
251-400	153
More than 400	180

#### 3.10. Information submitted to the shop steward

If the increase includes a company-specific instalment, the employer and the shop steward (or the entire group of salaried employees, if no shop steward has been elected) shall, in a reasonable time after the implementation of the increases, go over the total number of salaried employees, how many salaried employees have received the increase, the amount of the average increase, and the sum used to increase the pay of the salaried employees by sorting it as company-specific and general increase. The information provided is confidential.

#### 3.11. Support by federations

The federations support the local parties in their active search for different solution models for salary increases pursuant to the collective agreement and an encouraging pay policy, encouraging them to find the best possible solution for the company and its personnel.

# 3.12. Survey concerning the salary settlement

The federations collect experiences of the implementation of salary settlements in relation to things such as the use of the company-specific instalment and the non-recurring payment. Additionally, the unions investigate how common the practice of exchanging the general increase for a non-recurring payment is.

# 4. Changes to the text as of 7 February 2023

#### 4.1. Section 5 Local bargaining

A new section shall be added to the end of the third entry on record.

#### Entry on record 3:

The parties state that an increase in local collective bargaining will expand and reinforce the role of the shop steward in successful co-operation at workplaces.

Both parties shall each contribute to the development of cooperation and good negotiations relationships in the workplaces.

# 4.2. Section 6 Pay

'Pay' of section 6 of the collective agreement is transferred from the Protocol of Signature 'Performance and profit bonuses' to be the new point 4. Performance and profit bonuses.

#### 4. Performance and profit bonuses

Performance and profit bonuses are company-specific salary bonuses. They involve an inherent risk of non-payment if the assigned performance and profit targets are not met.

The use of performance and profit bonuses that are at the discretion of company management; the grounds for determining these bonuses and any changes in said grounds will be explained to the salaried employees before such bonuses are introduced.

#### 4.3. Section 12 Working hours in daytime, one and two-shift work

Item 3 is changed to the following:

3. It is also appropriate to investigate the possibility of introducing flexible working hours or graduated working hours when planning the introduction of various working hour arrangements.

# Flexible working hours

Flexible and staggered working hours may be introduced where locally agreed. A daily flexi-time of a maximum of four hours and the limitation of the maximum accrued hours to 80 hours can be agreed locally. A calendar year can be used as the follow-up period for the maximum of flexible working hours. Instead of a calendar year, a one-year long period can be locally agreed to be the follow-up period.

# **Entry on record**

If a salaried employee's balances are constantly close to the agreed maximum amounts of the flexibility balance, the supervisor must discuss correcting the balance and the associated schedule with the salaried employee.

# **Graduated working hours**

Graduated working hours can be introduced in the workplace. Before switching to graduated working hours, the employer shall negotiate with the shop steward or, if no shop steward has been elected, the relevant salaried employees in order to reach a mutual understanding.

- 1. In the negotiations, the parties shall go over the reasons for switching to the model and the possible challenges for integrating work and family life related to the model.
- 2. Graduated working hours shall primarily be used for voluntary salaried employees.
- 3. If there are not enough volunteers for graduated working hours, the employer can use graduated working hours for other salaried employees as well. The employer shall take salaried employees' whishes concerning graduated working hours into account.

#### **Entry on record:**

The federations recommend the use of staggered working hours and provide company-specific training on staggered working hours.

#### 4.4. Section 22 Overtime

Item 3 is changed to the following:

3. If a salaried employee has been unable to, on working days defined in the system for averaging working hours, work for a period corresponding to their regular working hours on account of annual leave, illness, caring for an ill child under the age of 10 or arranging the care of an ill child under the age of 10, accident, layoff for production-related or financial reasons, leave granted to reduce working hours in accordance with an agreement on reduction of hours, leave based on the working hour bank, flexitime leave taken as a full day, travel on the order of the employer, training referred to in sections 5.1 and 5.2 of the co-operation agreement or reserve military training and said salaried employee works on a day off included in the system for averaging working hours, then an overtime bonus as agreed with respect to weekly overtime shall be paid for the hours worked on said day off.

#### 4.5 Section 28 Annual leave

A new paragraph is added to the end of item 1 as follows:

If the employer gives notice to a salaried employee on grounds related to the person of the salaried employee in accordance with chapter 7, section 2 of the Employment Contracts Act, the employer may order the salaried employee to take the earned leave during the period of notice regardless of the holiday period. Holiday pay and bonus shall be paid for the duration of the annual leave taken.

Paragraph 6 of 3 'Holiday bonus' is changed to the following:

A salaried employee returning to work after completing regular duties the armed forces as provided in the Finnish Act on the Continuation of the Employment and Civil Service Contracts of Persons Liable for Military Service Called to Service (no. 570 of 1961) or the voluntary military service for women shall be entitled to an annual holiday bonus payable at the foregoing percentage on the annual holiday compensation that was paid to the employee on entry into said military service.

# 4.6. Section 31 Short temporary leave of absence

Item 2 is changed to the following:

2. A day off with salary corresponding to the individual's regular working hours shall be granted to a salaried employee on their 50th and 60th birthdays and their wedding day when said date falls on a working day according to the schedule of work shifts or the system for averaging working hours.

New item 7 'Serious illness of a child' is added

#### 7. Serious illness of a child

After reaching prior agreement on such absence with the employer, a salaried employee whose child suffers from a serious illness of the kind referred to in Decision no. 1315 of 1989 of the Finnish Council of State shall be entitled to leave of absence from work in order to participate in the treatment, rehabilitation or care guidance of said child.

#### 4.6 Section 33 Survival actions if the company finds itself in financial difficulties

Appendix 9 to the miscellaneous provisions of the collective agreement is transferred to be section 33 and the numbering of appendices and sections is changed after this. The decree shall be changed as follows:

In order to safeguard the operations of the company and jobs:

The flexible working time arrangements and other opportunities included in the collective agreement shall be used primarily, such as:

# Based on local collective bargaining

- longer and shorter work shifts
- working hour bank
- transfer of the time of major holidays and the compensations paid for them
- delayed payment of holiday bonuses and converting them into leave
- graduated working hours
- distribution of annual leave exceeding 12 days

# By decision of the employer

- longer and shorter work weeks
- changes from shift work to day-time work and vice versa

The federations agree on the principle according to which, if the volume of work is reduced, any hours accrued in the possible working hour bank should be used before resorting to layoffs.

Company here refers to a company or an independent part thereof, such as a production facility.

#### Survival clause

If the financial situation of the employer so requires, the needs of the customers, the order book, the financial situation of the company and the employer's corrective actions are discussed with the shop steward in order to improve the financial situation.

When it is jointly agreed with the shop steward that the company is about to find itself in exceptional financial difficulties which might result in a reduction of the use of workforce, it can be agreed locally with the shop steward that in addition to the above measures, the terms of work may be modified for a fixed period of a maximum of one year. Matters to be agreed may include benefits of the collective agreement with a monetary value, such as holiday bonuses and compensation for working on major holidays.

The local agreement shall be made in writing. The adjustments shall apply to the entire staff and management of the company equally. At the same time, local agreements will also be made in terms of the protection against dismissal. When the agreement is made, its effects with regard to the applicable unemployment and pay security regulations must be evaluated.

### Protocol of signature

At the same time, it must be agreed how the financial losses of the salaried employees will be compensated once the company's financial situation has improved. The development of the company's financial situation is monitored regularly during the agreement period, and if the company's financial situation improves during the agreement period in such a way that the justification for the use of the survival clause no longer exists, the agreement may be terminated.

When it is jointly agreed that the company is about to find itself in exceptional financial difficulties which would result in a reduction of the use of workforce, the employer may decide to extend the holiday period to last from 1 April to 31 October.

It should additionally be noted that the Act allows agreements to be made concerning a shorter process for layoffs and the collective agreement for a shorter period of layoff notices.

The parties to the agreement shall advise companies on how to implement survival actions, if necessary.

Local parties are entitled to request from the unions party to the collective agreement support for detecting the unusual situation mentioned above and surveying the means available.

# 4.7. Co-operation agreement for the Finnish chemical industry

Is added to item 3. Regulations on the status of shop stewards and occupational safety delegates and the labour protection ombudsman, 3.1 Release from work and compensation for lost earnings, the following paragraph is changed to:

When a shop steward represents several workplaces, the shop steward and the employer shall agree on the option of workplace visits without loss of earnings.

The employer shall cover the travel costs related to workplace visits in accordance with item 3, section 25 of the collective agreement.

When agreeing on the matter, attention must be paid to the following matters:

- When the visit can be remote and then there is reason to physically visit the place. In unusual circumstances (e.g. change negotiations), the need for workplace visits may be greater.
- When negotiating on the matter, the technical tools which the employer provides the shop steward must be taken into account.
- Effort must be made to organise the workplace visits so that they hinder the performing of the shop steward's own duties as little as possible.

# 4.8. Agreement on protection against dismissal, Section 19 Calculation of the negotiation period under the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings

A new entry on record is added to the end of the section:

#### Entry on record:

The entry above abolishes the obligation in the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings to give a written negotiations proposal no fewer than five calendar days before the start of the negotiations.

Before starting the change negotiations, the employer must give a written negotiations proposal. The negotiations proposal must contain the information pursuant to section 19, chapter 3 of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings. If some piece of information is not yet available at the time the negotiations proposal is given, the information must be provided at the start of the change negotiations, at the latest.

The section references to the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings are only informative.

# 4.9. Appendix 6, Sections of the collective agreement which may be locally agreed differently

Agreeing on graduated working hours is removed from the list in section 12 'Working hours in daytime, one and two-shift work'.

To section 19 Compensation for working on major public holidays is added: On the adjournment and payment of the compensation for working on major public holidays.

# 4.10. Appendix 10, Summer trainee programme for the young for 2023–2025

The years in the title of Appendix 10 are changed to 2023–2025, and points 2 and 3 are changed as follows:

- 2. The employment relationship according to the summer trainee programme, lasting for two weeks or ten working days, can be placed between 1 June and 31 August in 2023–2025. A young person may have several traineeships pursuant to this recommendation with the same employer in each year.
- 3. The wage for the completion of the Tutustu työelämään ja tienaa ("Learn and earn") summer trainee programme is a non-recurrent sum of **EUR 365** in 2023 **EUR 375** in 2024 and 2025. The pay includes the holiday compensation accumulated during the traineeship. Statutory social security contributions are deducted from the wage according to the age of the person.

#### 4.11. Technical changes

- The subheading ABSENCES is changed to HEALTH, SAFETY AND WELL-BEING and section 32 'Protective clothing' is transferred under this heading.
- The section reference in item 5 of section 12 'Working hours in daytime, one and two-shift work' is changed section 30 -> section 31 (short temporary leave of absence).
- Appendix 12 'Telecommuting and hybrid work' is changed to be Appendix 11.

# 5. Notes to the Protocol of Signature

# 5.1. Continuous negotiation

The aim of continuous negotiation is to promote cooperation at workplaces, develop employment and productivity in the industry, prepare amendments to collective agreements during the agreement period and prepare joint application guidelines for situations considered difficult at workplaces.

The parties shall follow the principle of continuous negotiation during the agreement period so that various themes are negotiated and solutions are sought during the agreement period. Other matters may also be negotiated by proposal of one of the parties.

Changes to the text of the collective agreement agreed in the negotiations are subject to approval by the governing bodies of the parties, and they enter into force on a separately agreed date.

#### Joint strategy for the development of co-operation and the collective agreement

A joint strategy for the goal-oriented development of co-operation and collective agreements will be prepared by 31 May 2023. After this date, the strategy is implemented through continuous negotiation and the working groups appointed by the negotiating parties.

The following jointly agreed guidelines are used as the basis, putting the content of the guidelines into concrete form:

- Labour market activities are proactive, dynamic and progressive.
- We can respond agilely and quickly to customers' needs and changes together at the federation level and in companies.
- We understand the importance of healthy and motivated employees for the success of companies.
- Together we improve the appeal of the chemical industry, particularly among the young.
- The industrial peace obligation is respected during agreement periods.
- All the measures aim to ensure the competitiveness of Finnish chemical industry companies in the world market.

#### Working hours experiment

The federations shall continue the fixed-term pilot started on 18 January 2022 until 31 December 2025. The project monitors workplace-specific working hours experiments involving new types of working hour arrangements that are mutually beneficial for the parties. Subject to local collective bargaining, these experiments enable deviations from the provisions of the Working

# Protocol of signature

hours chapter of the collective agreement, up to the duration of the collective agreement period. However, the parties must, in all cases, observe the mandatory provisions of the Working Hours Act (the definition of working hours, the definitions of additional and overtime work and consent, the average maximum of 48 working hours per week during a calendar year).

If local collective bargaining results in deviation of the provisions of the collective agreement, such an agreement must be submitted to the working hours working group of the federations for information. The federations will not intervene in the parties' freedom of agreement.

The employer representative and shop steward or, if no shop steward has been elected, the staff together may enter their workplace in the experiment at any time during the agreement period. Registering requires filling out the form at the address <a href="https://www.yhteistakemiaa.fi">www.yhteistakemiaa.fi</a>.

The working group of the federations provides the participating negotiating parties with initial training on the mandatory provisions concerning working hours.

On 31 October 2023, the working group will issue an interim report of the results of the experiment and a second report on 31 October 2025 and on the basis of these results, propose possible amendments to the collective agreement.

# Working hours working group

The working hours working group of the federations aims to monitor, promote and provide training in the implementation of flexible working hour practices and to develop working hours provisions in the manner specified in the Protocol of Signature on the working hours experiment, working hour bank and local collective bargaining. In addition, the survey concerning 10-hour days and other working hours practices will be repeated.

The entry concerning working hour banks is continued for the duration of the agreement period. The entry will remain in effect until 31 December 2025, after which the entry on working hour banks will be changed to the original form of the agreement period 5 February 2020–31 December 2021, unless otherwise agreed during collective agreement negotiations.

#### 5.2. Graduated working hours

The amended stipulation in the third point (graduated working hours) of section 12 of 'Working hours in daily, one- and two-shift work' is not intended to change the existing local agreements on graduated working hours.

The federations will implement a joint survey of the experiences of graduated working hours at the end of the agreement period.

# 5.3. Apprenticeship model for young people in chemical industry for laboratory technicians

The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and Trade Union Pro will appoint a working group in which are represented the negotiation parties of the pilot companies and the representatives of the federations and educational institutions. The working group will create a new on-the-job learning model in the industry for students in upper secondary vocational education and training by 31 May 2023. The new model aims to provide 16–20-year-olds with more opportunities for training and on-the-job learning in member companies of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland.

The working group will outline a new model for wage scales on the basis of the development of the student's demonstrations of skills (e.g. competence points), and particular attention will be paid to initial pay. The model will also include a training period designed for teachers. The purpose is to increase co-operation between educational institutions and companies. The working group will discuss the efficiency of the model with the companies, providers of education and teachers. Once completed, the model will be piloted in suitable educational institutions and companies.

Induction training of apprenticeship students will be discussed together in the workplaces that adopt the apprenticeship model for young people.

The model aims to increase the appeal of the industry among skilled young people, respond to the need for employees and respond to the need for competence associated with the carbon neutrality development in the industry.

# 5.4. Training on induction and job orientation in the chemical industry

The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland, Trade Union Pro and Industrial Union will cooperate to produce for workplaces an online-based training entity. The entity is for supervisors and instructors and covers the adequate induction and job orientation pursuant to section 14 of the Occupational Safety and Health Act. The training entity includes the preparation of an orientation plan, job orientation, and ensuring and assessing the competence of the person receiving the orientation.

The training is considered to be joint training organised by the federations.

In the planning and implementation of the training education, the parties will use experts of pedagogy and online education. The training entity will be planned by a working group established by the federations by March 2023 and implemented by May 2023.

Instead of the joint training provided by the federations, companies can utilise their own training entity or, for example, training provided by educational institutions.

#### 5.5. Attracting and retaining capacity of the chemical industry

Together, the federations will start an industry-wide programme to maintain the good condition of employees of all ages. The programme will be implemented by 31 December 2024. Its purpose is to improve the working capacity of employees of different ages and to lengthen careers.

#### Extensive report and sharing of information in the chemical industry

The federations will collect good practices and concrete examples of how workplaces promote the working capacity of employees of different ages. The operations models that the industry has deemed to be good will be surveyed through an extensive joint survey implemented by the federations.

The federations will also announce different kinds of rehabilitation programmes and programmes that promote well-being at work, such as KIILA and Liikkuva työelämä, in cooperation with expert organisations.

# Pilot project

To the programme will be sought volunteer pilot companies for whom will be created a platform where the companies can network and exchange ideas. For the programme will also be sought external funding that will be used to support the purpose of the programme and provide the pilot companies with expert help, if necessary. The programme will investigate the possibility

of promoting the employment of already retired persons by surveying obstacles and need for clarification in instructions and collective agreement entries.

#### **Utilisation of results**

The project will be monitored through factors such as changes in retirement age, amount of sick leave, amount of disability pensions, and whether the project has an impact on the labour shortage.

For the programme will be collected good practices and concrete examples of things such as how well people of different ages cope with work, job orientations and development of competence. Additionally, the programme will include investigating how flexible working hours, work arrangements, working hours planning, possible different incentives and the independent efforts salaried employees make to maintain their working capacity can be used to support the objectives. These good practices will be compiled so that workplaces can utilise them and they can be published on the website.

#### 5.6. Development of local collective bargaining

# Communication within the workplace

If local collective bargaining is carried out on the salary settlement pursuant to the collective agreement, the employer must give the salaried employees the opportunity to meet to discuss the content of the negotiations during working hours. Unless otherwise agreed locally, the employer determines the date, time and maximum duration of the meeting.

The shop steward and employer together can often promote local collective bargaining and its progress by discussing the ways in which they can together explain the ongoing negotiations and the final content of the agreement to the salaried employees.

#### **Sparring events**

The parties to the agreement will continue local collective bargaining sparring events targeted at the negotiating parties in companies. The objective is to reach all member companies of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and create a basis for workplace-level agreements.

# Joint training events

The parties to the agreement will arrange training for the negotiating parties in companies, focusing on the position and roles of the negotiating parties as well as the opportunities for local collective bargaining included in collective agreements, and highlighting good agreement practices applied by companies in the industry. The purpose of the event is to encourage the parties to try local collective bargaining.

#### Tool for working hours planning

In early 2023, the parties will introduce an easy-to-use tool to facilitate local collective bargaining, particularly regarding issues related to working hours.

#### Co-operation level survey

The parties to the agreement will continue to distribute information on the co-operation level survey in workplaces and provide the opportunity to discuss the results of the level surveys at the sparring events. The objective of the level survey is to identify the strengths of co-operation

as well as the areas that need development. The survey may be conducted on employer and staff representatives or a larger group. The themes of the co-operation level survey are the operating environment, trust, competence and well-being at work.

# The Tarinat ja narinat contest

The parties to the agreement will hold a contest for workplaces in the chemical industry, and the purpose of the contest is to collect useful examples about and issues with local bargaining. The contest is entered by describing

- useful examples of workplace negotiation culture related to local collective bargaining
- issues with the obstacles or hindrances caused by the collective agreement, culture or history in order to develop local collective bargaining

The contest is entered by the cooperating representative of the employer and shop steward. In addition, the examples will be used for the improvement of local collective bargaining in the industry. The best examples and issues will be awarded in autumn 2024 in cooperation with Industrial Union. The examples and issues may be posted on the federations' websites, for instance.

# Monitoring of the realisation of local collective bargaining in the chemical industry sectors concerned

The parties to the agreement will conduct a brief survey every six months to measure the level of local collective bargaining. The survey focuses on the progress of local collective bargaining negotiations to improve competitiveness, productivity and well-being at work, particularly in working hours-related questions. The federations engage in continuous negotiations to analyse possible defects and consider the measures required of the federations to rectify such defects.

# 5.7. Development of pay system training

The federations appoint a working group to revise pay system training and its materials by 30 June 2023, so that pay system working groups in companies are provided with multimode training tailored to the company's needs. Training may also be provided for a larger target group if necessary.

#### 5.8. Development of skills and competence in workplaces

Anticipation of the need for skills and competence ensures that the development of human resources is based on future needs and supports the implementation of the company strategy. Responding to continuous change requires anticipation and analysis of the future relevance or redundancy of current skills and competence as well as the need for completely new competence.

The federations emphasise the importance of the development of competence in the work community and, consequently, the competence of salaried employees, according to the future development needs. During change, skilled staff are forerunners, not adapters, and innovative, not passive. The type of competence and skills a company needs depends on factors such as the measures aiming for carbon neutrality, changes in services and production methods, technological development and the prolongation of careers. Development of skills and competence promotes versatility, availability for different tasks and, consequently, the prolongation of careers and salaried employees' employment prospects.

# Protocol of signature

During a performance appraisal or other similar discussion, it is recommended to discuss the salaried employee's individual competence development needs derived from the company's strategic goals. Competence and skills may be developed through in-house and external training. Competence development needs can be met by means such as work-related learning, participating in projects or working groups or voluntary vocational further education or in-service training or by completing a completely new educational degree.

Planning the remaining working years becomes important when the employee approaches the retirement age. Performance appraisals or other contexts should also cover the questions of retirement and when to retire, transferring the competence accumulated to younger employees, and any interest in participating in working after retirement.

During the agreement period, the federations will survey good practices of the development of competence in the workplace, training provided outside the workplace and the experienced effectiveness of training.

# 5.9. Promotion of well-being at work

Well-being at work includes the goals, purpose and content of work, leadership that recognises and aligns the varying needs, resources and strengths of the work community and individuals as well as management of skills within the working community to guide the business operations towards success. Salaried employees who are feeling well are also productive.

As part of promoting well-being at work, the parties to the collective agreement recommend that Well-being at Work Card training be arranged at workplaces. More information on the Well-being at Work Card training is available from the federations.

# Reducing the rate of illness

The development of sickness absence rates will be monitored, aiming for a reduction in sickness absences. Where necessary, ways of resolving the production-related problems caused by absences are investigated. Good practices, which have an effect on the reduction of absences due to illness, are collected. These may include, for example, substitute work, early care, absence due to illness authorised by the employer, and cooperation with the occupational health service provider.

# 5.10. Workplace plans

The federations recommend that the various plans prepared in workplaces be combined into a practical entity. The work community development plan pursuant to the new Act on Co-operation within Undertakings may include the occupational safety and health action programme, the equality plan and the non-discrimination plan. The joining of the plans into an efficient entity helps to get an overall view, reduces the administrative load, facilitates the updating of the plans and helps to focus the discussion on the different themes to respond to the everyday needs in the workplace.

### **Equality and non-discrimination**

The federations find it important to promote equality between genders and non-discrimination in workplaces.

According to section 6 of the Equality Act, in companies with at least 30 employees, the employer prepares an equality plan in co-operation with staff representatives and implements an

# Protocol of signature

associated pay survey. The plan is updated annually unless otherwise locally agreed. The pay survey related to the equality plan can be locally agreed to be conducted every three years, if an equality plan is prepared each year.

According to section 7 of the Non-Discrimination Act, an employer with a minimum of 30 employees on a regular basis must prepare a plan concerning measures to promote equality (an equality plan).

The plans for promoting equality and non-discrimination as well as their implementation increase the appeal of the organisation as an employer, the well-being of the staff, the development of their duties and working conditions and the improvement of their work performance.

If necessary, the parties will organise guidance and training.

### Work community development plan

According to the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings (334/2007), companies falling within the scope of the Act must prepare annual personnel and training plans in co-operation negotiations.

When the new Act on Co-operation within Undertakings enters into force, the personnel and training plan will become the work community development plan. Section 9 of the new Act on Co-operation within Undertakings includes provisions on the work community development plan.

#### 5.11. Meal allowance

The amount of the meal allowance (in training in accordance with the cooperation agreement):

In 2023, the meal allowance amount is EUR 28.25. The amount of the meal allowance for the next calendar year is always confirmed by the end of September in the preceding calendar year by adjusting the amount of the previous meal allowance with the change that took place in the cost of life index between July preceding the review period and July of the review period. The amount of meal allowance is confirmed annually in the training task force.

Example: The amount of meal allowance for 2024 is determined in September 2023 on the basis of the cost of life index change during the period July 2022–July 2023.

# 5.12. Promotion of employment

In addition to arrangements for re-employment leave prescribed in the Act on the Public Employment Service (1295/2002), a salaried employee who has been dismissed on the grounds referred to in section 3 of chapter 7 of the Employment Contracts Act shall be entitled to no more than five working days of re-employment leave for labour market-oriented education, traineeship and on-the-job training under an employment programme.

In the event of collective dismissals, the employer and shop steward shall seek to work with various agencies to assess the range of support services available for staff under threat of redundancy. These support services aim to improve the employment prospects of the salaried employee.

#### 5.13. Evaluation of the dangers and risks of work

The Occupational Safety and Health Act (738/2002) regulates the evaluation of the dangers and risks of work. According to the act, the employee must evaluate, while observing the nature of work and operations, and identify in a sufficiently systematic manner any dangers and risks caused by the work, the working hours, the premises, other working environment and work conditions and, if these cannot be removed, evaluate their significance in terms of the safety and health of the employees.

The federations note that working hours have been specifically added to the act in 2013 as one of the factors for which the employer must evaluate and assess the risks and dangers.

If necessary, occupational health expertise will be applied for eliminating dangers and risks.

### 6. Parallel agreements

The parties agree to use their influence to ensure that no parallel agreements are made within the scope of this agreement.

# 7. Reference regulations

Regulations that refer exclusively to sections of the Working Hours Act do not form part of the collective agreement. The section references to the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings are only informative.

# 8. End of the agreement period

The collective agreement will remain in effect from 7 February 2023 to 31 December 2024, and thereafter for one year at a time, unless either federation terminates it in writing no later than two months before the agreement expires.

The regulations of the collective agreement will remain in effect pending negotiations for a new collective agreement, until the new agreement is concluded or the negotiations have ended.

#### 9. The review of the Protocol

The signatures of the agreeing federations certify that this Protocol has been examined and approved. This protocol has been drawn up in two identical copies, one for each Party.

Helsinki, 16 February 2023

THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND

Minna Etu-Seppälä Miira Kaukolinna Jaana Neuvonen

Sampo Pehkonen Juha Teerimäki

TRADE UNION PRO

Anssi Vuorio Taru Reinikainen Piia Säkkinen

#### **PAY SYSTEM**

#### **DETERMINATION OF SALARIES**

The salary of a salaried employee shall be based on the job requirement category of the employee's duties and on personal competence. A separate seniority bonus shall be payable based on the length of continuous employment.

# 1 Job requirement

Assessment of job requirement

The system for evaluating the job requirement used for determining the job-specific salary elements of salaried employees is published on a special form available from the federations. This form is used for measuring the job requirement factors that are characteristic of salaried employee duties and for linking them to the job requirement and salary. The aim is to assess the content of duties, and not the employees who perform those duties.

Four factors are used in evaluating job requirement:

1. Knowledge and skills required for the job

The knowledge and skills required for the task are used to evaluate the job requirement arising from the exercise of independent judgement in the job. The scope and depth of information required in situations involving judgement depends not only on education, but also on the experience demanded by such situations. Factors increasing the job requirement:

- the frequency of situations involving judgement
- the diversity of these situations
- the brevity of time for deliberation
- the scope and depth of knowledge required for making decisions
- the degree of official regulations and systems governing the work
- the degree of detail of instructions and the cursory and slow nature of feedback.

Knov	Knowledge and skills required for the job			
T1	Work is carried out according to unambiguous instructions. Clear options are available for any choices to be made. The necessary competence is usually achieved through instruction in the workplace.			
T2	Application of instructions and methods of operation in similar situations. The required competence is usually achieved through formal training for the job.			
Т3	Application of changing and diverse instructions in new situations. The required competence is usually achieved through training and/or some experience.			
T4	Judgment and development, creative application of instructions and norms. Expertise and understanding of several functions. The required diverse competence is usually achieved through training and/or experience.			
T5	Development, planning and new independent solutions. The solutions require that information be obtained and analysed. The application requires extensive background information and independent acquisition and application of information. The necessary diverse competence is usually achieved through formal training and/or experience supplemented with additional information.			
Т6	Goal-oriented development based on extensive knowledge. The task involves strong development and expertise and the creation of new solutions. The required varied and in-depth special knowledge and skills are usually achieved through formal training and/or long-term diverse experience.			

# 2. Impact of decision-making and solutions

The impact of decisions gauges their importance and scope. The advice, recommendations, etc., based on the use of expertise that is characteristic of specialist duties shall be equated with decisions. Factors increasing the job requirement:

- greater financial impact
- broader impact on production and quality,
- greater importance for people, the environment, occupational health and safety, and the general safety.

Impacts shall be examined as a whole and the combined impacts shall be assessed from the perspective of the workplace. The examination shall focus not only on the organisational level affected by decisions and solutions, but also on the combined impact of various impact factors.

Other kinds of assessment of the magnitude and scope of the impacts are also required apart from the organisational level.

Impact of decision-making/decisions			
P1	The decisions and solutions mainly affect one's own work or the work of a small		
	team.		
P2	The decisions and solutions mainly affect the results of a sub-area of a function.		
P3	The decisions and solutions clearly affect the results of operations as a whole.		
P4	The decisions and solutions affect the results of several functions in the functional		
	area.		
P5	The decisions and solutions have major significance for the fulfilment of the objec-		
	tives of the entire functional area.		

#### 3. Level of requirement for interaction

The interaction factor gauges the level of requirement for interaction with the staff of the company and outsiders. Interaction is typical of communication in management, planning, marketing, human resources administration, trade and other communications associated with corporate image. Factors increasing the requirement for interaction:

- the extent of the duty to provide advice, guidance or training,
- the depth and scope of the requirement to motivate,
- the extent and complexity of interaction and the communications network (internal and external customers, other organisations, public authorities, subcontractors, mass media and other corresponding stakeholders), and
- the bigger changes effected in the operations/behaviour/decision-making, and the extent of expertise demanded in these communications.

The importance of various interaction factors is highlighted in management duties, and the requirement of these factors depends on the nature of supervisory position.

Independent responsibility for a field of work may increase the requirement of interaction in a manner comparable to supervisory duties.

# Pay system

Level	of requirement for interaction
V1	Mostly interaction in the close work circle. In general, receiving, conveying and
	sharing information.
V2	Expert-level connections related to one's own work with internal and/or external
	stakeholders.
V3	Goal-oriented expert-level relationships requiring influencing, negotiation or cooper-
	ation skills.
V4	Contacts affecting the operations conducted on one's own initiative. The contacts
	require
	special professional expertise and/or demanding co-operation skills.
V5	Actively influencing decision-makers. The contacts require a good overall
	knowledge of the company and/or ability to convert the information into a format
	suitable for the target group.

# 4. Managerial responsibility and position

Managing various project-type duties in which expertise is applied to supervise various working groups shall also be equated to supervisory positions.

Resource responsibilities may be related to, for example, the finances, staff, investments or schedules.

Independent responsibility may increase the requirement for interaction in a manner comparable to supervisory duties.

The importance of various interaction factors is highlighted in management duties, and the importance of these factors depends on the nature of supervisory duties.

Managerial responsibility and status			
A1	Own task		
A2	Guiding or instructing task or independent field of tasks.		
А3	Supervisory or expert tasks with responsibility for organisation and resources (e.g.		
	in projects) or an extensive independent task area.		
A4	A supervisory task with a large number of subordinates at several organisational		
	levels or supervisory task with responsibility for organisation and resources (e.g. in		
	major projects) or similar extensive and varied independent expert task.		

# Pay system

Knowledge and skills required for the	Impact of decision-making/decisions				
task (T)	P1	P2	P3	P 4	P5
T1	165 170	175 185			
T2	180 185	190 200	205 215		
Т3		210 220	225 235	240 250	
T4		230 240	245 255	260 275	280 295
Т5		250 260	265 280	285 300	305 320
T6				310	335

NUMERICAL VALUES: Each grid of the table contains two numerical values that indicate the score range used by the company. The lowest value meets the specifications. Higher intermediate values can be used, for example when the task includes a temporally significant portion of tasks more demanding than the category or the work characteristics repeatedly include making risky decisions and solutions due to time pressure.

Description and feeding action (A)	Managerial responsibility and status (A)				
Requirement for interaction (V)	<b>A</b> 1	A2	A3	A4	
V1	100	110			
V2	120	130	140		
V3	135	145	155	165	
V4	155	165	175	185	
V5	180	190	200	210	

Verification pro	Verification procedure			
If the level of information and experience required in the position essentially exceeds the ordinary, the sum score of the requirement evaluation is increased by <b>50</b> points in the following cases:				
Sum score If the company simultaneously requires				
under 300	under 300 at least 3 years of training for a salaried employee's duties and more than two years of experience			
at least 3 years of training for a salaried employee's duties and more than five years of experience as a salaried employee				
under 400	at least 4 years of training required for a salaried employee's competence and more than five years of experience as a salaried employee			

The basis for gauging the requirement shall be a description of the job and the duties it involves, the content of which forms the basis for finding a requirement level and a point score corresponding to the level in accordance with the aforementioned instruments. The requirement score of a job shall depend on the sum score from each of the instruments, leading to one of the eight job requirement categories as follows:

TVL sc	ore		Job requirement category (TVL)
	-	284	1
285	-	314	2
315	-	344	3
345	-	384	4
385	-	424	5
425	-	464	6
465	-	504	7
505	-		8

Intermediate categories falling between categories 1–8 may be adopted by local agreement.

# 2 Individual competence

The personal salary element of a salaried employee shall be determined according to the employee's competence and job performance. These factors shall be systematically evaluated by supervisors in the workplace. The federations have prepared evaluation formats for companies to select or adapt according to the circumstances in the workplace. A company may also use other systems of evaluation. The federations note that the criteria for measuring personal qualities should support the operating methods and objectives of the company, and that the commitment of salaried employees is best achieved when competence is evaluated through cooperation and when the grounds for competence and performance are explained in advance to salaried employees and their representatives.

Evaluating competence and job performance is a natural part of discussions between supervisors and subordinates. Such appraisals will promote the growth of salaried employees' vocational competence, for example through individual education and development plans.

Following the first evaluation of competence held within six months of starting employment, the personal salary element shall be not less than four per cent of the salary for the job requirement of the duties concerned.

The sum of the salary elements determined according to personal competence for salaried employees in each company shall be no less than seven per cent of the sum of the salary elements based on the job requirement for the duties of all salaried employees falling within the scope of the salary system. This review shall disregard the personal salary components of salaried employees insofar as these exceed 25 per cent. Implementation of the foregoing shall be verified annually after implementing the salary increases stipulated in the collective agreement.

Satisfaction relating to salary and the pay system can be promoted by increasing knowledge relating to the basic salary and the performance. Performance appraisals are a natural event to discuss how the company applies the pay system and how the salaried employee should develop their competence or performance to guide the salary development. Especially, receiving feedback and understanding the effect of one's own performance on the salary, improve salary satisfaction but also commitment to the organisation and development positive atmosphere.

Salaried employees shall be entitled to know the job requirement category of their duties, together with the personal salary element and how this is determined.

#### 3 Seniority bonus

A salaried employee shall be paid graded seniority bonus based on the duration of employment.

#### SUBSTITUTION

If duties involve substituting for another employee due to the arrangement of duties or in situations such as illness or holiday, and if this has a material impact on the job requirement, said duties shall be considered to increase the job requirement category. The regulations of the collective agreement on extra duties allowance shall apply in other respects.

#### MAINTENANCE OF THE PAY SYSTEM

Systematic measures to evaluate job descriptions, job requirements and individual competence and to ensure their continuity are a basic requirement for maintaining the job requirement evaluation system.

# Job requirement

The job requirement for the duties assigned to a new salaried employee shall be determined as soon as possible, however no later than three months after the employment begins. Unless otherwise agreed, for example because the job content has not yet been fully specified, the salary as of the start of employment shall be determined on the basis of the aforementioned categorisation.

The associated job requirement shall be reassessed as soon as possible when the content of an existing job changes permanently. When the requirement category of a position changes, any resulting salary increases shall be implemented as of the beginning of the pay period following the change.

On transfer of a salaried employee to another function, a categorisation conforming to the new job shall be applied as of the beginning of the following pay period. If changing employees affects the content of a new job, then the possible impact of the change on the job requirement category shall be verified at the earliest opportunity. Any salary increase that may result from the change in category shall be implemented as of the beginning of the salary payment period following the time of transfer.

The position's requirement category shall be reviewed at regular intervals, once per year at a minimum. If a categorisation working group has been established for a workplace, then the results of the review shall be presented to said working group, which may offer a reasoned opinion of the categorisation, the effectiveness of the system, and any problems that may have arisen. If no categorisation working group has been established for the workplace, then the salaried employee representative(s) shall be given an opportunity to offer a reasoned opinion of the categorisation, the effectiveness of the system, and any problems that may have arisen. Said working group may comprise no fewer than one representative of the employer and one representative of the salaried employees, but a more extensive format may be agreed within the scope referred to in the inter-federation co-operation agreement.

#### Individual competence

Personal factors shall be assessed at least once a year, unless otherwise locally agreed. The federations recommend that the job descriptions underlying the job requirement evaluation should be revised when assessing the individual competence of each salaried employee. The competence of a new employee should be assessed within six months of the beginning of employment. The salary paid until this time should equal the salary based on the job requirement category, at a minimum.

If a salaried employee transfers to new duties, or if the content of the employee's duties changes essentially and alters their job requirement category, the relationship between the personal salary element and the competence-based salary element and their relationship to the category salary may change, as competence and job performance factors are assessed with respect to the employee's function at the time. Any tendency of the job requirement to increase the personal salary of a salaried employee shall be investigated when the employee

# Pay system

transfers to more demanding duties. In exceptional cases, the salary may also remain unchanged.

Guidelines and resolution of disputes

The federations shall provide instructions and guidance in applying the salary system and shall issue reasoned opinions on request. Cases of disagreement shall be governed by the negotiation procedure of the collective agreement for salaried employees in the Finnish chemical industry.

#### **COMPANY-SPECIFIC SYSTEMS**

Use of another pay system may also be locally agreed. This may apply especially in situations in which another system governs another staff group or groups in the company. The federations shall be advised of any such local agreement.

#### CO-OPERATION AGREEMENT FOR THE FINNISH CHEMICAL INDUSTRY

#### 1. GENERAL REGULATIONS

The federations shall each seek to promote industrial relations and collective bargaining between themselves and at workplaces. They shall seek to improve these objectives through various forms of co-operation and assist in supervising compliance with any agreements concluded.

The fundamental right of citizens to freedom of association shall be inviolable. This shall apply to both employers and salaried employees. Salaried employees shall be entitled to establish and serve in trade union organisations and may suffer neither dismissal nor discrimination at work on account of this. The health and safety, freedom from discrimination and equal treatment of individual salaried employees shall be a basic principle of the stipulations.

The national conciliator and the federations of employers and salaried employees concerned shall be notified, where possible, no later than four days before any political or sympathetic industrial action is taken. Any subsequent decision on industrial action shall be announced at the earliest practical opportunity. The notice shall specify the causes of the intended industrial action, the time when it begins and the scope of the action.

This agreement shall be applicable in the member companies of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT, subject to the following restrictions. The workplaces referred to in this agreement shall mean the production units or corresponding operating units of the member companies of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT.

The co-operation organisation shall be brought into line with the changed size and structure of a workplace when the operations of the workplace substantially contract or expand, or due to an assignment of business, merger, incorporation or comparable substantial reorganisation.

The salaried employee association operating at a workplace must notify the employer in writing of any shop stewards who are elected, of times at which a deputy is serving as a shop steward, of the service of an occupational safety and health representative or a worker nominated to represent a certain work unit or occupation in safety matters in the capacity of a shop steward and of the service of a shop steward in occupational safety and health assignments. If the shop steward is prevented from taking care of their tasks at least for one month (does not apply to annual leaves), and the absence continues and no announcement of a deputy has been made to the employer before that, then their deputy will act as the deputy to the shop steward. The occupational safety and health representative will notify the employer in writing when a deputy stands in for the occupational safety and health representative. The employer will notify the shop steward in writing of the persons who will negotiate with the shop steward on behalf of the company.

The parties agree that the employer enjoys the right, pursuant to labour legislation and agreements, to hire and dismiss salaried employees and to determine the management of work.

Except where otherwise agreed herein, the Finnish Act on Co-operation Within Undertakings, the Act on Occupational Safety and Health Enforcement and Co-operation on Occupational Safety and Health at Workplaces, and the Decree on the Supervision of Occupational Safety and Health shall be observed, and shall form no part of this agreement.

#### 2. CO-OPERATION DUTIES AND CO-OPERATION ORGANISATIONS

# 2.1 Regulations on shop stewards

The purpose of the shop steward system is to maintain and develop the bargaining and cooperation channels between the employer and salaried employees. Shop stewards represent their associations and salaried employees in matters concerning the application of collective agreements, ensuring industrial peace and complying with labour legislation.

The salaried employees at the workplace in question who belong to organisations bound by this agreement shall be entitled to elect a representative and deputy representative from among themselves. The election may be organised at the workplace. All of the aforementioned salaried employees shall then be given an opportunity to participate in the election. The workplace may agree that an occupational safety delegate performs the duties of a shop steward or vice versa. If so specifically required in performing the duties of a shop steward, instead of electing a single representative, the salaried employees shall be entitled to elect one of their number to serve as a representative familiar with the financial and administrative duties, and one to serve as a representative familiar with the production duties of the company, together with deputies for these representatives. The salaried employees shall nevertheless enjoy no such right if they have already elected a joint representative when this agreement takes effect, or if the salaried employees belong to the same organisation of salaried employees, or when federations representing technical and industrial salaried employees have merged.

In addition to the shop steward, a deputy shop steward can participate in negotiations with the employer concerning an entire personnel group or a significant part of the personnel group, if several employer representatives participate in the negotiations. A sufficient job release shall be granted to the deputy shop steward so that they can participate in the negotiations and an opportunity for exchanging information before the negotiations shall be provided. The shop steward should provide the deputy shop steward with the information related to said negotiations.

In addition to electing the shop steward(s), the salaried employees may elect a departmental representative after agreeing with the employer on the functional entity for which said departmental representative will be elected. In that case, it should be ensured that the scope of work is appropriate and sufficiently extensive to promote the processing of issues in accordance with the bargaining system. The assessment shall also take into consideration the number of salaried employees in the department concerned and other factors. If no agreement is reached in the matter, then it shall be submitted to the federations for settlement. It may be agreed at the workplace that a departmental representative shall serve as a labour protection ombudsman or vice-versa.

# 2.2 Regulations on labour protection co-operation

Labour protection co-operation regulations shall apply at workplaces where a total of 20 employees and salaried employees, at a minimum, work regularly. However, an occupational safety delegate must be elected when the total number of employees and salaried employees is ten, at a minimum.

In addition to the head of labour protection responsible for labour protection co-operation and the delegates and deputy delegates elected for said purpose, the staff groups referred to in this agreement shall be entitled to elect one or more labour protection ombudsmen, when so agreed locally and when warranted by the size of and other circumstances of the company.

The functions of labour protection ombudsmen shall include liaising with the occupational safety delegate and the occupational safety manager with respect to occupational safety and health affairs falling within their operating area and participating, as necessary, in labour protection inspections. The term of office of a labour protection ombudsman shall be the same as that of an occupational safety delegate. If a labour protection ombudsman is temporarily transferred to duties outside their scope of duties, efforts shall be made to ensure that said transfer imposes no unreasonable impediment to performing the duties of labour protection ombudsman. To the extent required by the duties of a labour protection ombudsman, the ombudsman shall be entitled to agree with the employer on job release for the purpose of performing those duties.

The parties to this agreement shall participate, together with occupational health care staff, line management and HR, in planning, implementing and monitoring measures to maintain working capacity. This will involve monitoring how company staff cope at work and preparing instructions, where necessary, on referring any individuals who are in need of measures to maintain working capacity to the care of specialists.

The occupational safety manager and occupational safety delegate shall participate in planning measures to maintain working capacity when the occupational health care action programme is being prepared. They shall also take part in implementing and monitoring the plans.

# 3. REGULATIONS ON THE STATUS OF SHOP STEWARDS, OCCUPATIONAL SAFETY DELEGATES AND THE LABOUR PROTECTION OMBUDSMAN

#### 3.1 Job release and compensation for lost earnings

Temporary, regularly repeated or complete release from work shall be arranged for a shop steward, a departmental representative, a representative elected for an agreed functional entity and an occupational safety delegate for the purpose of performing their duties. In that case, attention should be paid to such factors as the number of salaried employees in the staff group concerned, the nature of production and operations, and the volume of duties required under this agreement. Attention shall also be paid to the degree of local collective bargaining at the workplace under this agreement when determining the job release time, with job release increased by the time needed for preparing for negotiations, providing information and implementing agreements.

When a shop steward represents several workplaces, the shop steward and the employer shall agree on the option of workplace visits without loss of earnings.

The employer shall cover the travel costs related to workplace visits in accordance with item 3, section 25 of the collective agreement.

When agreeing on the matter, attention must be paid to the following matters:

- When the visit can be remote and then there is reason to physically visit the place. In unusual circumstances (e.g. change negotiations), the need for workplace visits may be greater.
- When negotiating on the matter, the technical tools which the employer provides the shop steward must be taken into account.
- Effort must be made to organise the workplace visits so that they hinder the performing
  of the shop steward's own duties as little as possible.

The time spent by the aforementioned staff representatives shall be reviewed with them, and the time required for the duties and its impact on work and any need for arranging substitutes shall be jointly investigated. This review shall take place at the start of the term of office.

If no local agreement has been concluded for job release of an occupational safety delegate representing all staff groups at the workplace, the time spent by the occupational safety delegate shall be calculated in accordance with the industry-specific coefficients in force as of 1 April 1986. An occupational safety delegate who only represents salaried employees shall be entitled to job release that is adequate for the proper performance of the functions of a delegate at times that are suitable in terms of work. The extent of and arrangements for job release shall be investigated and agreed locally.

The monthly salary of a staff representative referred to in this agreement shall not be reduced if the representative negotiates with employer representatives or performs other duties agreed with the employer during working hours.

If the deputy to the shop steward handles the shop steward tasks for at least two weeks, a monthly compensation will be paid for that period of time.

The employer shall pay the following separate monthly compensation to a shop steward and an occupational safety delegate:

The remuneration payable to the shop steward (not the departmental representative) as of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 April 2020** or the closest subsequent pay period shall be as follows:

The number of salaried employees represented by the shop steward	Compensation EUR/month
5–9	85
10–24	128
25–50	173
51–100	238
101–200	289
201–400	334
401–600	373
More than 600	438

The remuneration payable to the shop steward (not the departmental representative) as of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 January 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period shall be as follows:

The number of salaried employees represented by the shop steward	Compensation EUR/month
5–9	89
10–24	134
25–50	182
51–100	250
101–200	303
201–400	351
401–600	392
More than 600	460

In the calculation of the number of salaried employees, all persons employed in the position of a salaried employee at the workplace are included, also those who are not members of Trade Union Pro.

As of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 April 2020** or the closest subsequent pay period the occupational safety delegate's compensation shall be as follows:

Number of persons represented number of salaried employees	Compensa- tion EUR/month
5–24	71
25–100	92
101–250	119
251–400	146
More than 400	171

As of the beginning of the pay period starting on **1 January 2024** or the closest subsequent pay period the occupational safety delegate's compensation shall be as follows:

Number of persons represented	Compensa-		
number of salaried employees	tion		
	<b>EUR/month</b>		
5–24	75		
25–100	97		
101–250	125		
251–400	153		
More than 400	180		

If the occupational safety delegate also represents senior salaried employees, they shall be included in the number of salaried employees represented by the occupational safety delegate.

The compensations for the shop steward and the occupational safety delegate shall also be paid for the period of leave upon the payment of the annual leave pay. In cases in which a period of time has been agreed and announced to the employer, during which a deputy takes care of the duties, the compensation shall be paid to the deputy. Such periods include, for example, annual leave or other long-term substitutions.

If there are fewer than five salaried employees at the workplace and the shop steward or occupational safety delegate performs duties agreed with the employer outside of their regular working hours, overtime bonus or additional compensation agreed with the shop steward and occupational safety delegate shall be paid for the time lost.

#### 3.2 Status of shop stewards and occupational safety delegates

When necessary, the employer shall arrange an appropriate place for the shop steward and occupational safety delegate to keep the materials that are required for performing their duties. The employer shall, where possible, designate appropriate premises where discussions necessary for performing these duties may be conducted. Where the size of the workplace so requires, it shall be agreed locally that the shop steward may, as necessary, use the office and similar equipment that is customarily used at the company. As a joint interpretation, the federations state that the computer hardware and associated software programs that are generally

used in the company shall also fall within the range of customary office equipment. and internet access (e-mail). The assessment may consider such factors as the size of the company, the extent of the duties of the shop steward or occupational safety delegate and the need arising from these duties, and the amount of time used. The practical arrangements shall be agreed locally.

Salaried employees serving as shop stewards, departmental representatives or occupational safety delegates may not, while performing said duties or on account thereof, be transferred to work with salary lower than they enjoyed at the time of their election to said positions. If the work of a person elected to serve as an occupational safety delegate representing all staff groups impedes the performance of the duties of an occupational safety delegate, other work shall be arranged for said employee, considering the conditions in the workplace and the professional skills of the occupational safety delegate. Arrangements of this kind may cause no reduction in the earnings of the person concerned. The duties of a shop steward and occupational safety delegate shall continue as such, despite the assignment of business, if the assigned business or part thereof retains its independence. If the business or a part thereof loses its independence, the shop steward and occupational safety delegate shall be entitled to the subsequent protection referred to in paragraph 3.3 as of the end of the term of office resulting from the assignment of business.

The salary development of a shop steward and occupational safety delegate shall correspond to the salary development occurring within the company.

This shall be reviewed annually and any salary increases that are thereby warranted shall be implemented annually.

At the end of the term of office of a shop steward or occupational safety delegate who has been entirely or mainly released from work, the employer and said employee shall jointly determine whether maintenance of the employee's professional skills requires vocational training in said employee's former duties or in corresponding duties. The employer shall arrange any training that is required by said determination.

When arranging vocational training, the employer shall give the shop steward and occupational safety delegate an opportunity to participate in vocational training during their terms of office in the same way as other staff.

#### Minuted note 1:

In case of assignment of business operations, the position of the shop steward is determined according to their actual job position.

#### Minuted note 2:

Application instructions concerning the salary development of the shop steward and the occupational safety delegate are appended to this collective agreement (Appendix 2).

### 3.3 Security of employment

If the workforce of the company is dismissed or laid off for financial or production reasons, such measures may not affect a shop steward or occupational safety delegate unless the operations of the production unit are entirely discontinued with respect to the staff group concerned. An exception may be made to this provision if it is jointly verified with the shop steward

or occupational safety delegate that it is not possible to provide them with work that corresponds to their vocation or is otherwise suitable.

Section 10, subsection 2 of chapter 7 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act provides that the employment contract of a departmental representative may be terminated only when the work ends entirely and no other work can be arranged that corresponds to their professional skills.

A shop steward, departmental representative or occupational safety delegate may not be dismissed for reasons that are attributable to said person without the consent of a majority of the salaried employees represented by said person, as required by section 10, subsection 1 of chapter 7 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

The employment contract of a shop steward, departmental representative or labour protection delegate may not be annulled in violation of the provisions of section 1 of chapter 8 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act. Cancelling the employment contract shall not be possible on the grounds that the person concerned has infringed administrative rules unless said person has at the same time repeatedly and significantly, and regardless of warning issued, failed to perform their working duties.

These regulations on security of employment shall also be applied to a candidate for the position of shop steward at the workplace whose candidacy has been announced to the employer of in writing, and to a candidate for the position of occupational safety delegate whose candidacy has been announced in writing to the labour protection committee or to another corresponding body of co-operation. Protection of candidates shall nevertheless begin no sooner than three months before the start of the term of office of the shop steward or occupational safety delegate to be elected, and shall expire for a candidate who is not elected when the outcome of the election has been verified.

The regulations on employment security must also be applied to a salaried employee who has served as a shop steward or occupational safety delegate for a period of six months after said employee's duties in that capacity ended.

If the employment contract of a shop steward, departmental representative or occupational safety delegate is terminated in a manner contrary to this agreement, the employer must pay compensation of no less than ten and no more than 30 months' salary to said employee. In the case of an occupational safety delegate, however, the aforementioned compensation shall be no less than four months' and no more than 24 months' salary when the total number of employees and salaried employees working regularly at a production plant or corresponding operating unit is less than 20. Said compensation shall be determined according to the same principles as prescribed in section 2, subsection 1 of chapter 12 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

Disputes concerning the termination of the employment contract of a shop steward or occupational safety delegate shall be reported, without undue delay, to the employer's federation, which shall inform the salaried employee's federation of the matter.

The federations shall, without undue delay, investigate the underlying factors relating to the termination of employment with the assistance of the relevant parties.

Within one week of concluding this investigation, the federations must discuss the disputes concerning the termination of the employment contract of a shop steward and an occupational

safety delegate in inter-federation negotiations and offer their view on the matter. The employer shall be advised of the view of the federations.

#### 3.4 Deputies

The provisions of this chapter apply to a deputy chief shop steward and to a deputy occupational safety and health representative for the period during which said deputy is serving as a deputy in accordance with this agreement.

If the employer terminates the employment contract of the deputy chief shop steward or lays off said employee at a time when the latter is not working as a deputy to the shop steward or does not otherwise enjoy the status of a shop steward, then said dismissal or layoff shall be deemed to be due to the employee's shop steward duties, unless the employer can prove that it was due to some other reason.

#### 4. CO-OPERATION

A co-operation body may be set up by local agreement to consider various aspects of development activities and other matters. This co-operation body may replace separate co-operation and industrial safety committees, and other corresponding committees. A single co-operation organ may also be responsible for actions and plans of locally applicable scope pursuant to the Finnish Act on Co-operation in Undertakings, the Act on Occupational Safety and Health Enforcement and Co-operation on Occupational Safety and Health at Workplaces, the Occupational Health Care Act, and the Act on Equality between Women and Men.

#### 5. TRAINING

#### 5.1 Vocational training

When the employer provides vocational training for salaried employees or sends them to training events pertaining to their occupations, the direct expenses arising from the training shall be paid and there shall be no reduction in salary of the salaried employees concerned unless otherwise agreed. If the training occurs entirely outside of working hours, then compensation shall be paid for the direct costs of the training. Direct expenses refer to course fees, fees arising from course material, travelling and subsistence expenses and extraordinary expenses incurred, for example, in extraordinary child care arrangements. No compensation shall be payable for time spent outside of working hours in training or for associated travelling, and reimbursement of travelling expenses shall be determined according to the collective agreement.

Compensation for the aforementioned expenses shall be agreed in advance, when possible.

Compensation for time spent in voluntary vocational training that is associated with the working duties of a salaried employee and implemented during the employee's time off shall be agreed with the salaried employee when the arrangements for such training are being planned.

#### Minuted note 1:

Application instructions concerning the inclusion of vocational training in working hours are appended to this collective agreement.

#### 5.2 Joint training

Training to promote co-operation in the workplace shall be arranged jointly by the social partners or by the employer and salaried employees collectively at the workplace or elsewhere.

The basic labour protection co-operation courses and the special courses are necessary for labour protection co-operation shall be included in the joint training referred to herein.

The regulations on joint training shall also apply to training in participation systems and local bargaining. Participation in training may also be agreed between the employer and the person concerned.

Compensation shall be paid to participants in training as specified in item 5.1. Training attendance shall be agreed locally by the appropriate co-operation body or between the employer and a shop steward, depending on the nature of the training.

#### 5.3 Trade union training

# 5.3.1 Retention of employment and notification periods

Salaried employees shall be given the opportunity to attend courses arranged by the salaried employee confederation STTK and its affiliates lasting for no longer than one month unless this substantially inconveniences production or company operations. Attention shall be paid to the size of the workplace when assessing said inconvenience. The intention to attend a course shall be notified at the earliest opportunity. In the event that permission is denied, the shop steward shall be notified, no later than 10 days before the start of the course, of the reason why granting job release would cause substantial inconvenience. It would be desirable in such cases to investigate jointly the prospects for attending the course at some other time when there would be no impediment to doing so.

It shall be determined in advance whether the training event in question is one for which the employer compensates the employee under this agreement.

In accordance with the aforementioned collective agreement section, the staff representatives referred to in paragraph 5.3.2 shall be given an opportunity to participate in any training referred to in this agreement that contributes to improving their capacity to perform duties under this agreement.

#### 5.3.2 Compensation

With respect to the training required for their duties on courses arranged at educational institutes of STTK or of a member union thereof, or for special reasons arranged elsewhere, and which the inter-confederation training working group has approved, the employer shall pay the monthly salary to a shop steward, departmental representative, deputy shop steward, occupational safety delegate, their deputy, member of an industrial safety committee and labour protection ombudsman for a period of no longer than one month in the case of a shop steward and departmental representative, and for a period not exceeding two weeks in the case of persons serving in said elected labour protection capacities.

A shop steward and a departmental representative shall receive corresponding compensation for one month of lost earnings when participating in a three-month course arranged at STTK educational institutes. The same arrangements shall apply for the chairperson of a member

association, provided that said person works in a company employing no fewer than 100 salaried employees covered by this agreement and leads a member association with no fewer than 50 members.

The meal allowance agreed between the confederations shall also be paid to the salaried employees referred to in item 5.3.2 on each day of the course for which no deduction of monthly salary is made, in order to compensate for meal expenses incurred to the course organiser.

The employer shall be required to pay the compensation referred to in this paragraph only once to the same person for the same training event or for a training event of comparable content.

Participation in the training referred to in item 5.3 for no longer than one month shall cause no loss of annual holiday, pension or other comparable benefits.

The shop steward or the occupational safety delegate shall have the right to participate in joint training organised by the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and Trade Union Pro without loss of earnings in the same manner as in participation in trade union training.

#### 6. PROVISION OF INFORMATION

- 1. Twice a year, statement of the financial position of the company which include the status of production, services or other activities, employment, prospects for the development of the profitability and cost structure in accordance of the Cooperation Act with chapter 2, section 11, paragraph 1, subsection 3.
- 2. Twice a year information on the number of employees by business unit or otherwise specified, including the number of part-time or fixed terms employees in accordance with chapter 2, section 11, paragraph 1, subsections 1 and 2 of the Cooperation Act.
- 3. Unless otherwise agreed, the employer's annual financial statements and annual report, if the employer has an obligation to draw up such with in accordance of the Cooperation Act chapter 2, section 11, paragraph 2, subsection 3.

The company must give changes to the above points1 and 2 without delay.

The company must do a work community development plan in accordance with the Co-operation Act chapter 2, section 9. Development plan must contain the current state and predictability facts that may affect staff skills needs or well-being at work.

A staff group referred to in this agreement shall be entitled to arrange, at the workplace or in some other agreed venue, meetings to discuss labour market issues or matters that concern employment at the workplace or that pertain to the Finnish Act on Co-operation in Undertakings. Staff groups shall also be entitled to distribute meeting notifications and communications concerning employment at the workplace or labour market matters to their members.

In addition to labour market issues, staff groups are also entitled to communicate on general issues using the workplace notice board or agreeing locally through other ordinary information channel.

In the event of disputes falling within the scope of duties of a shop steward or departmental shop steward, pursuant to this agreement, said representative shall be furnished with all of the information that is necessary to investigate the case under dispute. Once a year, the shop

steward shall be entitled to receive information on the surname and forenames, the date of entry into service and the departments or corresponding organisational units of the salaried employees within the scope of duties of said representative. The shop steward shall be advised of new salaried employees on request.

The average monthly salaries of salaried employees and the average income by income instalment, sorted by job requirement category and gender, shall be provided to a shop steward in writing once a year, immediately following the completion of the statistics on salaried employees according to the agreement on co-operation on statistics, in the form of a workplace-specific statistical salary data. The shop steward shall not be entitled to receive average income information on groups of salaried employees of fewer than three people.

The shop steward shall be given an opportunity to familiarise themselves with the current salary determination and payroll accounting systems that fall within said representative's scope of duties in the company. With respect to salaried employees falling within the scope, the shop steward shall also be entitled to examine the list of emergency and overtime work and of the resulting salary increases prepared under the Working Hours Act.

The shop steward shall be notified of any change in the duties of a salaried employee falling under the scope of this collective agreement that results in a change of staff group.

#### Minuted note:

The federations shall emphasise correct and consistent interpretation of the scope of application regulation with respect to current and new salaried employees. Any dispute over the scope of the agreement in the workplace shall be processed by means of an expedited negotiation procedure between the federations.

The parties may hear representatives of senior salaried employees if necessary. An external expert body may also be consulted at the request of either of the parties in order to reach a solution.

Helsinki, 22 January 2002

CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND
UNION OF SALARIED EMPLOYEES TU

#### AGREEMENT ON PROTECTION AGAINST DISMISSAL

#### I GENERAL PROVISIONS

# Section 1 General scope

This agreement shall govern situations in which a regular employment contract is terminated for reasons attributable to the individual salaried employee and in which a salaried employee resigns, and the procedures applied when cancelling or terminating an employment contract, placing salaried employees on part-time employment or laying off salaried employees for reasons of finance or production, or on account of the bankruptcy or death of the employer.

The agreement shall not apply to the employment relationships referred to in the Finnish Seamen's Act (no. 423 of 1978) or the Finnish Act on Vocational Education (no. 630 of 1998).

#### Section 2 Grounds for termination of employment

The employer shall not terminate the employment contract of a salaried employee or lay off a salaried employee without the grounds referred to in the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

# Section 3 Reduction of employment relationship to part-time

The employer may unilaterally reduce an employment relationship to part-time as of the end of the period of notice, applying the grounds under which an employment contract can be terminated.

#### Section 4 Periods of notice

If no other period of notice has been agreed at the time of termination of employment, the employer must comply with the following periods of notice when terminating an employment contract:

- a) fourteen days' period of notice when the employment has continued for no longer than one year;
- b) one month's period of notice when the employment has continued for longer than one year, but no longer than four years;
- c) two months' period of notice if the employment has continued for longer than four years but no longer than eight years;
- d) four months' period of notice if the employment has continued for longer than eight years but no longer than twelve years;
- e) six months' notice if the employment has continued for longer than twelve years.

Unless another period of notice has been agreed at the time of resignation, the salaried employer shall observe the following periods of notice when terminating an employment contract:

- a) fourteen days' period of notice if the employment has continued for no longer than five years:
- b) one month's notice if the employment relationship has lasted for more than five years.
- 5. The aforementioned periods of notice shall not apply during a trial period.
- 6. The employer and salaried employee may agree that any outstanding receivables payable on termination of employment may be paid on the regular pay day of the company.

Section 5 Failure to comply with the period of notice

An employer who has terminated the employment contract without complying with the period of notice shall pay full salary to the salaried employee for a corresponding period.

A salaried employee who has failed to comply with the period of notice shall be liable to pay the employer a non-recurrent sum in compensation corresponding to the salary for said period.

If only part of the period of notice has been observed, this liability shall be limited to a sum corresponding to the pay due for the portion of the period of notice that was not observed.

Section 6 Effecting dismissal and warning procedure

Termination of employment and a warning resulting from reasons due to the individual salaried employee shall be served to the employee within a reasonable time after the employer learning of the grounds for dismissal and the reasons for issuing the warning.

The employee should be notified of how long the warning is valid for when the warning is issued.

Section 7 Notification of the termination of employment

Notification of termination shall be submitted to the employer or their representative or to the salaried employee in person. If this is not possible, the notice may be delivered by mail or in electronic form. The recipient shall be deemed to have learned of such notification no later than on the seventh day following the date of its dispatch.

If an employee is on an annual holiday based on law or agreement, or on leave for no less than two weeks granted in order to average working time, then termination of employment based on a notification by post or in electronic form shall be deemed to have occurred no sooner than on the day following the end of the holiday or leave.

Section 8 Hearing of the salaried employee

Before the dismissal, the employer shall give the salaried employee an opportunity to be heard concerning the grounds for dismissal. Before the dismissal the employer shall notify the salaried employee of the opportunity to use an assistant. Primarily, the shop steward shall be the assistant.

Section 9 Protection against dismissal during pregnancy and maternity leave

An employer may not terminate an employment contract of a salaried employee due to pregnancy. If the employer terminates the employment contract of a salaried employee who is pregnant, the termination shall be deemed to result from the pregnancy, unless the employer can prove other grounds. A salaried employee shall present proof of the pregnancy at the employer's request. The employer may not terminate the employment contract of a salaried employee during maternity, paternity or parental leave or during childcare leave, or after learning of the pregnancy of the salaried employee or the exercise of the aforementioned right with effect during or at the beginning of said leave. This provision can be deviated from when the employer's operations cease in their entirety.

# Section 10 Re-engagement

The employer must offer work to a former salaried employee who has been dismissed on production-related or financial grounds or in connection with company restructuring and who is still seeking work at an employment agency for the duration defined in the valid Employment Contracts Act.

It is possible to deviate from the re-engagement of a salaried employee pursuant to this section and Chapter 6, section 6 of the Employment Contracts Act by way of a written agreement between the employer and the salaried employee. Before making such an agreement, the shop steward is to be informed of its content. When the agreement is prepared, the salaried employee has the right to make use of the shop steward's expertise.

# Section 11 Compensation for wrongful termination of employment

An employer who terminates the employment of a salaried employee contrary to the grounds specified in section 2 of this agreement shall be liable to pay compensation to the salaried employee for wrongful termination of employment contract.

#### Section 12 The amount of allowance

The compensation shall amount to no less than to 3 months' salary and no more than 24 months' salary. The estimated duration of unemployment and loss of earnings, the duration of the employment relationship, the age of the salaried employee and the employee's prospects of securing work that corresponds to the employee's profession or education, the procedures of the employer in terminating the employment contract, a reason caused by the employee to terminate the contract, the circumstances of the employee and the employer in general, and other comparable factors shall be taken into account when determining the compensation.

A portion of unemployment benefits paid to the salaried employee shall be deducted from the compensation, as prescribed in section 3 of chapter 12 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

The employer may not be ordered to pay the compensation referred to in this agreement in addition to or in lieu of the compensation prescribed in section 2 of chapter 12 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

#### **II LAYOFF**

#### Section 13 Laying off

The periods of notice prescribed in section 15 shall be observed when laying off a salaried employee for a specified period or indefinitely.

The use of employee housing benefit during a layoff is governed by section 5 of chapter 13 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act.

A salaried employee shall have the right to accept other work during a layoff period.

A salaried employee who has accepted other work for a layoff period after receiving the layoff notice but before receiving notice of cancellation or postponement of layoff shall not be obligated to compensate for any damage so caused to the employer. In such cases, the employee shall have a duty to return to work as soon as possible.

#### Section 14 Advance briefing and hearing of a salaried employee

Based on the information available, the employer shall give the salaried employee an advance briefing of the grounds of a layoff, together with its estimated scope, manner of implementation, time of commencement and duration. If the layoff affects several employees, then this briefing may be given to the representative of salaried employees or to said employees collectively. The briefing shall be provided without delay as soon as the employer learns of the need for a layoff.

After giving the briefing and before issuing the layoff notice, the employer shall give the employees or their representative an opportunity to be heard on the briefing that has been given.

No advance briefing shall be required if the employer is required to present a corresponding account or negotiate on the layoff with the employees or their representative pursuant to another law, agreement or other binding regulation.

# Section 15 Layoff notice

The employer must notify a salaried employee of a layoff in person no later than 14 days before the layoff begins, unless these periods have been otherwise agreed locally with the shop steward.

If the notice cannot be delivered in person, it may be delivered by post or electronically, subject to the same notice period. The notice shall specify the grounds for the layoff, the time when it commences and its duration or estimated duration.

There shall be no duty of notification if the employer has no duty to pay the salaried employee for the entire period of layoff due to some other absence from work.

The representative of the employees who are to be laid off must be advised of the notice. If the layoff affects a minimum of ten salaried employees, the employer must also notify the employment authorities unless a corresponding duty exists pursuant to another law.

At the request of a salaried employee, the employer must provide a written certificate of the layoff which, at a minimum, specifies the grounds for, date of commencement and duration or estimated duration of the layoff.

#### Section 16 Return to work after layoff

In the case of an indefinite layoff, the employer shall give the employee at least seven days' notice of resumption of work, unless otherwise agreed. The salaried employee shall then be entitled to terminate, at five days' notice, any employment contract made with another employer for the duration of layoff, regardless of the duration of said employment contract.

# Section 17 Terminating the employment of an employee on layoff

A salaried employee may terminate the employment contract without observing a period of notice during a layoff, regardless of the duration of said contract. This right shall not exist during the seven days preceding the end of the layoff if the employee is aware of the date when the layoff ends.

If an employer terminates the employment contract of a laid-off employee with effect during the lay-off, the employee shall be entitled to receiving their salary for the notice period. The employer may deduct 14 days' salary from said salary for the period of notice if the employee has been laid off and a layoff notice period of more than 14 days pursuant to law or agreement has been applied.

A salaried employee who serves a notice of termination of their employment contract after a continuous layoff has lasted for a minimum of 200 days shall enjoy a similar right to salary for the period of notice.

# Section 18 Exceptional layoff situations

#### 1. Cancellation of layoff

Should new work become available during the layoff notification period, the employer may announce cancellation of the layoff before it begins. In such cases, the layoff notice shall become null and void, and any subsequent layoffs must be based on new layoff notices.

# 2. Postponement of layoff

Nevertheless, the work that arises during the layoff notification period may be temporary in nature. Complete cancellation of the layoff is not possible in such a case, but the beginning of the layoff may be postponed.

A layoff may only be postponed once on these grounds without issuing a new layoff notice, and for no longer than the duration of the work that arose during the layoff notification period.

# 3. Interruption of layoff

The employer may secure temporary work after a layoff has already begun. Any interruption of a layoff that is intended to continue immediately after said work has been completed without issuing a new layoff notice shall be based on an agreement between the employer and the salaried employee. Such an agreement should be concluded before the work begins. The estimated duration of the temporary work should be investigated at this time.

The foregoing only applies to the relationship between the employer and the salaried employee and constitutes no statement concerning the laws governing unemployment benefits.

#### III MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

Section 19 Calculation of the negotiation period under the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings

If the need arises to give notice of termination to employees, lay off or place them on part-time employment due to reasons attributable to the reorganisation of the employer's operations, an employer belonging within the scope of application of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings (1333/2021) must, however, abide by the provisions of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings with the exceptions agreed in this section. The Act on Co-operation within Undertakings is not part of the collective agreement. The provisions in this section supplement the Act and substitutes the corresponding sections in the Act.

When an employer belonging to the scope of application of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings is considering giving notice of termination to the employee, laying off or placing them on part-time employment due to financial or production-related reasons or reasons resulting from the reorganisation of the employer's operations, the cooperation obligations are

deemed, in deviation from the regulations on the proposal for negotiations under section 19 and on the fulfilment of the duty to negotiate under section 23 to been met if negotiations have been held after a written proposal for negotiations as required in the Act on Cooperation within Undertakings and on the basis of information given in advance during a negotiation period set out in section 23 of the Act on Cooperation within Undertakings, unless other negotiation period has been agreed by law.

#### Entry on record:

The entry above abolishes the obligation in the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings to give a written negotiations proposal no fewer than five calendar days before the start of the negotiations.

Before starting the change negotiations, the employer must give a written negotiations proposal. The negotiations proposal must contain the information pursuant to section 19, chapter 3 of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings. If some piece of information is not yet available at the time the negotiations proposal is given, the information must be provided at the start of the change negotiations, at the latest.

The section references to the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings are only informative.

#### Section 20 Order of staff reductions

Dismissals or layoffs for reasons that are unrelated to the individual salaried employee shall, where possible, comply with a rule whereby the last salaried employees to be dismissed or laid off shall be those who possess vocational skills or who are needed in special duties that are important to the operations of the company or those who have lost part of their working-capacity while working for the same employer. The duration of employment and the number of dependants of the salaried employee shall also be taken into account.

The employer shall give the shop steward an adequate account of the prospects for retraining a salaried employee who is at risk of dismissal or layoff, or of redeploying said employee within the company. Consideration for redeployment shall take into account the obligations arising from section 4 of chapter 7 of the Employment Contracts Act.

# Section 21 Legal proceedings

If no agreement is reached in a dispute over dismissal or layoff, then the federation of employers or employees may submit the matter to the Labour Court for consideration. A complaint pursuant to section 15 of the Finnish Act on the Labour Court (no. 646 of 1974) must be submitted to the Labour Court within two years of the date when termination of employment contract has been effected as agreed in section 6 of this agreement, or is deemed to have been so effected.

### Section 22 Settlement by arbitration

A dispute concerning the termination of an employment contract or layoff may be submitted for settlement by arbitration as prescribed in section 11 of the Finnish Act on the Labour Court.

Section 23 Provision on entry into force

This agreement shall take effect on 1 February 2002 and shall remain in force until further notice, subject to six (6) months' period of notice.

Helsinki, 22 January 2002

CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND UNION OF SALARIED EMPLOYEES TU

# CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND UNION OF SALARIED EMPLOYEES TU

# AGREEMENT ON PROTECTION AGAINST DISMISSAL AND AGREEMENT ON CO-OPERATION BETWEEN KT AND TU (protocol)

Date 22 January 2002

Venue Offices of the Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT, Eteläranta 10, Helsinki, Finland

Läsnä Martti Niskanen, KT chairman

Pekka Hotti, KT Ilkka Joenpalo, TU Markku Palokangas, TU Annemarje Salonen, TU

1

It was agreed that the protocol would be reviewed at this meeting and that everyone present would sign it.

2

The agreement between KT and TU on the protection against dismissal was approved and signed, and the amendments to the co-operation agreement were approved (Appendix). Concurrently, the agreement on the protection against dismissal signed on 10 December 2000 and the Protocol of Signature thereof were annulled.

It was noted that the agreement on the protection against dismissal and the amendments to the co-operation agreement would take effect as of 1 February 2002.

4

It was further noted that in addition to the provisions of section 12 of the agreement on the protection against dismissal, the employer may not be ordered to pay the compensatory fine referred to in section 7 of the Finnish Collective Agreements Act in addition to the compensation referred to in the agreement, insofar as the case concerns infringement of duties that are based on the collective agreement, but as such are the same as the duties for which payment of compensation has been ordered pursuant to the agreement.

No compensatory fine sanctions referred to in the Finnish Collective Agreements Act shall arise for failing to comply with procedural provisions. Failure to comply with provisions shall be taken into consideration when determining the compensation to be awarded for wrongful termination of an employment contract.

Based on this agreement it shall be possible to examine whether dismissal effected pursuant to section 3 of chapter 7 of the Finnish Employment Contracts Act is actually due to a reason related to the individual salaried employee and whether the employer would have had adequate cause to dismiss the employee on the grounds referred to in section 2 of the agreement in a situation where the employment contract has been terminated pursuant to section 1 of chapter 8 of the Employment Contracts Act.

# ISS / appendix

The previously established practice shall otherwise be observed with respect to the system of sanctions.

5

A working group shall be appointed to investigate, during the agreement period, layoff notification periods and other procedures pertaining to termination of employment contract and layoff.

6

It was noted that the agreement was negotiated by a working group comprising Martti Niskanen and Pekka Hotti from KT and Markku Palokangas and Annemarje Salonen from TU.

Checked and approved by

Martti Niskanen Pekka Hotti

Ilkka Joenpalo Annemarje Salonen

Markku Palokangas

#### APPENDIX 1 INCLUSION OF VOCATIONAL TRAINING IN WORKING HOURS

# Inclusion of vocational training in working hours

When assessing the inclusion of training in working hours, the content and purpose of the training shall be reviewed, as well as the employee's obligation to attend the training.

If a salaried employee is attending training that is obligatory for and necessary for his or her performance in his or her profession, such training shall be included in working hours. Possible overtime pay and compensation for travelling time are also payable in such situations.

Training included in working hours shall take place at the workplace or outside the workplace in conditions that are characteristic for the work. Training provided in less formal conditions may be included in working hours only in exceptional cases.

Time spent in training which is not obligatory by nature as referred to in the previous paragraph but which the employee is given the opportunity to attend, is not counted as hours of work. Education that is general by nature although useful as such is rarely included in working hours. Furthermore, attending such education cannot be obligatory.

The federations emphasise that in accordance with the co-operation agreement currently in effect, various training events should be evaluated in advance to decide whether they are the kind of training events referred to in paragraphs 2–4 above and how the amount of reimbursement of other travel expenses related to the event is determined.

2 January 2006/ Hannu Puurula/Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT Annemarje Salonen/Union of Salaried Employees TU

# APPENDIX 2 CLARIFICATIONS TO THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT JOB ORIENTATION BONUS, EXTRA DUTIES ALLOWANCE AND SALARY DEVELOPMENT OF THE SHOP STEWARD

Clarifications to the collective agreement job orientation bonus, extra duties allowance, salary development of the shop steward

- job orientation bonus (section 8, item 2)
- extra duties allowance (section 8 item 1)
- salary development of the shop steward (co-operation agreement 3.2)

### **JOB ORIENTATION BONUS (section 8, item 2)**

Job orientation consists of systematic training whereby, in accordance with an approved plan prepared in advance, new salaried employees are familiarised with the workplace and their duties, and instructed on the risks inherent in the work and surroundings, and in procedures for controlling these risks.

Salaried employees specifically appointed by the employer who, in addition to their regular duties, also provide familiarisation training for and guide new salaried employees in the work environment and duties, shall be paid a separate bonus of 10 per cent of their personal salary for the time spent on said familiarisation and job orientation, unless their salaries otherwise allow for this familiarisation and job orientation. Providing familiarisation training in addition to one's regular duties means that the salaried employee is providing induction training to another salaried employee while also performing their own duties. If a salaried employee is partially released from performing their own duties in order to provide familiarisation training, no separate bonus is paid.

# Minuted note

The familiarisation and job orientation of workers and summer employees form are part of the normal duties of salaried employees, and no separate bonus shall be paid for the familiarisation and orientation of such personnel.

Everyday interaction with colleagues is a natural part of a smoothly functioning work community. This interaction also includes giving advice to colleagues. Providing job orientation is a systematic activity initiated by the employer.

In job orientation, salaried employees are familiarised with the workplace and their duties, and instructed in the risks inherent in the work and surroundings, and in procedures for mitigating these risks. Job orientation shall be performed at the employer's initiative.

# Job orientation plan

A job orientation plan shall be prepared in advance, specifying the person providing the job orientation training, the person(s) to be trained and the content and duration of the job orientation training. When necessary, the federations will provide assistance with the drafting of the job orientation plans. In exceptional cases, the job orientation plan can be verbal instead of written.

### New salaried employees (excluding summer employees and trainees)

When a salaried employee is instructing a new salaried employee in accordance with a plan drafted in advance, a job orientation bonus shall be paid. The following are considered new salaried employees:

- new salaried employees hired to the company,
- employees transferred from a worker position to a salaried employee position within the company,
- in-house transfers of salaried employees from one position to another, such as an accountant becoming a laboratory technician. If, for instance, an accountant transfers within the company to another accountant position, no job orientation bonus is paid.

In-house transfers of salaried employees do not usually require as much induction training in terms of time and effort.

The duration and form of the new salaried employee's employment have no significance in this respect. Therefore, a job orientation bonus shall also be paid for training fixed-term salaried employees.

#### Job orientation training of senior salaried employees

Job orientation bonus shall also be paid when a salaried employee provides job orientation training to a new senior salaried employee in accordance with a plan drafted in advance.

Job orientation training of a senior salaried employee is defined as follows: a salaried employee is familiarising a senior salaried employee with his or her duties.

# Trainees and summer employees

Job orientation bonus shall be paid for familiarisation of trainees. Payment of a job orientation bonus is not necessary for training summer employees.

Based on the decision of the Finnish Labour Court (TT 2010-32), a job orientation bonus shall also be paid for training trainees who do not have an employment relationship with the company.

It is not always easy to distinguish between trainees and summer employees. Companies often talk about summer trainees without specifying whether the job is a study-related work placement or a summer job.

Trainees are persons who study at vocational institutions, institutions of technology or other similar-level institutions, universities of applied sciences, universities of technology or other universities and work between terms or during their studies in order to acquire the work experience required for their degree.

Summer employees (employed between 2 May and 30 September) refer to young people who are still at school or persons under 25 years of age who are students in educational institutions not associated with this industry.

If a trainee works for the company several times and performs the same duties, job orientation training is not necessarily needed every time.

# Inclusion of the job orientation bonus in a salaried employee's salary

If job orientation training is part of a salaried employee's other duties, this is specified in the job description as clearly as possible and the effect of job orientation training on the salary is explained to the salaried employee. When assessing the job requirement category of the job, job orientation training shall be compared with the job requirement factors in a similar way as the other duties of the job, and it is documented as having been taken into account as part of the duties.

#### Local collective bargaining

Job orientation bonus may also be replaced with a locally agreed fixed monthly bonus.

This joint interpretation by the federations shall not change any better job orientation bonuses or arrangements agreed previously at local level.

The interpretation guidelines are applied as of 7 December 2010.

# **EXTRA DUTIES ALLOWANCE (SECTION 5)**

Unless otherwise agreed locally, salaried employees who, while performing their regular duties, temporarily attend to any duties of another salaried employee that have not been taken into consideration in their own job requirement grading shall be paid an additional 14 to 35 per cent of their personal salary as extra duties allowance, in proportion to the increased amount of work. Extra duties allowance shall be paid under the same conditions to salaried employees when attending as a substitute to duties that are more demanding than their own regular duties.

The compensation payable and other aspects of the terms and conditions of employment shall be settled before the substitution begins.

The provisions on the extra duties allowance shall not apply,

- when the absence lasts no more than one week (five working days);
- when it has been jointly noted in advance that working as a substitute has been taken into account in the salaried employee's job description, job requirement grading and salary (see Observation of substituting in job description, job requirement grading and salary);
- a trainee or short-term deputy is hired for the job;
- when the entire team (more than just a few persons) is involved in substitution and duties do not increase due to the nature of the job;
- when a salaried employee is permanently transferred to a new job and new job requirement grading is conducted.

As a rule, working as a substitute is expressly initiated by the employer. Even without the employer's initiative, a salaried employee is considered to be entitled to an extra duties allowance if, due to the nature of the job, the amount of a salaried employee's work increases because of the absence of another person.

# Example:

The company has two employees working at the switchboard. One of them goes on sick leave and no temporary employee is hired for the job for the duration of the leave. Even if the employer does not expressly order the other employee at the switchboard to substitute for the employee on sick leave, the amount of the employee's work will increase as a result of the sick leave, due to the nature of the job: the phone calls normally distributed between two employees will now be received by one employee at the switchboard, which means that the amount of the employee's work will increase. Therefore, extra duties allowance shall be paid to the employee attending to the switchboard.

The extra duties allowance shall be paid for the time during which the employee is substituting for another employee.

#### The amount of allowance

An additional 14–35 per cent of the employee's personal salary shall be paid as extra duties allowance. If substituting for a salaried employee is shared by several employees, the extra duties allowance referred to herein shall be divided between them on a per capita basis.

The amount of the extra duties allowance depends on whether the person working as a substitute is performing more demanding duties compared with his or her own job and whether the person is a substitute for one or several persons.

The federations recommend that typical substituting situations and the factors affecting the amount of extra duties allowance be discussed at workplaces and descriptions of example situations be compiled at least for situations where the amount of extra duties allowance is at the lowest or highest end of the scale.

# Observation of substituting in job description, job requirement grading and salary

If substituting is part of a salaried employee's other duties, this is specified in the job descriptions as clearly as possible and the effect of substituting on the salary is explained to the salaried employee. When assessing the job requirement category of the job, substituting is compared with the job requirement factors of the pay system in a similar way as the other duties of the job and it is documented as having been taken into account as part of the duties.

# Local collective bargaining

Payment of extra duties allowance in a different manner may also be agreed locally. The amount of substitute work can be estimated for one year in advance, and a monthly extra duties allowance can be paid as a separate bonus that corresponds to the average amount of work as a substitute during the year. The estimated amount of work as a substitute is annually compared with the actual amount. Based on said comparison, the separate bonus is adjusted each year.

This joint interpretation by the federations shall not change previous locally agreed better extra duties allowances or arrangements.

The interpretation guidelines are applied as of 7 December 2010.

# **SALARY DEVELOPMENT OF THE SHOP STEWARD (co-operation agreement 3.2)**

The salary development of a shop steward and occupational safety delegate shall correspond to the salary development occurring within the company.

This shall be reviewed annually and any salary increases that are thereby warranted shall be implemented annually.

The opportunities of shop stewards and occupational safety delegates for professional development must not be impaired because of their duties as shop steward or occupational safety delegate. Salary development shall be reviewed on an annual basis as follows:

- the salary development of shop stewards and occupational safety delegates is compared with the development of earnings of at the workplace of the salaried employees they represent; and
- should the salary development be found to be below the average salary development of the salaried employees they represent, the salary development shall be rectified to correspond to the salary development at the workplace.

In the salary development analysis, the development of monthly salaries is compared at a predetermined point of time. Monthly salary refers to the total personal salary of a salaried employee, i.e. the monetary salary including fringe benefits, but excluding separately paid bonuses and performance-based bonus. The analysis shall be conducted once a year.

The information needed for the analysis can be obtained annually from the company's payroll administration or from the annual salaried employee statistics compiled in accordance with the agreement on statistical cooperation. The statistics applied annually must be comparable with the statistics used in the previous year.

The interpretation guidelines are applied as of 7 December 2010.

#### **SIGNATURES**

Helsinki, 7 December 2010

Union of salaried employees TU Markku Palokangas Taru Reinikainen Arvi Herttua Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT Pekka Hotti Jaana Neuvonen

#### **APPENDIX 3 PATERNITY LEAVE SALARY PAYMENTS**

# Paternity leave salary payments

The joint application guidelines of Chemical Industry Federation of Finland, Trade Union Pro and Industrial Union TEAM on the provision on salary during paternity leave in the collective agreement.

The collective agreement states as follows:

"The salary for regular working hours shall be paid to an employee for six (6) days of paternity leave. The payment of paternity leave salary shall be governed by the same provisions as the payment of maternity leave salary."

#### Paternity leave

According to the provisions of the Health Insurance Act, the maximum duration of the paternity allowance period is 54 days. Paternity leave refers to this leave of a maximum of 18 week days which the father can take any time during the maternity and parental allowance period after the child is born. In this context, Saturdays count as weekdays. The above-mentioned paternity leave of 18 weekdays can be divided into a **maximum of four periods**.

#### Conditions of salary payment

Salary is paid for paternity leave provided that

- employment continued for at least six months before the child is born; and
- the leave consists of the **first six weekdays of the first period of paternity leave** (Monday–Saturday, excluding weekday public holidays)
- The Social Insurance Institution of Finland (KELA) pays paternity allowance for paternity leave.

#### Salary to be paid

During paternity leave, workers are paid for **regular working hours based on average hourly earnings**, similar to sick leave salary. Salaried employees are paid similar to sick leave salary in accordance with the collective agreement. KELA pays paternity allowance for paternity leave. The employer applies for paternity allowance for six week days from KELA.

For which six days the employer pays paternity leave salary depends on the timing of the paternity leave and the applied working time model (see the examples starting on page 2).

#### description of symbols:

(pl) = paternity leave

D = day shift

M = morning shift

E = evening shift

N = night shift

- = day off

# Example 1

An employee in daytime work takes six days of paternity leave from Monday to Saturday. He receives paternity leave salary similar to sick leave pay from Monday to Friday and the employer applies for paternity leave allowance from KELA for Monday–Saturday.

Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
D (pl)	- (pl)	-				

# Example 2

An employee in daytime work uses the right to divide the paternity leave into a maximum of four periods. In week 1, he takes three days of paternity leave (Monday through Wednesday) and in week 2 he takes another three days of paternity leave (Monday through Wednesday).

Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	
D (pl)	D (pl)	D (pl)	D	D	-	-	
Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun	
D (pl)	D (pl)	D (pl)	D	D	-	-	

The indicated days are paternity leave days, for which the employer applies for paternity allowance from KELA and the employee receives paternity leave pay for the corresponding time, similar to sick leave pay.

# Example 3

A person performing continuous shift work takes his six days of paternity leave from Monday to Saturday. According to the roster, his shifts are as follows:

Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	Sat	Sun
M (pl)	M (pl)	- (pl)	E (pl)	E (pl)	- (pl)	Z

A worker receives paternity leave pay for working days in accordance with the roster and based on the average hourly earnings; the pay to a salaried employee is similar to sick leave pay in accordance with the collective agreement. The employer applies for paternity allowance for the period of Monday–Saturday from KELA.

#### Example 4

A person in daytime work takes six weekdays of paternity leave. He marks down his paternity leave for 20 December–27 December, as public holidays do not use up paternity leave days. Christmas Eve is a weekday, not a public holiday, which is why it is included in the paternity leave.

Mon 20	Tue 21	Wed 22	Thu 23	Fri 24	Sat 25	Sun 26	Mon 27
Dec							
D (pl)	D (pl)	D (pl)	D (pl)	- (pl)	ı	-	D (pl)

The worker receives paternity leave pay in accordance with his shifts. The employer applies for paternity allowance from KELA for 20–24 December and 27 December.

#### **12-HOUR SHIFTS**

When a salaried employee taking paternity leave works in 12-hour shifts, it is recommended that an overall evaluation of the annual working time is carried out in order to determine the annual working time. Instructions can be found in the sections on working times in the collective agreement.

Based on the conversations conducted, we note the following:

- The duration and periods of paternity leave can be found at the Kela website at www.kela.fi
- According to the collective agreement, compensation for lost earnings as for maternity leave is paid for the first six (6) days of paternity leave. Otherwise, paternity leave is unpaid leave.
- Paternity leave reduces the annual working time, in the same way as maternity leave or sick leave.
- Entire weeks taken as paternity leave (6 consecutive days Monday–Saturday) are deducted from the total annual working time goal by utilising the calculation formulae of the collective agreement. Examples are provided below in this appendix.
- Individual working hours taken as paternity leave (such as 8 hours or 12 hours) are deducted from the total annual working time goal (example 3)
- In uninterrupted and continuous working time types (TAM 17, TAM 27, TAM 37), Sunday shifts included in a continuous paternity leave can be placed to another time in the schedule of work shifts, or it can be agreed that they are taken as unpaid leave without the requirement to work at a later time.

#### Calculation of annual working time

The length of the working time varies annually in day-time and two-shift work and in interrupted three-shift work because of the number of mid-week holidays. The annual number of working hours in uninterrupted three-shift work is a standard value, 1,632 hours. The annual working hours are specified in the table appended to this collective agreement.

When changing between forms of working time or when employment begins partway through the year, the annual working time according to the collective agreement must be calculated separately. Such situations additionally arise when working hour bank, paternity, job alteration and study leaves are used or in the event of unpaid periods of incapacity to work.

The collective agreement includes a couple of examples of the calculation of working time. These instructions provide additional examples for solving various practical situations.

#### Example5

The aforementioned annual working hours in continuous three-shift work of 12-hour shifts with 30 days of annual holiday shall be formed as follows:

1 Jan-31 Dec 2014 TAM37	formula		
TAM37 period of work		365	days
the above in weeks	365/7	52.14	weeks
annual holiday (weeks)		5	weeks
number of actual working weeks is	52.14–5	47.14	weeks
working time according to the collective agreement	standard	34.6	hours/week
working time requirement for the period, hours	standard	1,632	hours
the above converted into 12-h shifts	1,632/12	136	shifts

The working time according to the collective agreement has been agreed as a standard 34.6 hours per week and 1,632 hours per year regardless of the number of days or weekday holidays.

#### Example6

The implementation of the average weekly working hours agreed in the collective agreement shall be settled as follows when an employee performs continuous three-shift work in 12-hour shifts for only part of the year:

1 Jan-5 May 2013 TAM37	formula		
TAM37 period of work		125	days
the above in weeks	125/7	17.86	weeks
annual holiday (weeks)		1	weeks
number of actual working weeks is	17.86–1	16.86	weeks
working time according to the collective agreement	standard	34.6	hours/week
working time requirement for the period, hours	34.6 x 16.86	583	hours
the above converted into 12-h shifts	583/12	49	shifts

The working hours under the collective agreement during the foregoing period are 16.86 weeks x 34.6 hours/week, i.e. 583 hours, or 49 shifts of 12 hours per shift. The working time plan prepared for the period must therefore include 108 x 12-hour shifts.

#### Example 7

Implementation of the average working hours agreed in the collective agreement shall be settled as follows when engaged in continuous three-shift work in 12-hour shifts when 2 full weeks and 3 working days are taken as unpaid paternity leave:

1 Jan-31 Dec 2014 TAM37	formula		
TAM37 period of work		365	days
the above in weeks	365/7	52.14	weeks
annual holiday		5	weeks
paternity leave		2	weeks
number of actual working weeks is	52.14–7	45.14	weeks
working time according to the collective agreement	standard	34.6	hours/week
working time requirement for the period, hours	34.6 x 45.14	1562	hours
the above converted into 12-h shifts	1562 / 12	130	shifts

An additional three (3) unpaid 12-hour paternity leave days are deducted from the working time plan prepared for the period (130 work shifts). If an individual unpaid paternity leave day were an 8-hour shift, 8 hours would be deducted from the working time requirement. It should be noted that Kela pays the father a benefit based on 8 hours.

Helsinki, 24 May 2016

Taru Reinikainen

Jaana Neuvonen

### APPENDIX 4 USE OF TRAINEES IN COMPANIES IN THE CHEMICAL INDUSTRY IN THE EVENT OF PERSONNEL DISMISSALS OR LAYOFFS

## Use of trainees in companies in the chemical industry in the event of personnel dismissals and layoffs

The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and Trade Union Pro agree that there is great demand for on-the-job learning periods in accordance with the qualification requirements of vocational training. It is desirable that companies in the chemical industry actively offer young people and students work opportunities, thereby increasing their awareness of the industry for the future.

As the above-mentioned training is mandatory for completing studies and it is carried out throughout the year, the federations have discussed the principles that companies adhere to when recruiting trainees under circumstances involving arrangements related to layoffs or dismissals.

The federations agree that the employer may, regardless of their obligation to offer work or reemploy a former employee as stipulated by the Finnish Employment Contracts Act, employ a trainee also in a situation where salaried employees have been dismissed or laid off, if

- the trainee does not have an employment relationship with the company.
- If the trainee does have an employment relationship with the company:
- the work placement is a part of a mandatory qualification (on-the-job learning related upper secondary vocational education and training referred to in section 16 of the Vocational Education and Training Act, no. 630 of 1998, and section 5 of the Vocational Education and Training Decree (811/1998), other mandatory qualification-related work placement or a period of work experience as referred to in the Basic Education Act and the Decree based on it); or
- the trainee does not replace the employer's need for additional workforce; or
- the trainee does not replace a salaried employee who has been dismissed or laid off; or
- the trainee's work contribution and duties are not comparable to those of a regular salaried employee in terms of quality; or
- the trainee has a fixed-term employment relationship for a short period of time.

In the manner stipulated by the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings, companies shall negotiate the practices to be adhered to while recruiting trainees. Any trainees recruited by the company shall be reported to the shop steward.

Jaana Neuvonen
Chemical Industry Federation of Finland

Taru Reinikainen Trade Union Pro

#### APPENDIX 5 ROLE, TRAINING AND USE OF TIME OF A WORKPLACE INSTRUCTOR

#### Workplace instructor's role, training and use of time

It was agreed in the career agreement concluded between the federations on 22 March 2012 that the federations will seek new ways to facilitate the entry of young people into work. The goal is to find possibilities for working and training for young people by combining training with learning at the workplace.

The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland on 29 November 2012 agreed on actions to promote the employment of young people in the field of application of the collective agreement for salaried employees in chemical industry. As a part of the Youth Guarantee for the chemical industry, the parties wish to promote the learning of work at workplaces with this memo by describing the role, use of time and the development of competence of the workplace instructor.

Training arranged at the workplace (learning at work) organised in basic vocational education comprises of goal-oriented, supervised and evaluated studying at the workplace.

The workplace instructor is a person appointed by the employer who

- is the contact person between the workplace, the teacher/teachers, the student or person taking the degree and the organiser of training
- plans learning at work, demonstrations of professional skills and tests in cooperation with the teachers and the student
- provides guidance and makes evaluations according to the agreements and plans prepared
- instructs and supports the students and evaluates their learning
- evaluates competence with various parties.
- Adapted from: Hätönen, 2013. Competence map of a workplace instructor.

A workplace instructor is a person appointed by the employer who can instruct students, apprenticeship students, university trainees or others, such as persons in labour market training, in learning at the workplace.

The workplace instructor is the student's primary contact and mentor at the workplace. The workplace instructor must understand that students have varying capacities to perform various duties at work. A student is not a professional, and they need support and instruction in their duties. The workplace instructor participates in the evaluation of the student and helps arrange the qualification tests of professional competence.

Instruction to work leads to better results when the workplace instructor and the student are well prepared for their duties. When a workplace instructor is appointed, it is recommended that they familiarise themselves with the competence map for workplace instructors ("Työpaik-kaohjaajan osaamiskartta") which can be found at the National Board of Education website and carry out a self-evaluation with regard to their competence as a workplace instructor.

The time required to carry out the duties, their effects on the person's own duties and whether any temporary substitute arrangements are required will be determined in cooperation between the workplace instructor and their supervisor. It is additionally evaluated whether working as a workplace instructor requires training. The evaluation of a student, for example, may require training which may be provided by the institution attended by the student, for example. This evaluation is carried out when the instruction plan is prepared for the student.

#### Appendix 5: Workplace instructor's role, training and use of time

A workplace instructor is paid the work instruction bonus according to section 8 of the collective agreement for salaried employees in the chemical industry if the preconditions for the payment of the work instruction bonus as specified in the collective agreement are met.

Helsinki, 23 October 2015

Juha Teerimäki Taru Reinikainen Chemical Industry Federation of Finland Trade Union Pro

More information is provided in the workplace instructor's competence map.

http://www.oph.fi/download/146332\_Tyopaikkaohjaajan\_osaamiskartta.pdf

## APPENDIX 6 LIST OF THE SECTIONS OF THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT WHICH MAY BE AGREED DIFFERENTLY LOCALLY

#### Paragraphs of the collective agreement which may be agreed differently locally

Section of the collective	Locally agreed matters	
agreement  3 § Employment and general duties of employment, section 5.3	Payment of salary on last day of employment	
5 § Local bargaining	Methods of local collective bargaining (parties, duration of local agreement, format)	
8 § Extra duties allowance and job orientation bonus	Payment of deputyship compensation Work orientation bonus as a fixed compensation	
9 § General regulations on hours of work	Changing the averaging period of other day-time and two-shift work (continuous one and two-shift work excluded)  Extension of daily working time  Instead of 8 h per day → 7.5 h/day  Periodic work  Working hour bank	
11 § Amendments to the schedule of work shifts and the system for averaging working hours	Agreeing on the notice periods	
12 § Working hours in daytime, one- and two-shift work	Conversion from a 37.5-hour week to 40-hour week Introduction of flexitime Length of daily flexitime limits and maximum balances Length of flexitime averaging period up to one year Beginning of the working week and working day Switching working time averaging leave to flexible leave Granting working time averaging leave - time of granting - payment in cash - notice periods - granting method	
15 § Shift work and evening and night work	Continuously working in the same shift Working by night in cases other than those referred to in section 26 of the Working Hours Act Payment of shift work bonus as a fixed monthly bonus Vesting times of shift work and evening and night work bonuses. Shift work and evening and night work: It is possible to locally agree on a different shift rotation interval	
16 § Days off	Placement of days off	
18 § Sunday work	Payment of Sunday work bonus as a fixed monthly bonus Converting into corresponding leave Taking flexible leave in lieu of a Sunday work bonus	

Appendix 6: Paragraphs of the collective agreement which may be agreed differently locally

19 § Compensation for working on major public holidays	Time of payment of the compensation for working on major public holidays Compensation for working on major public holidays: Subject to local collective bargaining, it is possible to cut the regular working hours in daytime work on the above eves of major holidays, so that the cut equals the compensation payable for working on the eve of a major holiday. On the adjournment and payment of the compensation for working on major public holidays.
20 § Rest periods and com-	Shortening of daily rest period
pensation for weekly time off	Waiving the meal break
periodicarios incomy initia	Temporary or permanent shortening of the twenty-four hour rest period
	Shortening of the twenty-four hour rest period
	Payment of work done during weekly time off in cash
	Agreeing on the weekly rest day
21 § Additional work	Payment of salary paid for additional work or the in-
	crease element of additional work bonus as a fixed
	monthly compensation or exchanging for corresponding
	leave
	Taking flexible leave in lieu of additional work
22 § Overtime	Payment of salary paid for overtime or the increase ele-
22 g Overtime	ment of overtime compensation as a fixed monthly com-
	pensation or changing to corresponding leave
	Taking flexible leave in lieu of the overtime increase or
22 Con call distributed	the entire overtime pay
23 § On-call duty and	Agreeing on on-call duty
telephone consultation	Agreeing on the compensation for on-call duty and tele- phone consultation
	and the basis of determining these
25 § Travel compensation	Amount of per diem allowances in short and long assignments
	Payment of per diem allowances and meal allowance as
	a separate monthly compensation
	Travelling regulation
26 § Training events	Agreeing on the principles of compensation for participat-
]	ing in training which is organised on the salaried em-
	ployee's day off
	Training and development opportunities: Subject to local
	collective bargaining, the duration of training may be
	more than two hours in connection with a work shift.
27 § Annual holiday	Payment of holiday pay on the regular pay day
27 3 Amuai nomay	Distribution of annual leave in excess of 12 days
	Timing of annual holiday in uninterrupted three-shift work
	Time of payment of the holiday bonus
	Changing holiday bonus to flexible leave

Appendix 6: Paragraphs of the collective agreement which may be agreed differently locally

Pay system	Use of so-called intermediate categories		
	Company-specific systems		
Cooperation agreement	Combining the duties of the occupational safety delegate and the shop steward		
	Election of shop steward for the unit		
	Election of occupational safety agent		
	Agreeing on the release from work for the occupational		
	safety delegate		
	Setting up the cooperation body		
Agreement on Protection	4 § Periods of notice		
Against Dismissal	<ul> <li>Period of notice for the employer and the employee</li> </ul>		
	- Timing of payment of salary at the end of employment		
	15 § Notice in the event of lay-offs		
	- Layoff notice periods		
	Section 16 Return to work after layoff		
	- Announcing resumption of work		

### APPENDIX 7 IMPROVING THE OPERATIONAL PREREQUISITES OF SHOP STEWARDS IN ORDER TO PROMOTE LOCAL COLLECTIVE BARGAINING IN THE WORKPLACE

## Improving the operational prerequisites of shop stewards in order to promote local collective bargaining in the workplace

Chemical Industry Federation of Finland and Trade Union Pro find it important to promote local collective bargaining at workplaces. Company-level agreements offer the possibility for developing flexibility and methods of operation. The development of operation methods improves the productivity and profitability of the unit. A culture of negotiations, enthusiasm and commitment to goals improve when changes are implemented jointly. The guide "Paikallinen sopiminen kemianteollisuudessa" ("Local collective bargaining in chemical industry") has been drawn up to support local bargaining.

A culture of negotiations and negotiation skills as well as the skills of ongoing dialogue and openness must be developed so that local agreements can be reached successfully at the workplace. Continuous negotiations at the workplace aim to promote cooperation, improve the company's competitiveness and productivity and increase local collective bargaining according to the needs of the workplace. The workplace must have parties who execute the negotiations, such as shop stewards. The operational preconditions of the shop stewards must be improved for equal negotiations to succeed. In order to promote local collective bargaining and to ensure the competence of shop stewards, the parties to the agreement recommend that the term of office of shop stewards at workplaces be three years. The term of office of occupational safety delegates may be locally agreed in the occupational safety committee as three years.

The time spent by the aforementioned staff representatives shall be reviewed with the shop steward, and the time required for duties and its impact on work and any need for arranging substitutes shall be jointly investigated. At the same time, the employer shall discuss the general goals with the shop steward in order to develop the operational conditions of the company, local collective bargaining and the workplace and well-being at work. Additionally, a written training plan to develop the competence of the shop steward will be drawn up at this point. The plan will be reviewed annually, if necessary.

Participation in joint training of the parties to the agreement (KT-Pro) is beneficial for the promotion of local cooperation at the workplace. It is preferable that both parties to the negotiations participate in the training together; however, the incapacity of either party to attend the training does not prevent the other party from attending.

It is a prerequisite of promoting long-term local collective bargaining that enhances co-operation in the workplace that both negotiating parties are familiar with the matters that may be agreed locally. To promote this, the parties to the agreement have prepared a table as an appendix to the collective agreement, detailing the matters that may be agreed differently at the local level according to the collective agreement for salaried employees in the chemical industry. At the beginning of the term of office of the shop steward, the shop steward and the representative of the employer shall review all the local agreements valid in the company at the time and assess whether such agreements are up to date.

Local collective bargaining benefits from the shop steward receiving all the information required to discuss the matter. A table of the information to be provided to the shop steward according to the collective agreement is included at the end.

#### Appendix 7: Improving the operational prerequisites of shop stewards

It is important that the competence required for the shop steward's own duties is ensured, also at the end of the term of office. At the end of term of office of the shop steward and the occupational safety delegate, they and the employer must jointly determine whether the maintenance of their professional skills requires induction training organised by the employer.

## APPENDIX 8 INFORMATION TO BE GIVEN TO THE SHOP STEWARD IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE COLLECTIVE AGREEMENT

## Information to be given to the shop steward in accordance with the collective agreement

Collective agreement	The employer shall inform the shop steward of new students taking in
Section 6 Salaries	salaried employee positions under the learning agreement.
Collective agreement	A representative of the employees will be given a summary of the leave
9 § Working hour bank	accrued in the bank and the leave taken.
Collective agreement	The salaried employees concerned and the shop steward shall be noti-
11 § Amendments to the sched-	fied of permanent changes in the work shift schedule or in the system
ule of work shifts and the system	for averaging working hours at the earliest opportunity and no later than
for averaging working hours	two weeks before the change takes effect. If the change affects several
	employees or an otherwise significant part of the staff, the change shall
	be negotiated in advance with the shop steward.
	The salaried employees concerned shall be informed of temporary devi-
	ations from the work shift schedule or the system for averaging working
	hours at the earliest opportunity and no later than on the third day before
	the change takes effect, except in cases of emergency work. The shop
	steward shall also be notified if the change concerns a department or a
	corresponding operational unit.
	oon copenating operational anti-
	The shop steward shall also be notified of any temporary changes to the
	schedule of work shifts or the system for averaging working hours if the
	change concerns a department or a corresponding operational unit.
Appendix to the collective agree-	In the salary development analysis, the development of monthly salaries
ment	is compared at a predetermined point of time. Monthly salary refers to
Salary development of the shop	the total personal salary of a salaried employee, i.e. the salary paid in
steward	cash together with fringe benefits, but excluding separately paid bo-
	nuses and performance-based bonus. The analysis shall be conducted
	once a year.
	The information peopled for the quality is one he obtained one call, from
	The information needed for the analysis can be obtained annually from
	the company's payroll administration or from the annual salaried em-
	ployee statistics compiled in accordance with the agreement on statistical cooperation. The statistics applied annually must be comparable
	with the statistics used in the previous year.
Appendix to the collective agree-	In the manner stipulated by the Act on Co-operation within Undertak-
ment	ings, companies shall negotiate the practices to be adhered to while re-
Use of trainees in companies in	cruiting trainees. Any trainees recruited by the company shall be re-
the chemical industry in the	ported to the shop steward.
event of dismissals and	
layoffs	
Appendix to the collective agree-	The needs of the customers, the order book, the financial situation of the
ment	company and the employer's corrective actions in order to improve the
Survival actions if the company	financial situation are discussed in cooperation with representatives of
finds itself in financial difficulties	the employees.
Pay system	Principles of the system for the evaluation of personal competence.
Pay system	Company/location-specific personal average
Cooperation agreement	The employer shall notify the shop steward in writing of the persons who
1 General regulations, para-	will negotiate with the shop steward on behalf of the company.
graph 6	
Co-operation agreement	Salaried employees shall be given the opportunity to attend courses ar-
5.3 Trade union training	ranged by the salaried employee confederation STTK and its affiliates

Appendix 8: Information to be given to the shop steward in accordance with the collective agreement

	·
	lasting for no longer than one month unless this substantially inconveniences production or company operations. Attention shall be paid to the size of the workplace when assessing said inconvenience. The intention to attend a course shall be notified at the earliest opportunity. In the event that permission is declined, the representative shall be notified, no later than 10 days before the start of the course, of the reason why granting job release would cause substantial inconvenience. It would be desirable in such cases to investigate jointly the prospects for attending the course at some other time when there would be no impediment to doing so.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	The employer shall furnish the staff or their representatives with the following information:
	1 Details of the financial condition of the company provided to the shop steward in accordance with section 10 of chapter 3 of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings.
	2 An annual staffing plan including estimates of anticipated changes in the number, type and status of staff.
	The company shall notify substantial changes in all of the foregoing details without delay.
	The company financial statement data referred to in section 10 of chapter 3 of the Finnish Act on Cooperation in Undertakings shall be provided in writing to the staff representatives of companies with a regular staff of no fewer than 30 on request.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	In the event of disputes falling within the scope of duties of a shop steward or departmental shop steward pursuant to this agreement, said representative shall be furnished with all of the information that is necessary to investigate the case under dispute.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	The shop steward shall be entitled to information once a year on the surname and forenames, the date of entry into service and the departments or corresponding organisational units of salaried employees falling within the scope of duties of said representative. The shop steward shall be advised of new salaried employees on request.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	The average monthly salaries of salaried employees and the average income by income instalment, sorted by job requirement category and gender, shall be provided to a shop steward in writing once a year, immediately following the completion of the statistics on salaried employees according to the agreement on cooperation on statistics, in the form of a workplace-specific statistical salary data.
	The shop steward shall not be entitled to average income information on groups of salaried employees of fewer than three people.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	The shop steward shall be given an opportunity to become familiar with the current salary determination and payroll accounting systems that fall within said representative's scope of duties in the company. With respect to salaried employees falling within the scope, the shop steward shall also be entitled to examine the list of emergency and overtime work and of resulting salary increases prepared under the Working Hours Act.
Cooperation agreement 6 Provision of information	The shop steward shall be notified of any change in the duties of a salaried employee falling under the scope of the collective agreement that results in a change of staff group.

Appendix 8: Information to be given to the shop steward in accordance with the collective agreement

Agroomont on Protection	It is possible to deviate from the re-engagement of a salaried employee
Agreement on Protection Against Dismissal 10 § Re-engagement	pursuant to this section and Chapter 6, section 6 of the Employment Contracts Act by way of a written agreement between the employer and the salaried employee.
	Before making such an agreement, the shop steward is to be informed of its content. In concluding the agreement, the salaried employee has the right to make use of the shop steward's expertise.
Agreement on Protection Against Dismissal 14 § Advance briefing and hearing of a salaried employee	Based on the information available, the employer shall give the salaried employee an advance briefing of the grounds of a layoff, together with its estimated scope, manner of implementation, time of commencement and duration. If the layoff affects several employees, then this briefing may be given to the representative of salaried employees or to said employees collectively. The briefing shall be provided without delay as soon as the employer learns of the need for a layoff.  After providing the briefing and before issuing the layoff notice, the employer shall give the employees or their representative an opportunity to be heard on the briefing that was provided.  No advance briefing shall be required if the employer is required to present a corresponding account or to negotiate on the layoff with the employees or their representative pursuant to another law, agreement or other binding regulation.
Agreement on protection against dismissal 15 § Notice in the event of layoffs	The representative of the employees who are to be laid off must be advised of the notice.
Agreement on Protection Against Dismissal 19 § Order of staff reductions	The employer shall give the shop steward an adequate account of the prospects for retraining a salaried employee who is at risk of dismissal or layoff, or of redeploying said employee within the company. Consideration for redeployment shall allow for the obligations arising from section 4 of chapter 7 of the Employment Contracts Act.
Act on Co-operation within Undertakings Section 10, 3	Details of the financial condition of the company provided to the chief shop steward in accordance with section 10 of chapter 3 of the Act on Co-operation within Undertakings without a separate request:
	1) the financial statement or information about the results of a company referred to in the Securities Market Act as soon as they have been published, and the financial statement of any other company no later than when it has been confirmed or, if the financial statements are not to be confirmed, when the tax return is to be filed,
	2) at least twice during the financial period, a uniform statement of the company's financial situation, indicating, as a minimum, the outlook for the company's production, services or other operations, employment, profitability and cost structure.
	The employer shall, by request of representatives of the staff groups, present the outlook stated in the statement referred to in paragraph 2 for the entire staff in accordance with the principles and practices of internal communications referred to in section 18 of the Act on Cooperation within Undertakings.
	If the regular number of employees in an employment relationship with the company is at least 20 but less than 30, the employer may present the statement referred to in paragraph 2 in an event organised for the entire staff of the company.

# Appendix 8: Information to be given to the shop steward in accordance with the collective agreement

The employer shall, without delay, inform the representatives of staff groups or, in the cases mentioned in the previous paragraph, the entire staff of any changes which materially differ from the outlook presented in
the statements referred to in paragraph 2.

#### TRADE UNION PRO CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND

## APPENDIX 9 INTER-FEDERATION OPERATING INSTRUCTIONS CONCERNING THE PROCEDURE FOR COLLECTING MEMBERSHIP DUES

The membership dues collection system only applies to the membership dues of Trade Union Pro. However, in addition to the actual regular membership dues, the concept of membership dues may include the membership fee of an unemployment fund, provided that these payments are collected together. This may not include other separate payments, such as initiation fees or industrial action fund payments. Trade Union Pro and the salaried employee shall be responsible for ensuring that the item to be collected is eligible for a tax deduction.

When the membership due is paid in euro, it will be collected from the same salary amount as the tax withholding. If other stipulations exist concerning the collection basis, Trade Union Pro must adjust them to the aforementioned principle. Similarly, if a membership due to be collected on a percentage basis or in euro has been defined in Trade Union Pro's rules for a collection period other than one suitable for the company's payroll accounting, Trade Union Pro must adjust the collection basis to match the collection period.

Trade Union Pro shall be responsible for the agreement and termination notification forms used in the collection system. Electronic forms can be used in the collection system. Trade Union Pro shall pay for the printing of the forms and handle the distribution.

The main points of the collection system are as follows:

- 1. For a personalised procedure, the salaried employee and the employer shall agree in writing or electronically on the collection of the membership dues.
- 2. The collection percentage or euro amount can be announced per calendar year and in connection with the increase agreed in the collective agreement. The announcement shall be made in writing or electronically.
- 3. The salaried employee, employer and Trade Union Pro shall be notified of the collection agreement made.

The member shall inform Trade Union Pro about the end of employment or about an unpaid period during employment.

The member informs Trade Union Pro and the employer if the membership ends during employment.

- 4. The information on the membership due collected per collection period is included in the salaried employee's playslip or provided in an equivalent manner.
- 5. The employer shall remit the total amount of the collected membership dues to Trade Union Pro's designated bank account per collection period.

The settlement schedule is currently as follows:

- The membership dues withheld from salary for the period of 1 January–30 June must be settled by 15 August of the current year
- The membership dues withheld from salary for the period of 1 July–30 December must be settled by 15 January of the following year

The settlement shall include the following information:

- union ID (Trade Union Pro 022)
- employer's name, remitter ID (business ID without the hyphen or another remitter ID)
- member's personal ID code and name
- the collection period and amount of the collected membership due

Currently, the alternative methods for submitting the settlement materials are as follows:

TYVI (an electronic service for data transfer between companies and the authorities) files

TYVI is a browser-based program provided by operators Aditro Human Resources, Itella-Pro and WM-data Oy. Pro has an agreement with the aforementioned operators on the submission of trade union membership information in electronic format in accordance with the TYVI model.

2) E-mail attachment.

The file must be an ASCII or ANSI text file prepared by payroll administration. The contents of the file must follow a standard file description.

3) YAP system

If the employer settles the membership dues of other unions in YAP's (YAP Solutions Oy) system, the settlement information for Pro can be included in the same file using the union ID 022, and YAP will forward the information to Pro.

4) Paper list.

The delivery address is Trade Union Pro, Employer Debt Collection, P.O. Box 183, 00181 Helsinki.

- 5) Member-specific references.
  - Member-specific references include information on the employer collecting the membership due, the member and the pay period, and therefore, a separate settlement is not needed. The member-specific references are suitable for collecting membership dues of 1–5 people. The membership dues of each member are paid monthly using a separate reference.
- 6. Trade Union Pro will submit the information on the members' membership dues to the Tax Administration at the beginning of the following year in accordance with the schedule provided by the Tax Administration, ensuring that the information arrive on time to be included in the person's pre-completed tax return. The information on the membership dues for the preceding year to be submitted to the Tax Administration are based on the member-specific settlement details received from employers by 15 January.

### CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND TRADE UNION PRO

**PROTOCOL** 

#### APPENDIX 10 SUMMER TRAINEE PROGRAMME FOR THE YOUNG FOR 2023-2025

The Chemical Industry Federation of Finland KT and Trade Union Pro want to do their part in supporting the opportunities of comprehensive school, upper secondary school, 10th grade and preparatory education pupils to learn about the working life by participating in the *Tutustu työelämään ja tienaa ("Learn and earn")* summer trainee programme.

The purpose of this summer trainee programme is to provide the youth with experiences in the industry's operations, tasks, staff structure and cooperation models as well as opportunities offered by the industry and to give the youth an opportunity to perform practical work that suits them. Applications for the summer traineeships are submitted directly to companies.

Therefore, the parties to the agreement have agreed the following:

- 1. The provisions below shall apply to comprehensive school, upper secondary school, 10th grade and preparatory education pupils whose employment relationship is based on the *Tutustu työelämään ja tienaa ("Learn and earn")* summer trainee programme.
- 2. The employment relationship in accordance with the summer trainee programme, lasting for two weeks or ten working days, can be placed between 1 June and 31 August in 2023–2025. A young person may have several traineeships pursuant to this recommendation with the same employer in each year.
- 3. The wage for the completion of the Tutustu työelämään ja tienaa ("Learn and earn") summer trainee programme is a non-recurrent sum of **EUR 365** in 2023 and **EUR 375** in 2024 and 2025. The pay includes the holiday compensation accumulated during the traineeship. Statutory social security contributions are deducted from the wage according to the age of the person.
- 4. The provisions concerning the salaries, salary determination criteria and other benefits with a monetary value defined in the existing collective agreement shall not be applied to persons whose employment relationship is based on the summer trainee programme referred to in this protocol. The provisions of the collective agreement concerning the working hours shall also not be applied to them, excluding the regular working hours length, if the provisions were to complicate the practical implementation of the summer trainee programme.

Helsinki, 1 January 2023

Chemical Industry Federation of Finland

Trade Union Pro

#### **APPENDIX 11 TELECOMMUTING AND HYBRID WORK**

The contracting parties encourage workplaces to use modern work possibilities promoting productivity and well-being at work. For that purpose, the contracting parties will have workplaces focus on questions that should be taken into account in telecommuting and hybrid work.

In this connection, telecommuting means working outside the actual workplace agreed in the employment contract. However, telecommuting does not refer to such work that is mainly performed outside the agreed workplace. Hybrid work refers to a model in which employees both telecommute and work in the workplace.

There is no single model that is suitable for all workplaces. However, it is important to discuss the practices that are the most suitable for each company. The positive sides of hybrid work encourage to combine telecommuting and working in the workplace.

Generally the ordinary codes of conduct at work apply to telecommuting. A telecommuter's amount of work and goals are the same as for the work performed at the workplace. An employee has the same protection of the Employment Contracts Act, the collective agreement and the social insurance in telecommuting as when working at an ordinary workplace. Accident insurance is also valid in telecommuting, but its more detailed application to work taking place outside the workplace is determined according to chapter 5 of the Workers' Compensation Act. As for occupational safety and health, it must be taken into account that an employer does not generally have possibilities to affect the working environment outside the workplace, but the employer's general duty of care under the Occupational Safety and Health Act covers all working.

The equal treatment of employees must also be taken into account in telecommuting and hybrid work, unless otherwise provided due to the work duties.

Telecommuting and hybrid work may be based on a company's guidelines, special agreements or a case-specific agreement between the employer and the employee.

The following aspects should be taken into account in telecommuting and hybrid work arrangements:

- When is telecommuting possible?
- When should everyone be present in the workplace?
- Are meetings held virtually, face to face, or as a combination of both?
- How can a sense of community be maintained?
- Amount of telecommuting, duration and expiry of the arrangement
- Telecommuting duties
- Reporting on the work completed when telecommuting
- Time during which the employee must be available
- Communication with the workplace
- Responsibilities to purchase and maintain tools and equipment
- Information security and technical support
- Monitoring of working hours

CHEMICAL INDUSTRY FEDERATION OF FINLAND TRADE UNION PRO

# ANNUAL WORKING TIME OF SALARIED EMPLOYEES IN CHEMICAL INDUSTRY 2023–2025 (AN 8-HOUR WORKING DAY)

				Average
Working hours in the chemical industry	2023	2024	2025	2001–2029
2022–2025				
Working weeks/year	47,14	47,29	47,14	47,18
Total days in year	365	366	365	365
- Saturdays 1) and Sun-	105	104	104	104
days				
- weekday public holidays	9	10	10	9
reducing				
- annual holiday (working days)	25	25	25	25
- working time reduction	12,5	12,5	12,5	12,5
Total working days/year	12,0	12,0	12,0	12,0
- 1- and 2-shift work	213,5	214,5	213,5	214,4
- discontinued 3-shift work	210,5	211,5	210,5	211,4
- continued 3-shift work	204,0	204,0	204,0	204
Total working hours/year				
- 1- and 2-shift work	1708	1716	1708	1715
- discontinued 3-shift work	1684	1692	1684	1691
- continued 3-shift work	1632	1632	1632	1632
Avg working hours/week	000	000	00.0	00.4
- 1- and 2-shift work	36,2	36,3	36,2	36,4
- discontinued 3-shift work	35,7	35,8	35,7	35,8
- continued 3-shift work	34,6	34,6	34,6	34,6
7.5-hr working day (day-				
time work) Total working days/year	226	227	226	227
Total working hours/year	1695	1703	1695	1702
Avg working hours/week	36,0	36,0	36,0	36,1



Kemianteollisuus KT ry Eteläranta 10 PL 4 00131 Helsinki Puhelin 09 172 841 www.kemianteollisuus.fi Ammattiliitto Pro ry Työpajankatu 13 A PL 183 00581 Helsinki Puhelin 09 172 731 www.proliitto.fi